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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning. I

          3  am Helen Diane Foster, Chair of the Council's

          4  Committee on Parks and Recreation.

          5                 Today the Committee is holding an

          6  oversight hearing on the Parks Department's

          7  regulation regarding the Great Lawn.

          8                 As you can see, the room is crowded.

          9  We have a number of people willing to testify and

         10  ready to testify. There are a couple of housekeeping

         11  rules. We are going to have to be very respectful of

         12  time, so if I ask you to wrap up, please do so and

         13  this is a topic, of course, where there are very

         14  strong opinions. I'm going to ask that everybody be

         15  respectful so that we can really get to the heart of

         16  the matter, get some information, ask some good

         17  questions, and, of course, you have the right to

         18  disagree. I'm just asking that we do it in a

         19  respectful manner.

         20                 There are two Committee members,

         21  Council Member Gale Brewer and Bob Jackson who will

         22  not be here today because they're in Washington,

         23  D.C. testifying for an event that was already

         24  scheduled. So, I just want to make note, they asked

         25  to be excused and they are not here due to
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          2  scheduling conflicts, not because the issue is not

          3  important.

          4                 And members will be coming and going.

          5  At some point we may have to stop to do, vote out a

          6  piece of legislation. If it looks like there is not

          7  a quorum or that we are too much in the flow, we

          8  will keep going and we'll do that vote at a later

          9  time.

         10                 Also, understanding that there is a

         11  time constraint, we are going to try to call the

         12  witnesses in the order in which they sign in and set

         13  up the panels as the staff has put together. If it

         14  looks like we are running out of time, we are going

         15  to have to again ask people to be very brief.

         16                 That being said, the first panel

         17  consist of Commissioner Adrian Benepe. Good morning.

         18  Neil Calvanese, Vice President of Operations,

         19  Central Park Conservancy. Maria Hernandez, Section

         20  Supervisor, Great Lawn, and Rich Davis, Lawyer.

         21                 I'm going to ask everyone to say

         22  their name for the record, and then you can get

         23  right into your testimony.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Good morning,

         25  Council Member Foster. Adrian Benepe, Commissioner
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          2  of Parks and Recreation.

          3                 MR. DAVIS: Richard Davis, Partner of

          4  Weil, Gotshal & Manges and Chair of the Randall's

          5  Island Sports Foundation.

          6                 MS. HERNANDEZ: Maria Hernandez, Great

          7  Lawn Supervisor. Good morning.

          8                 MR. CALVANESE: Neil Calvanese. Vice

          9  President for Operations, Central Park Conservancy.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Good morning.

         11  Good morning, Chairwoman Foster, Council Member

         12  Addabbo, other members of the Parks Committee, the

         13  many friends of Parks that are gathered here today

         14  and other interested parties, we are pleased to come

         15  before you today to discuss Central Park and the use

         16  of the Great Lawn.

         17                 I'd like to start by saying that

         18  we're committed to making public space accessible to

         19  all New Yorkers.

         20                 Under Mayor Bloomberg, we have worked

         21  hard to increase and enhance City's parklands, and

         22  thanks to our partnership at the City Council, we

         23  have improved parks across the City for the public's

         24  enjoyments.

         25                 Because of the importance of

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  greenspace in the City, we manage parkland to ensure

          3  its maximum use. We do this with all City parks, and

          4  especially those parks, such as central park, where

          5  there is often an overwhelming demand for limited

          6  amounts of space.

          7                 Today Central Park attracts 25

          8  million people each year, not just because of its

          9  central location but because it is green and

         10  beautiful. In order to accommodate this large number

         11  of park users, and keep the park green and

         12  beautiful, it is essential that we have a consistent

         13  management policy that is designed to meet that

         14  intense demand for the use of limited public space.

         15                 During one recent weekend this

         16  spring, Central Park hosted a political rally and

         17  here you can see a picture of that UPJ rally on the

         18  Heckscher Ball Field, 500 baseball games, 30,000

         19  people for Revlon's Walk-Run Against Cancer, 30,000

         20  cyclists who pass through as part of Bike New York.

         21  That was on one weekend.

         22                 We are here this morning to discuss

         23  the rules that were proposed to ensure that the

         24  Great Lawn and other parts of Central Park continue

         25  to be available for a diverse variety of activities,
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          2  including baseball games, cultural events, picnics

          3  and, yes, protests.

          4                 The proposed rules clarify

          5  longstanding management practices.

          6                 We want the Great Lawn to be green

          7  and open to all New Yorkers and visitors, and the

          8  proposed rules will ensure that the greatest number

          9  of people can use the park, and the greatest

         10  diversity of uses can take place there for many

         11  years to come.

         12                 This morning I will discuss our

         13  management of City parkland, including Central

         14  Park's Great Lawn, historical background and events

         15  held on the Great Lawn, and an overview on the

         16  proposed rules and impacts.

         17                 You will also hear from a number of

         18  individuals and groups who actively use Central Park

         19  and other parks throughout the City, including Eddie

         20  Collins from the West Side Soccer League, Brad

         21  Taylor from the Friends of Morningside Park, and

         22  Tupper Thomas from Prospect Park.

         23                 After giving our testimony, we look

         24  forward to your questions.

         25                 In a City as densely populated as New
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          2  York, park land is limited, and, therefore, we must

          3  find ways to meet the competing demands for its use.

          4                 Parks and recreation has the

          5  difficult but essential task of balancing the

          6  competing demands for the use of all our parks.

          7                 On a warm day you can see the demand

          8  for the City's limited open space when visiting any

          9  City park. In Central Park there are frisbee

         10  players, coexisting the sunbathers in the Sheep

         11  Meadow. There are dog walkers and runners side by

         12  side along the park drives. They're not drawn to the

         13  park by rally, a concert, sporting event or any

         14  other event, and, yet, they come by the thousands

         15  every day.

         16                 And we welcome the large number of

         17  New Yorkers who want to use our parks. And we

         18  believe their coming reflects the vast improvement

         19  in the City's open space over the last two decades,

         20  and the increased interest in both passive and

         21  active recreation.

         22                 What were once worn-down sites are

         23  now vibrant neighborhood parks. And what was once a

         24  dust bowl, and here is a picture, is now truly a

         25  great lawn in Central Park, and here it was before
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          2  restoration, and here is what it looks like today.

          3  You can go there today and see that very picture.

          4                 It is our responsibility to make sure

          5  the City's parks remain green and beautiful, despite

          6  their heavy use.

          7                 Parks and recreation issues permits

          8  for a variety of activities in park land. From small

          9  events, such as family picnics to birthday parties,

         10  to larger events like concerts and rallies.

         11                 For the Great Lawn we take a number

         12  of factors into consideration, including the number

         13  of other permitted events taking place that day, the

         14  number of participants, the time of year, load-in

         15  plans and rain dates.

         16                 The proposed rules under discussion

         17  today reflect the current permitting procedures and

         18  management practices regarding the Great Lawn and

         19  other restored areas of Central Park.

         20                 These policies developed over the

         21  last 26 years and refined since then, help us keep

         22  the Great Lawn open for the greatest number of

         23  users.

         24                 Some of you may remember that Central

         25  Park was not always the great public park that it is
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          2  today. The lack of a management plan, unrestricted

          3  athletic use, and numerous large scale events took

          4  its toll on the park, particularly on the Sheep

          5  Meadow and the Great Lawn, the fact that the Great

          6  Lawn became known as the great dustbowl.

          7                 Winds whipped up dry dirt for the

          8  Great Lawn's compacted surface, which was baron of

          9  plants and shrubs, but full of rocks, debris and

         10  broken glass.

         11                 This was a great place to get hurt

         12  playing sports, but was mostly useless for anything

         13  else.

         14                 The beginning of Central Park's

         15  rebirth was the resodding of the Sheep Meadow. Like

         16  the Great Lawn, unrestricted use for sports and

         17  events had made it more of a corral than a meadow,

         18  and I believe we have an image right here of the

         19  Sheep Meadow, if you can just hold that up.

         20                 This is the Sheep Meadow

         21  pre-restoration. It was Parks Commissioner Gordon J.

         22  Davis who restored the Meadow in 1979, and soon you

         23  will see the transforming picture of the Sheep

         24  Meadow post restoration. But more importantly,

         25  reintroduced reasonable limits on activities, and
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          2  hired the first Park Rangers to educate the public

          3  about those uses. And I'm proud to say I was one of

          4  those park rangers hired by Gordon in 1979, and I

          5  stood on that Sheep Meadow educating the public.

          6                 Large events were moved to the Great

          7  Lawn and all active sports were relocated to other

          8  areas.

          9                 During the past year, people have

         10  reminisced about the park, as the site of meetings

         11  and gatherings in the 1960s and 1970s at the Sheep

         12  Meadow and the Great Lawn, and about large scale

         13  musical events, such as Simon and Garfunkle in the

         14  1980s.

         15                 However, in their reminiscing, they

         16  omit one essential fact, most of these large events

         17  predate the restoration to a time when the lawn was

         18  in a seriously degrading condition.

         19                 The reason that large events of

         20  unlimited size were allowed by the City was because

         21  the site was truly a dustbowl. There are few other

         22  things anyone would want to do there, or could do,

         23  since it wasn't a lawn. It was not an area where New

         24  Yorkers flocked to play softball or hold a family

         25  picnic.
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          2                 In 1997, thanks to a public/private

          3  partnership with the Central Park Conservancy, the

          4  Great Lawn was reopened after an $18.2 million

          5  construction, and it's surrounding wooded hilly

          6  landscape was beautifully restored for another $4

          7  million.

          8                 A vital element to the Lawn's

          9  maintenance is adherence to proven or to cultural

         10  practices, including seeding, irrigation and rest.

         11  The second vital element requires policies to

         12  regulate activities in the park. Even athletic

         13  activities are heavily regulated to show that fields

         14  remain in good condition and are available as much

         15  as possible for people to enjoy.

         16                 For example, we only allow low-impact

         17  sports, including Little League Baseball and

         18  softball without cleats. We do not permit soccer or

         19  football games, except for a limited amount of

         20  pee-wee soccer on the northern fields, because those

         21  sports cause significant damage.

         22                 To provide additional protection to

         23  the Lawn, games are not allowed when the fields are

         24  wet. One of the eight fields is always held out to

         25  rest and recuperate, and athletic permits are issued
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          2  for certain months where the Lawn has sufficient

          3  time to regenerate. Essentially, the Lawn is closed

          4  to all activities from November through April.

          5                 We have learned from each special

          6  event held since the restoration that regulations

          7  are needed to ensure that the site remains green and

          8  open for use.

          9                 For example, during the Marathon each

         10  year, there's a large area where people reunite with

         11  their families and loved ones.

         12                 The family reunion area for the New

         13  York City Marathon, which can draw over 70,000

         14  runners and their families, used to be held on the

         15  Great Lawn, rain or shine. But it caused extensive

         16  damage to the Lawn on a rainy day in 1997. Since

         17  then the event has taken place on Central Park West,

         18  a more appropriate wide-paved location that can

         19  handle the foot traffic, regardless of the weather.

         20  And this is a key point.

         21                 If it rains the Marathon goes on and

         22  you can't change that, and you have to accommodate

         23  those 35,000 people, and the minimum 35,000 friends

         24  and loved ones who meet them. Damage to the Lawn,

         25  particularly during wet weather, requires that the
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          2  area be closed for repair, displacing both regularly

          3  scheduled and spontaneous users.

          4                 Dr. A. Martin Petrovich, a Professor

          5  of Turf Grass Science at Cornell University's

          6  horticulture department, will discuss how a lawn can

          7  be impacted by large events in greater detail this

          8  morning.

          9                 Last summer, some groups applying for

         10  permits criticized us for not having written or

         11  codified rules. The proposed rules we're discussing

         12  today address this concern by formalizing our

         13  ongoing management practices for all events in

         14  Central Park.

         15                 We are publishing these longstanding

         16  practices as rules, largely because event applicants

         17  have pushed us to.

         18                 Reasonable management of parkland

         19  makes sense when it preserves the rights of many to

         20  use open space.

         21                 An unlimited number of large events

         22  would prevent the use of the Great Lawn by the

         23  public by returning a space to a degraded condition

         24  or a cycle of openings and closings to repair

         25  damage.
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          2                 Over the last decade we have

          3  maintained the Great Lawn as a magnificent green

          4  space, while still having up to six events each

          5  year. And this is another important point. At no

          6  time in the history of the Great Lawn have we ever

          7  had more than six large events. In fact, in most

          8  years, we've had no more than four.

          9                 The proposed regulations for the

         10  Great Lawn will allow us to continue holding as many

         11  as six large events each year, and to review under

         12  the proposed rules the events will have no more than

         13  50,000 people. We propose to continue to allow the

         14  Metropolitan Opera and the Philharmonic to continue

         15  to hold two free summer performances on the lawn.

         16  And here is, I apologize for the size of it, that's

         17  a picture of the New York Philharmonic performing on

         18  the Great Lawn. The size of those audiences ranges

         19  anywhere from 15 or 20,000 to a high of about 40 or

         20  50,000.

         21                 These concerts have been presented

         22  without charge to New Yorkers of all backgrounds in

         23  parks in the five boroughs for 45 years. Based on a

         24  long relationship with these two groups, we know

         25  that these performances have little impact on the
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          2  Great Lawn or on the other four parks where these

          3  free events are also held.

          4                 However, if these two organizations

          5  do not use their slots, those slots would be

          6  available for other appropriate events.

          7                 The other two events must be

          8  permitted for late August early September. Spring is

          9  when the roots of the grass are being established,

         10  that's why we don't allow any events until June.

         11  Fall is when the lawn is aerated and reseeded. Each

         12  event must submit a plan to limit and control the

         13  crowds and to preserve the surrounding landscape.

         14                 Perhaps most importantly, events must

         15  be able to be cancelled or rescheduled in the event

         16  of the rain. That is the current practice with the

         17  Philharmonic and Metropolitan Opera, and they don't

         18  have rain dates. If it's cancelled, it's cancelled

         19  and that's all there is.

         20                 The proposed regulations require a

         21  significant restoration find, which I should point

         22  out can and is reduced or waved in the case of

         23  demonstrable hardship, particularly for First

         24  Amendment-related events.

         25                 It is important to keep in mind that
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          2  even a special event on the Great Lawn can close the

          3  fields from two days to two weeks just for the set

          4  up and clean up. In 2004, for example, there were

          5  over 2,000 bookings for sports events on the Great

          6  Lawn. Closing the Great Lawn for several weeks to

          7  repair minor damage caused by large events would

          8  impact hundreds of baseball and softball players,

          9  not to mention the thousands of people who stop by

         10  the lawn each day to relax, read, picnic or bird

         11  watch.

         12                 Now, if severe damage were to take

         13  place, say on a rainy day with a large crowd, it is

         14  likely we would have to lay down new sod, which

         15  would close the lawn for up to a year.

         16                 I think each of you know how

         17  important ball field permits and ball fields are to

         18  your constituents.

         19                 Can you imagine, for example, if we

         20  cancelled every ball field permit for two weeks in

         21  Juniper Valley Park, or Highland Park six or more

         22  times a year, and when the International Action

         23  Committee staged a rally this March in Harlem's

         24  Marcus Garvey Park, they weren't on the Little

         25  League Ball Field. They were on the paved areas of
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          2  the Park, and that's precisely what we pursue.

          3                 The proposed rules do not limit

          4  access to Central Park, rather they provide much

          5  greater access for everyone. There will still be

          6  just as many if not more events than we have had

          7  every year on the Great Lawn for the last three

          8  decades. This is simply responsible management with

          9  the City's limited green space. To ensure that as

         10  many users and uses are accommodated.

         11                 There are two important points to

         12  consider when discussing these rules.

         13                 First, they apply to all large scale

         14  gatherings and special events in restored areas of

         15  Central Park.

         16                 Second, the new rules do not in any

         17  way violate the First Amendment.

         18                 Courts have consistently recognized

         19  the right of municipalities to regulate the time,

         20  place and manner of activities protected by the

         21  First Amendment on public parks and streets, and the

         22  proposed rules are consistent with this practice and

         23  strike a balance between access to the Great Lawn

         24  for First Amendment-related activities, and access

         25  to this unique public space for crawling babies,

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  little leaguers, picnickers, canoodlers, kite

          3  flyers, visitors and others.

          4                 Now, we realize that many people

          5  prefer to exercise their First Amendment Rights in

          6  high profile locations, such as Central Park's Great

          7  Lawn. There are other sites within Central Park that

          8  can and have accommodated large events.

          9                 The East Meadow, which has the

         10  capacity for up to 50,000 people, has been a popular

         11  site for rallies, concerts and cultural events. Over

         12  the last few years, the East Meadow has hosted the

         13  Dali Lama, concerts by Cheryl Crow and Sting and

         14  rallies by the United Firefighters Association, the

         15  National Organization of Women, that was last

         16  summer, during the Republican Convention, Not In Our

         17  Name, and the International Action Committee this

         18  past March to name just a few.

         19                 And the paved surfaces throughout the

         20  Park can also be used for special events.

         21                 For example, in the photo to the

         22  left, 45,000 people attended the AIDS Walk last

         23  Sunday, which began with a big event of the

         24  bandshell area and on the surrounding paved areas,

         25  and continued on drives throughout the park and out
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          2  onto City streets.

          3                 If, for some reason, we are not able

          4  to accommodate in Central Park, we work with groups

          5  to find alternative locations in the City's parks.

          6  There are a number of other public spaces throughout

          7  the City that can accommodate large events, protests

          8  and rallies.

          9                 The Lawn Meadow and Prospect Park,

         10  and Flushing Meadow's Corona Park in Queens can both

         11  accommodate safely and conveniently up to 250,000

         12  people. And the parade grounds of Van Courtlandt

         13  Park can accommodate up to 100,000 people.

         14                 In fact, the Reverend Billy Graham is

         15  scheduled to hold a major three-day event in

         16  Flushing Meadows Corona Park this June.

         17                 To conclude, the issue is not grass

         18  versus people. The issue is managing public space in

         19  the best interest of all New Yorkers, and that means

         20  picnics and protests, athletes and artists, sports

         21  and speech.

         22                 We should be able to offer the public

         23  green grass and free speech. They want this, and so

         24  do we. The rules we are proposing will ensure that

         25  all the activities cherished by the public will
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          2  continue to have a place in Central Park, while

          3  keeping the Great Lawn great.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          6                 Before we get into questions, I'm

          7  going to let the whole panel read their testimony.

          8  But let me just introduce my colleagues that are

          9  here.

         10                 We have Council Member Dennis

         11  Gallagher from Queens, who is a member of the

         12  Committee. Council Member Phil Reed from Manhattan.

         13  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo, who is a

         14  member of the Committee from the Bronx, Council

         15  Member Joe Addabbo, who is a member of the Committee

         16  from Queens.

         17                 MR. DAVIS: My name is Richard Davis.

         18  I testify today with the perspective of a lawyer,

         19  partner of the law firm of Weil, Gotshal And Manges,

         20  with the perspective of someone who strongly

         21  believes the right of our citizens to publicly

         22  express their views, and with the perspective of

         23  someone who has spent more than ten years trying to

         24  enhance the quality of our parks as a member of the

         25  Board of the Parks Council, and as Chair of the
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          2  Randall's Island Sports Foundation.

          3                 The challenge for those responsible

          4  for the care of our parks is to strike the

          5  appropriate balance between competing values, each

          6  one which is in its own right important and

          7  legitimate.

          8                 Herein proposing the rules, setting

          9  guidelines for the use of the Great Lawn in Central

         10  Park, I believe the Parks Department has struck the

         11  proper balance, and I support the proposed rules.

         12                 It has a clear interest in protecting

         13  the Great Lawn and alternative venues for

         14  demonstrations and I should say other large scale

         15  events to exist.

         16                 First, I believe the Parks

         17  Commissioner is acting with his lawful authority in

         18  imposing these reasonable regulations on the use of

         19  the Great Lawn. This was made clear by the decision

         20  of the Courts of withholding the denial of various

         21  permits for the use of the Great Lawn during last

         22  summer's Republican Convention.

         23                 As Justice Silverman discussed in

         24  detail in her decision in the United Peace and

         25  Justice case, the First Amendment does not mandate
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          2  that all forms of speech be allowed at all times in

          3  all places. Reasonable regulation as to time and

          4  place and manner is acceptable where that regulation

          5  is content neutral. That is not premised on

          6  disagreement with the particular message.

          7                 Second, in my view these regulations

          8  are reasonable. Our parks are a vital resource for a

          9  City starved for open space.

         10                 They are where we can play, where we

         11  can explore, where we can relax and where we simply

         12  can experience the pleasure of being in a green

         13  space in the midst of a concrete City. Having clean

         14  and usable parks is indeed important, both to

         15  physical and the mental health of our City. Indeed

         16  for many of our citizens, City parks provide the

         17  only opportunity for them to experience open space.

         18                 I, like other park activists, work

         19  hard to provide regular park users with the parks

         20  necessary to meet their needs.

         21                 We can and we should find places in

         22  our City for other people to gather in large numbers

         23  to express their views. Those places simply do not

         24  have to be where their presence will risk, deprive

         25  regular park users of their rights of use of the
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          2  parks that they need.

          3                 In this case the Great Lawn is

          4  clearly a valuable and widely used park asset, which

          5  should be made available for those who regularly

          6  want to use it. Overuse, particularly as the

          7  Commissioner has described, in inclement weather,

          8  poses a serious risk of damage to the Great Lawn.

          9                 It took approximately $20 million in

         10  the 1995 to 1997 time period to bring the Great Lawn

         11  back to life, and we need to protect it as a place

         12  for both active, and as Commissioner said, softball

         13  and passive recreation.

         14                 It is appropriate, therefore, for the

         15  Parks Department to impose these regulations, which

         16  limit large public gatherings in this location, in

         17  order to avoid the kind of damage which potentially

         18  would make it unavailable for use to the general

         19  public.

         20                 We can find other places for

         21  demonstrations and events of any scale that would

         22  cause significant damage. I should say, both within

         23  the parks and outside the parks. We cannot readily

         24  find replacements for damaged parks, particularly

         25  for a park asset as valuable as the Great Lawn.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. CALVANESE: Good morning, Council

          4  members, friends of Central Park who are here today.

          5  I am Neil Calvanese, Vice President of Operations

          6  for the Central Park Conservancy.

          7                 The President of the Central Park

          8  Conservancy, Doug Blansky, regrets that he cannot be

          9  here today, because he had a prior commitment. He

         10  has submitted his statement.

         11                 I've been with the Conservancy for 24

         12  years, and have held a number of park maintenance

         13  and management positions, including Tree Care

         14  Coordinator, Director of Horticulture, and Chief of

         15  Operations.

         16                 Over that time, I've witnessed the

         17  parks incredible transformation from a dangerous,

         18  foreboding place, avoided by people, to a

         19  magnificent world renown City park used by 25

         20  million people annually.

         21                 Since 1980, the Central Park

         22  Conservancy has worked with the City and Parks

         23  advocates who turned Central Park to its original

         24  splendor.

         25                 The Conservancy has raised millions
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          2  of dollars from concerned citizens to improve and

          3  maintain the park, and it advises other parks

          4  throughout the City and nation.

          5                 The regular users of Central Park who

          6  reside throughout the five boroughs share our

          7  commitment to stewardship and to maintaining the

          8  park as an urban oasis and a recreational escape for

          9  all New Yorkers.

         10                 For the past 25 years the Conservancy

         11  has worked with the City's Parks Department to

         12  accommodate the needs of the ever-increasing

         13  requests for varied events. Each year the park hosts

         14  thousands of school programs, film shoots, baseball

         15  games, races, walk-a-thons, festivals, rallies and

         16  other special events, and it will continue to do so.

         17                 The main priority of the Central Park

         18  Conservancy's management strategy is to maximize,

         19  not minimize, the use of the park for the most

         20  diverse activities.

         21                 The massive events that many recall

         22  taking place on the Great Lawn took place before its

         23  restoration.

         24                 In those days, large scale events

         25  were permitted due to the Park's severe state of
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          2  disrepair.

          3                 During a time when people commonly

          4  avoided the park, events attracted people to the

          5  park. Today, due to its restoration, Central Park

          6  has become one of the most intensely-used spaces in

          7  this City.

          8                 The Great Lawn, now green again,

          9  thanks to an $18.2 million restoration, is used more

         10  than ever by a wide variety of individuals and

         11  groups.

         12                 Although large events will continue

         13  to be part of Central Park's Conservancy's history,

         14  they have an enormous impact. Large events severely

         15  damage the health of the Park's landscapes, and

         16  affects everyone's ability to enjoy the park.

         17                 They close sections of the Park for

         18  extended periods of time from set up through

         19  breakdown, including restoration of damaged

         20  landscapes. Potentially a one-day event could close

         21  down a section of the park for months.

         22                 Our approach to managing Central Park

         23  ensures a balance between intense use and healthy

         24  landscapes. This is a commitment to utilizing and

         25  sustaining one of New York's most treasured open
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          2  spaces.

          3                 The Parks Department proposed rules

          4  for managing the Great Lawn will enable us to

          5  continue its consistent use throughout the year.

          6                 Responsible management of our City's

          7  parks is essential to preserving the limited green

          8  spaces New Yorkers so desperately depend on.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MS. HERNANDEZ: Good morning, Council

         11  members.

         12                 My name is Maria Hernandez. I am the

         13  Great Law Supervisor for the Central Park

         14  Conservancy.

         15                 I started with the Conservancy 12

         16  years ago as a gardener. Five years later I was

         17  given the responsibility of the management of the

         18  Great Lawn.

         19                 What I have experienced is nothing

         20  short of a complete metamorphose. When I first

         21  started working in the Park, the slightest breeze

         22  would whip up a cloud of dust on the Great Lawn. Any

         23  significant rainfall would render the landscape

         24  useless, turning it into a mud bowl, with the runoff

         25  choking the remnants of what was the Turtle Pond.
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          2                 In those days, broken glass and

          3  scattered rocks would keep any child from running

          4  barefoot across the land. When I was given the

          5  responsibility of managing the Great Lawn, the

          6  Central Park Conservancy had just completed a

          7  renovation, including new irrigation, shrubs, trees

          8  and a new lawn.

          9                 There was some adversity to the new

         10  regulations at first, and people were not convinced

         11  that the great lawn was going to stay that great.

         12                 They wanted to do what they wanted to

         13  do no matter what.

         14                 What we have there today is a

         15  landscape so diverse in its usage that I, myself, am

         16  continually surprised. The community of every day

         17  users is on New York City school groups from every

         18  borough, bird watchers, softball leagues, toddler

         19  play groups, sunbathers, office groups on retreat,

         20  and the list could go on.

         21                 Another community not touched upon

         22  often is the wildlife. This fragile manmade

         23  ecosystem now also accommodates barn swallows, tree

         24  swallows, rens and robins that are nesting in the

         25  area now in large numbers.
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          2                 These song birds are supported by the

          3  insect community of the Great Lawn and cannot exist

          4  on seed.

          5                 Additionally, turtles have returned,

          6  whose habitat Turtle Pond was choked with sediment

          7  just a few years earlier, and now they thrive.

          8                 This diversity is possible by

          9  sustaining a healthy landscape. Today I have the

         10  support of the diverse Great Lawn community and they

         11  will go out of their way to advise me when a fence

         12  is down or a sign is missing. The community is still

         13  doing what they want to do when they want to do it,

         14  only with few limitations.

         15                 Common sense guidelines allow for the

         16  possibility of taking off your shoes without

         17  concerns now. Sitting on a blanket and reading,

         18  enjoying the Cityscape with toddlers running around,

         19  or just plain hitting the ball out of the Park. The

         20  community is still enjoying the Park in their own

         21  way and loving what we have given back to them. This

         22  every day community is the one that is most greatly

         23  impacted whenever large events close along.

         24                 This is also the community of New

         25  Yorkers not being considered enough in these
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          2  discussions.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          5                 Let me get right into some of the

          6  questions that I have. What was the process that the

          7  determination was made that 50,000 was the maximum

          8  number for the Great Lawn?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That was a

         10  deliberative process where we -- remember, when we

         11  first reopened the Great Lawn there were about four

         12  years no large events of any kind, except for the

         13  Met and the Phil, and we started experimenting with

         14  large events, really with, there was a 9/11 memorial

         15  concert and then we had the Dave Matthews, and we

         16  also started counting for the first time.

         17  Interesting revelation in counting the crowds at

         18  Great Lawn, was we realized that some of the counts

         19  given out at previous large events were, shall I say

         20  optimistic, in terms of the numbers, probably by two

         21  or three folds of people who could actually be

         22  accommodated there.

         23                 And, for example, last summer at a

         24  large Metropolitan Opera performance, where the

         25  crowd not only filled the Great Lawn oval but
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          2  spilled out into the surrounding landscape, we

          3  counted, and it's easy to count because there were

          4  only four paths, four narrow paths that serve the

          5  Great Lawn, and the Conservancy had staff at each

          6  path with counters, and when the Opera began, there

          7  were about 35,000 people by the time all the crowds

          8  had filtered in, it was a little over 40,000.

          9                 So, we realized if you have a large

         10  crowd on the Great Lawn, 50,000 people is about the

         11  maximum number you can do without getting too large.

         12  Why is it the maximum number? Because we also

         13  counted the crowds from the Dave Matthews Band

         14  Concert, and that was easy too because it was

         15  ticketed. It was a free concert, but you had to have

         16  a ticket, and groups were let in very carefully over

         17  the course of a four-hour period through a series of

         18  cattle pens, and when all was said and done, there

         19  were approximately 80,000 people.

         20                 Now, the difference between those two

         21  events was that 80,000 people all pushed up to the

         22  front to be close to the stage, which is kind of

         23  traditional in rock concerts, and you got what you

         24  called sort of the most pit factor, very densely

         25  crowded, standing shoulder-to-shoulder, unlike the
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          2  Phil Harmonic or the Met or in the other concerts

          3  where people spread out on blankets and arrived.

          4                 And a great deal of damage was done,

          5  $150,000 worth of damage, fortunately there was a

          6  bond, and we realized that that's too big.

          7  Eighty-thousand people means people standing

          8  shoulder-to-shoulder and it's that compression of

          9  the grass, and you'll probably hear more of that

         10  from Dr. Petrovich, we realized that 50,000 really

         11  is the maximum that fit comfortably and safely. And

         12  safe is important to underscore.

         13                 The reason why you couldn't have

         14  250,000 people suddenly march in for a rally to the

         15  Great Lawn from a protest march, is these very

         16  narrow paths that lead in. I think they range in

         17  size from about ten feet to maybe as much as 12 feet

         18  or so. But there is no way to move a quarter of a

         19  million people safely and smoothly through ten-foot

         20  wide paths quickly, so you get bottlenecks and you

         21  get build-ups in crowds and if you ever had to

         22  evacuate that number because something bad happened,

         23  again, there would be no way to safely evacuate them

         24  through those narrow paths.

         25                 So, we did a lot of scientific
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          2  counting and that's how we came up with the 50,000

          3  number.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And did you then

          5  put that analysis that you just described to me in

          6  writing so that if, you know, the public wanted to

          7  know how we arrived at this 50,000 number, they

          8  could actually see something and hold onto something

          9  tangibly?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We would be

         11  happy to do that, but it's just a simple count. I

         12  mean there's no --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, I

         14  understand that, but I assume the Dave Matthews Band

         15  would not be considered a low-impact event.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It wasn't.

         17  That's why we can't have 80,000 people again.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. So, what is

         19  a high-impact even couldn't have more than 50,000

         20  people. If it was a low-impact event -- you know,

         21  let's do this: What are the traditional numbers for

         22  the Opera and the Phil Harmonic, which the Parks

         23  Department has determined a low-impact event?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Between 20,000,

         25  if the weather looks threatening, to as many as 40
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          2  or 50,000.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And is that,

          4  could it accommodate more if need be?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No. That's all

          6  that you could fit on the Great Lawn, even that's a

          7  tight squeeze.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How many

          9  applications came in in the last year period, 2005,

         10  2004/2005 period for the Great Lawn, how many of

         11  those applications were approved, and what was the

         12  basis for those that were denied, and those that

         13  were approved?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Are you talking

         15  about, we really don't go across years, as the

         16  seasons go from spring to fall. So, you're talking

         17  about spring to fall 2004, spring to fall 2005.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Let's do spring

         19  to fall 2005.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's hard to

         21  say, because often a large event will not come in as

         22  an application, but rather as a discussion or a

         23  promoter will come to us and say I'd like to do a

         24  concert for X band, and we'll discuss it with them

         25  and we'll realize that what they want to do in the
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          2  Great Lawn don't work together, so they'll never get

          3  to the application process.

          4                 So, we had one application by United

          5  for Peace and Justice this year, and because we are

          6  able to accommodate it in an extra ball field, we

          7  put them in the extra ball field. That was

          8  originally supposed to be about 50,000 people and it

          9  ended up being about 5,000 people, so it was very

         10  easily accommodated.

         11                 We've got the Met and the Phil, I'm

         12  not aware of any other current actual applications

         13  for the use of the Great Lawn.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It was mentioned

         15  in Mr. Calvanese's testimony that a one-day event

         16  could take, close the park for about a month; how,

         17  with the Philharmonic and the Opera, what is the

         18  set-up time in terms of the --

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I'll let Neil

         20  handle that.

         21                 MR. CALVANESE: Usually it's -- it

         22  depends. Usually it takes a day to load in, a day

         23  for the event and a day to load out.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. So, what

         25  events then take -- what day event -- did the Dave
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          2  Matthews Band close the --

          3                 MR. CALVANESE: Dave Matthews was in

          4  there for over a week before setting up their stage,

          5  then the event, and then it took them about, I think

          6  about a week to get out of there.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So what one-day

          8  event will close down the park?

          9                 MR. CALVANESE: Well, if you had an

         10  event, for instance if you had a large concert and

         11  should you have conditions out there that weren't

         12  ideal, should it be wet or anything, you could wind

         13  up with damaged fields that would then have to be

         14  closed to repair the grass out there to repair the

         15  damage from the event.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Has there been --

         17  oh, I'm sorry. Go ahead.

         18                 MR. CALVANESE: Dave Matthews, which

         19  was a one-day event. It was one day that we had that

         20  concert, well, that resulted in closing down the

         21  field for several months. And in fact, the Pee Wee

         22  Soccer on Fields 7 and 8 were cancelled for that

         23  season.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Closed down the

         25  area for several months for renovations?
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          2                 MR. CALVANESE: Well, for renovations.

          3  What happens when you have damage on a lawn, you

          4  have to go in there and repair that, and we do that

          5  by overseeding. Now, a grass plant, you know, it

          6  takes two weeks for the seed to germinate typically,

          7  and then that plant has to mature to strengthen, to

          8  become resilient for the upcoming season in order to

          9  sustain the heavy use that it will get in just

         10  normal wear-n-tear.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Does it require

         12  repair, the field require repair after the

         13  Philharmonic and the Opera?

         14                 MR. CALVANESE: Actually, once the

         15  Phil Harmonic and Opera, there's been a long history

         16  with them in the park coming in, setting up, very

         17  controlled, very -- there's wear-n-tear, but we've

         18  never had to delay or close something down from the

         19  Met or the Phil Harmonic.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Isn't it possible

         21  that with, for example, the Dave Matthews Band, in

         22  any band coming to set up or break down, you can

         23  give time restrictions. So, if you told them they

         24  needed to put it up and take it down in the two-day

         25  period before and the two-day period after, is that
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          2  possible?

          3                 MR. CALVANESE: Dave Matthews had a

          4  very, you know, the stage is large, their set up is

          5  large and the impact is traumatic. So, it wasn't

          6  really possible for the amount of set up they had to

          7  do to do it in two days, it just couldn't be done.

          8  And they work through the day and night on these

          9  things.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. Well, I

         11  disagree a little with that, only because my sister

         12  does this for a living and has worked on major

         13  concerts throughout the United States, Europe and

         14  Japan and literally has put stages for 50 to 100,000

         15  people up and down in whatever the time frame the

         16  City or location gives them.

         17                 But let me move on. In your

         18  testimony, which I like to hear, you said the use,

         19  to maximize the use of the park for the most diverse

         20  activities. That having been said, setting aside

         21  four events for the Metropolitan and the Phil

         22  Harmonic is not diverse, doesn't represent the

         23  diversity of the City, in terms of the people that

         24  live in the City, and what concerns me is I've been

         25  hearing over and over this long-time relationship,

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  and it's as if they've been grandfathered in because

          3  it's been something that's gone on for awhile, but

          4  then we're not really looking at the diversity, I

          5  think, if we've already set aside four slots, two

          6  for each, and if they don't use it, fine, it opens

          7  up. But that's one aspect of it, and how, if that is

          8  determined to be low impact, is there a written

          9  definition that determines what low impact is?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I'd like to

         11  handle this question, just to clarify matters.

         12  Policy for events in parks is not set by the

         13  non-profit groups who help us manage, the policy is

         14  set by the Mayor and Parks Commissioner. And when

         15  Neil and I talked about the diversity of uses, we

         16  are talking about all of the different things that

         17  can take place on a nice lawn. And we're not talking

         18  about the nature of a performance. And, of course,

         19  there is a diversity of uses that takes place in

         20  performances on the Great Lawn and throughout

         21  Central Park, and Central Park, for example, almost

         22  every day during the summer there is great diversity

         23  of music that takes place at Central Park Summer

         24  Stage sponsored by the City Parks Foundation. It is

         25  the most highly regarded, international, sort of
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          2  multi-culturally ethnic music festival in the world

          3  that takes place right there in Central Park, and

          4  the reason we're able to do it every day is because

          5  it's on a hard surface. It's actually a clay surface

          6  where they put down artificial turf. It handles

          7  5,000 people every day in and out, there's a

          8  permanent stage and widely regarded and extremely

          9  well reviewed as the most diverse, most musically

         10  and ethnically diverse music festival probably in

         11  the world. And I think as far as the Metropolitan

         12  and the Phil Harmonic, yes, it's a 45-year

         13  tradition. New Yorkers of all races and backgrounds,

         14  and economic backgrounds come to hear this because

         15  it's free, because normally to hear the Phil

         16  Harmonic and the Met you have to pay a lot of money

         17  to see it indoors, and it takes place in the Bronx

         18  and it takes place in Queens and it takes place in

         19  Staten Island, takes place in Brooklyn. It's a great

         20  New York tradition, and we, you know, we believe in

         21  having this great diversity of uses that people of

         22  all ages can come use the lawn that you don't have

         23  to be just a rough, tough football player who can

         24  sustain injuries and come back the next day. You can

         25  be a baby, you can be a senior, and you could do a
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          2  great and diverse number of things and not just have

          3  only for touch football and for people who like to

          4  sit in the dust at all large events.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, thank you

          6  for giving me the breakdown on the diversity.

          7  However, that's fine. I disagree in terms of the

          8  Phil Harmonic and who it attracts. And if we are

          9  setting aside four slots for both the Opera and the

         10  Phil Harmonic, that really just gives us two to work

         11  with, and I don't think that that is being, we are

         12  already determining who and what can use those by

         13  saying 45 years. And I don't know, it is a great

         14  tradition, but if we don't make room for other great

         15  traditions, how does it happen?

         16                 But you can answer the question in

         17  terms of low impact, high impact, passive

         18  recreation, are those definitions in writing? And

         19  how is that determined?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We'd be happy to

         21  put them in writing. Low impacts, it means people

         22  are spread out, sometimes on blankets, sometimes

         23  just on the grass and not standing. High impact

         24  would be standing. High impact is also sports.

         25  Sports is a high-impact use, that's why it's
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          2  regulated.

          3                 High impact would be a tractor pull.

          4  We would not allow a tractor pull on the Great Lawn.

          5  We wouldn't allow, you know, stock car race or ATV

          6  vehicles. We wouldn't allow marching bands to do

          7  drills on the Great Lawn. Those are high-impact

          8  activities. We'd be happy to provide a long list of

          9  high-impact and low-impact activities.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think it would

         11  be great for whatever the policies are for low,

         12  high, passive, that they're in writing so that,

         13  number one, as the public goes to look and see what

         14  they can or cannot use, we know that it is in fact

         15  an objective standard that's being used and not

         16  subjective. So, I think it's important that it's put

         17  in writing.

         18                 Great. I just found out if people

         19  would like to sit in the Chambers, they are going to

         20  start, I guess piping the testimony, the speakers

         21  there, so there are seats next door if you're

         22  interested in sitting next door.

         23                 I'm going to go to my colleagues for

         24  questions. First we're going to have Council Member

         25  Addabbo and then Council Member Reed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Madam Chair,

          3  I appreciate it very much, and I appreciate the time

          4  this Committee has spent on this important issue and

          5  to this panel, Commissioner and the entire panel

          6  here, I appreciate your time and testimony on that,

          7  dealing with this difficult issue between a great

          8  icon like the Great Lawn and obviously its usage and

          9  the right to the people who do use that great icon,

         10  so, again, I appreciate your time in dealing with

         11  this issue.

         12                 Just a couple of questions. If we

         13  were to allow these larger groups to use the Great

         14  Lawn, I'm concerned, you had mentioned,

         15  Commissioner, about safety, the safety concerns. Are

         16  these the concerns of the Department of Parks and

         17  Recreation? Or have you heard of these safety

         18  concerns with these large crowds and possibly their

         19  evacuation at an event? And also of the Police

         20  Department and Fire Department, have you had

         21  conversations with them regarding large crowds using

         22  the great lawn?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, of course,

         24  the Police Department is the primary provider of

         25  safety and security on all large events, and they
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          2  have the ultimate sign-off and, frankly, the

          3  ultimate decision as to whether a large event could

          4  take place. If it can't be safely secured or

          5  policed, the police won't allow it to take place.

          6  And we work with the Police Department on the plans

          7  for both bringing people in and taking people out.

          8                 For example, when I started as a park

          9  ranger 26 years ago, people simply used to gather in

         10  a large crowd in front of the stage, and we quickly

         11  realized that if we had to bring an ambulance in, in

         12  case someone was having a heart attack, and it

         13  didn't take place, there was no way to do that,

         14  because the ambulance couldn't drive through a crowd

         15  of 50,000 people.

         16                 So, for the first time in that year

         17  in 1979, we established emergency access lanes. So

         18  now if you go to any large event in a park you will

         19  see there's a central emergency access lane that

         20  runs the entire length of the crowd, particularly

         21  the Great Lawn and other places, and then there were

         22  cross streets, if you will, that further segment the

         23  crowds so that you could bring in an ambulance or

         24  evacuate people, get a sick person out quickly. So

         25  that any large special events has a load-in and

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  load-out plan, as well as a security plan in which

          3  the Parks Department works with all of the relevant

          4  City agencies, including the Police Department, EMS,

          5  the Fire Department and anyone else, Department of

          6  Transportation, for example, if there's a parade

          7  that's associated with it.

          8                 So, the answer is, yes, security is a

          9  very important concern.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And did the

         11  NYPD or the Fire Department have any input on the

         12  50,000 number as far as crowd or any large crowd

         13  number? Did they have any input on that number?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: They didn't have

         15  an input on that number, but that's certainly a

         16  number that they have been comfortable working with.

         17  You know, with the plans, the safety and security

         18  plans that we have developed for the Great Lawn for

         19  the Philharmonic and Metropolitan Opera have been in

         20  place for many years. And if you go to a concert for

         21  this summer, which I hope everyone will, you will

         22  see that there is a central aisle which is patrolled

         23  by the police and by our park enforcement patrol,

         24  often auxiliary police officers, and this has become

         25  part of the tradition. People understand that. They
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          2  understand that once the concert begins they can't

          3  walk to those aisles, because they're kept clear

          4  specifically for safety reasons. And I suspect in a

          5  post 9/11 environment that has become even more

          6  important as a consideration.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Post large

          8  crowd event. Okay, we're now talking about a closure

          9  possibly of the Great Lawn. Do we close other parts,

         10  and I think it might have been mentioned, do we

         11  close other parts other than the Great Lawn when we

         12  have -- when possibly a large crowd event could be

         13  there, in terms of a recuperation period? Are we

         14  closing other parts, other than the Great Lawn?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The answer would

         16  be yes, but a qualified yes. Because there are

         17  certain parts of the park that we try to keep open

         18  every day for a wide variety of events, for the

         19  pick-up soccer and the pick-up touch football games,

         20  for school groups to come out and do physical

         21  education classes, and for large events.

         22                 For example, the East Meadow is an

         23  area of the park that we allow large events on and

         24  unpermitted, unscheduled athletic events, and, you

         25  know, as a result there's not much grass left in
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          2  East Meadow. But we need to have those kinds of

          3  flexible spaces. There's another lawn area over by

          4  West 86th Street, where that's where everybody goes,

          5  where dog walkers go, the touch football players go.

          6  If we had an event that created some damage on

          7  another lawn area you would close it.

          8                 You know, for example, if the AIDS

          9  Walk impacted on some of the adjacent lawns, you

         10  know, those might be closed off and be seeded, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Then

         12  considering possibly closing off the Great Lawn and

         13  possibly these other areas, knowing the amount of

         14  uses or people who will use these areas and the

         15  amount of permits that are given out, how many

         16  people are we talking about possibly, possibly being

         17  displaced during the closure period?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, if you

         19  took a worst case scenario, which is not an

         20  unreasonable worst case scenario, if we had no

         21  limits at all and if you had an event with say two-

         22  or three-hundred thousand people who squeezes the

         23  Great Lawn and if it happened in a day where it had

         24  been raining all day the day before and kept raining

         25  through that day, it is very likely, based on the
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          2  history and what we know about lawn care, that that

          3  lawn would be destroyed. We would have to excavate

          4  it, rip out all the old sod, regrade it, place new

          5  sod and depending on the time of year, let's say it

          6  was the spring time, that lawn would be closed for a

          7  year.

          8                 So, in other words, 2,200 sports

          9  permits would be cancelled, if you say, you know, do

         10  the math, minimum say 18 or 20 players for each

         11  permit times 2,000, that's the number of people

         12  directly impacted. But a far greater number gets

         13  impacted when they close the Great Lawn, it's that

         14  great diversity who come there for other sports. Who

         15  come there and fill in all the interstitial areas

         16  between the diamonds. The people who come there when

         17  there are no people playing sports, who come there

         18  during the off-season, who come to experience the

         19  grass in the park.

         20                 We have to remember, your

         21  constituents, Council member, many of them live in

         22  single-family homes and are lucky enough to have a

         23  front yard and a back yard. People who live in

         24  Manhattan don't have a yard. This is their yard.

         25  This is where everybody comes to find a little piece
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          2  of grass. And I could imagine with Council Member

          3  Gallagher, suppose we told the Juniper Valley Civic

          4  Association that we were going to close down all

          5  those ballfields they worked so hard to restore and

          6  maintain six times a year for a couple of weeks a

          7  time. You'd have a lot of -- you wouldn't have a

          8  great deal of interest in that in your community.

          9  And this is what we're talking about. This is the

         10  people's back yard, and for us to not take

         11  responsibility and try to preserve for the greatest

         12  number of users would be a high form of civic

         13  irresponsibility.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So we are

         15  talking about, obviously, a large number of people.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Hundreds of

         17  thousands of people would be pushed off the Great

         18  Lawn if you had to close it for a year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Lastly,

         20  Commissioner, because I think you alluded to it,

         21  about the bonds.

         22                 I understand there would have been no

         23  way to increase, for certainty then, for certain

         24  bonds, there's no way to increase the amount to

         25  almost ensure that any damage done would be taken
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          2  care of post event, after the event. Well, again,

          3  the procedures for changing these bonds, I

          4  understand for certain events is unavailable to us,

          5  right?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, we require

          7  bonds for large events. For example, for the Dave

          8  Matthews Band there was a quarter of a million

          9  dollar bond, for the Christo Gates there was a very

         10  large bond.

         11                 In the case of the Dave Matthews'

         12  Band concert, we kept half of that bond, $150,000

         13  was kept by the City and used to restore the Great

         14  Lawn and repair a variety of things that were

         15  damaged.

         16                 It gets a little bit trickier with

         17  First Amendment events, because they tend to be

         18  not-for-profit, there's no corporate sponsor, they

         19  tend to pulled together fairly quickly. It's a

         20  committee of people. They don't have the wherewithal

         21  to post a bond sufficient to repair the damage that

         22  might be caused, and there have been -- there's both

         23  a tradition and perhaps, you know, I'm not certain,

         24  but some court decisions where people might say you

         25  can't require them to post a bond of that size
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          2  because it's unreasonable.

          3                 So, for example, when United for

          4  Peace and Justice came this past spring, a bond for

          5  them was $5,000. Had your ballfield been destroyed

          6  for some reason because it had rained, we would

          7  simply not have had the money to restore it from

          8  that source. And you know, that's just the way it

          9  is.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And to fix or

         11  repair a field above the bond obviously comes out of

         12  the Park's budget?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It does. Or, you

         14  know, you would have to go to the private donors who

         15  helped do this.

         16                 And I would point out, to fully

         17  restore the Great Lawn would be hundreds of

         18  thousands of dollars, and the displacement of

         19  hundreds of thousands of users.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Once again, I

         21  want to thank the panel for their time and

         22  testimony. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         24  Reed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Madam
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          2  Chair, and good morning to everyone.

          3                 I have concerns also, and also a

          4  great deal of sympathy for this issue, and I think

          5  it's useful that we are, as the people's

          6  legislature, trying to have this discourse about how

          7  do you balance all these needs and these demands.

          8                 I also am privileged to represent

          9  Central Park and live on Central Park. So, you know,

         10  like in my face every day. And I know that with the

         11  work of the Park Conservancy that a lot of things

         12  have changed in the park.

         13                 But I'm also concerned that as those

         14  things have changed, there's a sensitivity to

         15  democracy that the park represents, even it's own

         16  name is central, it starts to be diminished. And we

         17  keep hearing about more and more restrictions and

         18  things that we should be concerned about. And I'm

         19  mindful that several years ago we were told or

         20  reminded that there's a rule on the books that says,

         21  I don't remember exactly, Commissioner, but even if

         22  four or five people want to assemble together, that

         23  they need a permit; is that rule still in place?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: There is a rule

         25  that groups of 20 or more who want to do it
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          2  specifically in a park require a permit.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, even if you

          4  had a family reunion of 20 or more, you would need a

          5  permit?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: And people do it

          7  all the time. We issue thousands of permits every

          8  year. It's a very ministerial matter.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: My sympathy

         10  around the Great Lawn, because I, too, am a New

         11  Yorker and remember what it used to look like, but I

         12  also remember, and this is puzzling to me because

         13  I'm hearing about this great sensitivity to the

         14  Lawn, I remember all the articles that were in the

         15  New York Times and other news papers about this new

         16  lawn and how durable it was and how tough it was,

         17  and mix this kind of grass and that kind of grass

         18  and had several different layers, one picture had

         19  all the different layers of irrigation that were put

         20  in specifically to deal with drainage and all the

         21  issues, and yet now your testimony is we have the

         22  potential for this huge damage.

         23                 There's some contradiction here that

         24  I can't sort of reconcile in my own mind. I remember

         25  what the old situation was, that we didn't have all
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          2  of these other things, then we spent a large amount

          3  of money, $18 million, to put lawns down. In

          4  anybody's estimation, that's a lot of money, but it

          5  was done to deal specifically with the issue of

          6  durability.

          7                 So, even with all of that you're

          8  still saying the risk to this damage is so enormous

          9  that we have to restrict the number of people?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: As you'll

         11  probably hear later from Dr. Petrovich, the answer

         12  is both. It was created to be a durable lawn, that's

         13  why we can allow these large events to take place.

         14  It's not made of Cryptonite, though. It's real

         15  grass, and real grass can die real fast. And if you

         16  put a large crowd of people standing

         17  shoulder-to-shoulder for six hours in the rain, you

         18  will kill it and the Yankee Stadium's ground crew

         19  couldn't bring that lawn back to life. And that's

         20  the reality.

         21                 Yes, it was built to take a licking

         22  and keep on ticking, but it's not invulnerable, and

         23  it was built to have these five or six events,

         24  that's what they said when they built it, that's

         25  what the management plan that was developed while

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  they were building it said, and that's what we've

          3  done ever since then.

          4                 The difference is that in the old

          5  days you could do whatever you liked because there

          6  was no grass, nothing to be killed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Now, just from a

          8  technical standpoint, in your testimony, maybe I

          9  misunderstood it, you said we spent $18.2 million to

         10  restore the Great Lawn and then you had a $4 million

         11  number, is that the maintenance?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's the

         13  surrounding landscape. So, the Great Lawn, we talk

         14  about the Great Lawn oval and the north, and the

         15  fields north of the oval. The surrounding landscape,

         16  which goes to the East Drive and the West Drive is

         17  sort of a hilly woodland, which was also restored,

         18  the paths were redone and the ground covers replaced

         19  and a lot of sort of shrubs and ground covers, and

         20  flowers and trees were planted to the east and the

         21  west of the Great Lawn, so that was the additional 4

         22  million in the surrounding landscape.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And you've also

         24  talked about the east lawn that provides the

         25  opportunity for large assemblage; how many people do
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          2  you estimate can assembly there?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We say about

          4  50,000, we squeezed in 60,000 when the Dali Lama

          5  came.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Is it the same

          7  acreage as the Great Lawn?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's a different

          9  configuration, and that's the 50,000 or 60,000 would

         10  probably stretch out to the Park's East Drive. But

         11  it is bowl shaped. It's actually in some ways better

         12  for a large event, because when we're in the back of

         13  the crowd, you actually have a better view of the

         14  stage than the people in the front, and you're also

         15  on grass where those people in the front will be on

         16  dirt.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Is it the Parks

         18  Department and the Conservancy, sometimes I'm

         19  confused here over who is in charge, and I know the

         20  ten-year contract is going to be up for review

         21  fairly soon. But if we came with another $18

         22  million, would you restore that lawn and then would

         23  we be having the same conversation?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, the plan to

         25  restore it, when we restore it, there is a plan to
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          2  restore it, would be to keep it available as a

          3  flexibility of space, and we have gone so far as to

          4  say that certain areas, we just won't try to grow

          5  grass, we'll keep sort of a consolidated clay

          6  surface so you can continue to have events and pull

          7  stages in and have the schools come and have their

          8  physical education classes, and the weekend warriors

          9  come out and play touch football and ultimate

         10  frisbee.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, I think the

         12  concern that I have also is a larger question, not

         13  just of the Parks Department. I mean, your mandate

         14  is to keep our parks functional. I think all of us

         15  on the Council are critical of the Mayor and the

         16  Administration's budget, and every year we put more

         17  money in there and think it's ridiculous that we

         18  spend less than one percent of the City's budget on

         19  parks. We're all challenged to try to fix our own

         20  parks. The Mayor comes to the Council and says,

         21  well, just send capital money and restore it. You

         22  put the capital money in it.

         23                 Then occasionally there is the game

         24  of after we put it in, the Mayor decides to take it

         25  back out. So we go back and forth causing a great
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          2  deal of frustration.

          3                 But Central Park, low and behold, is

          4  magnificent, because you've been able to get a

          5  public/private partnership. I think what happens is

          6  the people are seeing the private part of it more

          7  often than they're seeing the public, and that's

          8  where a great part of where this debate happens. And

          9  I think that when this City welcomes, and, you know,

         10  I think we should, large conventions, but

         11  particularly if they're of a political nature. There

         12  has to be an understanding that there is going to be

         13  demonstrations. That's the nature of this democracy,

         14  it's the nature of this country, and you bring it to

         15  New York, and you don't have an expectation that a

         16  huge number of people are going to want to express

         17  their opinion, and then say, golly, we can't have

         18  you walk across this park. You know, it's not Eve to

         19  me.

         20                 You're mandate as the Parks

         21  Commissioner is one thing. What we're mandated to

         22  do, my colleagues in the Council, and the other

         23  elected officials, is to look at the larger picture

         24  here. And the balance is to try to preserve and to

         25  help you do that, but at the same time you recognize
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          2  people want to come to New York, and they want to

          3  come to New York and have an opportunity to say this

          4  is how we feel and express ourselves.

          5                 And I think as we've heard in other

          6  testimony when we start hearing about now we can

          7  only have X number of parades down Fifth Avenue, and

          8  now you're moving to Madison Avenue. Well, soon

          9  people are going to be pushed out of the camera

         10  completely, and that is a concern that I think needs

         11  to be addressed.

         12                 Finally, Madam Chair, I think the

         13  point that you made is something that's been on my

         14  mind, is this grandparenting of four events, that

         15  while I recognize there is some diversity in the

         16  crowd, let's face it, it isn't fully reflective of

         17  the City.

         18                 And so your proposal is to have six.

         19  I would suggest that we either make it eight, and

         20  grandparent four, or maybe make it three and

         21  grandparent six, but at least we've got a 50/50

         22  chance here. And that we also take a look at this

         23  window that's about 45 days, or something like that.

         24  I'm not trying to be humorous about it,

         25  Commissioner, but I do think that there has got to
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          2  be a broader opportunity.

          3                 If I saw that, this is something that

          4  I could certainly support. I think the restriction

          5  of 50,000 people probably is reasonable, but I don't

          6  think that you can square, or that we can in fact

          7  square with our constituents that we have four

          8  events, lovely as they are, that are somehow

          9  automatically grandparented because they've existed

         10  for this law. And then say, and everybody else can

         11  wrestle each other to the ground, that will be an

         12  event in Central Park, to see who gets the other two

         13  permits.

         14                 So, I think you've got to

         15  accommodate, as we've just heard people do that

         16  yesterday very reasonably with Washington Square

         17  Park and recognize what people said about democracy

         18  and the environment, the history and the tradition

         19  that's here in the City.

         20                 So, if you're looking for my support

         21  in this, we'd like to hear that as some compromise.

         22                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Reed. First, thank you for your

         25  support of the 50,000 number, that you think it's
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          2  reasonable.

          3                 You know, I just want to be very

          4  clear. All of the rallies that wanted to take place

          5  have taken place. And we have offered locations for

          6  all of them, including Central Park. And I think

          7  there's a bit of fixation that it must be on the

          8  Great Lawn, it must be on schedule, and I think the

          9  response would be, if you could have your rally some

         10  place in Central Park, it doesn't have to be on the

         11  Great Lawn. And we say that the same thing, it has

         12  nothing to do with the nature of the event. Someone

         13  comes to us and says I want to do the Beetles

         14  Reunion in New York City and I want to do it on the

         15  Great Lawn of Central Park, and 200,000 people and a

         16  live broadcast. I'll say that's wonderful, we'll see

         17  you in the Flushing Meadows Park. And that's the

         18  reality. It has nothing to do with the message of

         19  the content or the activity.

         20                 Someone says, I want to have the

         21  world's biggest mud wrestling. That's wonderful,

         22  we're not going to do it for Central Park, we're

         23  going to take it some place else. And I'm pleased

         24  that three former Parks Commissioners are here,

         25  Gordon Davis, who began the renaissance at Sunset
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          2  Park when he restored Sheep Meadow in 1979, and gave

          3  me my first job; Henry Stern who presided over the

          4  historic restoration of the Great Lawn and is here;

          5  Betsy Gotbaum, who puts together the financing from

          6  the City side to match Dick Guilder's magnificent

          7  gift to begin the restoration of the Great Lawn on

          8  the West Side. They understand how difficult it is

          9  to balance all those needs, and the fact is we've

         10  done a wonderful job balancing those needs, and the

         11  fact is that under Mayor Bloomberg that parks are

         12  better than every by every measure, that he's put

         13  the largest capital budget in the City's history in

         14  place to restore parks. That there have been no bad

         15  cuts to the Parks Department. The Parks Department

         16  is bigger than ever when you add in all the programs

         17  that work together.

         18                 And, so, what we're talking about is,

         19  not that there's no place for these events, there's

         20  plenty of places for these events, it's just to

         21  figure out the right place that doesn't deny other

         22  people their rights to have a nice park.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And balance and

         24  the mix, and that's what we're talking about here in

         25  Central Park, that's, to me --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: And it's

          3  happening in Central Park, the balance is right

          4  there in Central Park.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: No. I'm talking

          6  about the use of this particular lawn. But I'm also,

          7  I don't know if the Chair wants to entertain the

          8  question maybe for when we have the executive

          9  budget, but if in this context -- why is it okay to

         10  mess up Flushing Park with 200,000 people?

         11                 I mean, if I lived in Queens I'd be

         12  outside upset right now.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The answer is,

         14  Flushing Meadows Park is one of the largest parks in

         15  the City. It has large flat areas of grass. It has

         16  large ballfield areas. You could accommodate 100,000

         17  people without taking them into the ballfield.

         18  People can still play soccer because you can put

         19  them in what is known as festival grounds. That's

         20  why the large ethnic festivals take place there.

         21                 It is about 50 percent larger than

         22  Central Park, and is surrounded by low-rise

         23  residential neighborhoods, it doesn't get anywhere

         24  near the intensity of use five days a week that

         25  Central Park gets.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Madam

          3  Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          5                 Let me just, with that and the use

          6  then, what about the grass issues at Flushing Meadow

          7  Park? It's not the same concern that is in place for

          8  the Great Lawn?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Again, because

         10  the park gets very limited use during the week, it's

         11  not used -- those festival grounds are not used for

         12  softball or baseball. They're not permitted out for

         13  sporting events. So they get used a few weekends a

         14  summer and that's it. That's why we're able to

         15  maintain lawns there and that's why we spread the

         16  events around.

         17                 In residential neighborhoods with

         18  much lower density you can have your relatively

         19  unlimited uses, but because of the density of use,

         20  25 million people come to Central Park every year,

         21  and the largest, probably the busiest park in the

         22  world, you have to really regulate the uses, and we

         23  regulate the uses in other parks too.

         24                 However, if there are Council members

         25  here who would like to have the large events move
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          2  from Central Park to their districts, please let me

          3  know. I want to make sure that happens.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We've been joined

          5  by Council Member James from Brooklyn.

          6                 I just have a few more questions. I

          7  think we could actually be here all day with this

          8  panel, but we do have to move on.

          9                 How was the number six arrived? How

         10  did you arrive at the number six?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: If you look back

         12  historically over the use of the Great Lawn for

         13  larger events, there have never been more than six,

         14  including before the restoration. And here we have

         15  to expose, to some extent, another cunard. The idea

         16  that in the Halcion days there were dozens of events

         17  that took place on the Great Lawn because we didn't

         18  have to restrict the use and democracy flourished.

         19                 The fact is, we never had more than

         20  five. There were two or three years where we had the

         21  full six events, both before and after the

         22  restoration. Most years we had just the Philharmonic

         23  and the Metropolitan Opera, if they weren't rained

         24  out, and occasionally they're rained out all the

         25  time. There hasn't been the demands to have the
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          2  Great Lawn used more than six times, and six times

          3  is also the number that the experts tell us this

          4  lawn can sustain and then rest, sustain and rest. If

          5  you do it more than that there isn't enough rest

          6  time between events, and if you keep increasing the

          7  number of large events that can press the grass,

          8  increasing the risk of having those large crowds in

          9  the rain, you increase the risk that you will

         10  deprive hundreds of thousands of people of the use

         11  of that lawn as their backyard.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Did the six

         13  events, four of them over the last decade, four of

         14  them always included the Opera and the Philharmonic?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes. Over the

         16  last four decades.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: For these last

         18  two slots, what's the criteria? If you have ten

         19  applications all similarly situated, time, you know,

         20  time and date stamped all around the same time, then

         21  how do you make the determination what the two

         22  events are?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: First it has to

         24  be appropriate. They have to be events that can take

         25  place there and move in case it rains or be
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          2  rescheduled. So, you have to look at, you know, is

          3  there some rational way they can limit the size, can

          4  they meet the other criteria? Then it really is

          5  first come first served. I can't think of another

          6  way of doing it. You can't say, well, we'll take the

          7  people for freedom first but not the people against

          8  freedom. We can't make a content decision, it has to

          9  be very sort of businesslike, you know, first in the

         10  door with the application who meets the other

         11  criteria.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And the criteria

         13  for the appropriateness of the event in terms of can

         14  it be rescheduled and all that, that criteria is

         15  literally written somewhere that someone can say --

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Criteria is in

         17  the rules. You'll see the text with the rules.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And speaking of

         19  the rules, before we go to Council Member Gallagher,

         20  who has a question, currently for special events and

         21  demonstration, there's a filing period with the

         22  application of 21 days to five days in advance. But

         23  there's proposed rules for the Great Lawn, it's two

         24  months to six months. What was the rationale in

         25  changing the time frame for applications? Why is it
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          2  needed so far in advance?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Because these

          4  are very large events that require a great deal of

          5  planning. And you also want to give the people who

          6  want to have the large events time to plan in

          7  advance.

          8                 It's generally not possible to plan a

          9  major event in five days, and make it work.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, prior to

         11  these new rules that had been done, correct? It was

         12  21 days in advance, or five days in advance. So why

         13  now --

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's to give

         15  everybody a chance well ahead of the schedule, well

         16  ahead of it would be to apply and be considered.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, that is one

         18  thing, but in terms of you just mentioned that it

         19  takes longer to prepare an event. If you're

         20  preparing a political demonstration, you might not

         21  know two to six months in advance that the

         22  Administration is going to invade Iraq to know to

         23  plan for a protest march. So, it's not in situations

         24  of politics when things change, you won't have that

         25  two- to six-month window. And in years past it is my
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          2  understanding that obviously this 21-day rule

          3  worked.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: If you look at

          5  the text, it says "two months before the proposed

          6  events where exigent circumstances prevented timely

          7  application shall be accepted..." So, if there is an

          8  expressive matter, such as some big event takes

          9  place, we will consider an application.

         10                 So, if someone comes to us in August,

         11  and we haven't booked something for September, says,

         12  look, we really need to go into the Great Lawn in

         13  five days because the world will end if we don't, we

         14  can make arrangements for that.

         15                 We have always allowed a much shorter

         16  period of application for rallies and protests and

         17  things that are time sensitive.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, could you

         19  -- the criteria that you mentioned for the two

         20  other events that are in the rules, could you supply

         21  me with a copy of that? Because we were just looking

         22  and we didn't see it, so if you could supply this

         23  Committee with a copy of the criteria, it would

         24  help.

         25                 Council Member Gallagher.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It says the

          3  criteria right here, "cannot exceed 50,000 people."

          4  "Can only take place during these time periods."

          5  "Subject to cancellation." "In the event of damage

          6  to the grass, loden plants," all those criteria are

          7  right there.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And this is the

          9  criteria where we just talked about for these last

         10  two events, if the Philharmonic and the Opera

         11  exercise their four events, in terms of

         12  appropriateness?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes. You'll see

         14  the criteria are content neutral.

         15                 Council Member Gallagher.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 Commissioner, thanks for your

         19  testimony, and ladies and gentlemen of the panel,

         20  thanks for your testimony, as well.

         21                 Let me start by saying that having

         22  attended the former Pal Memorial High School, and

         23  playing varsity soccer, I always played in Sheep

         24  Meadow and on the lawn soccer in the late seventies

         25  and early eighties, and I can remember how painful
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          2  it was to try to be an athlete and play under those

          3  circumstances. It is certainly nice to see the

          4  changes and how the Great Lawn and the Meadow have

          5  improved over the years. And I think that the City

          6  has every right to do what they can and must do to

          7  maintain their $18.2 million commitment to making

          8  sure that the Great Lawn and those fields remain

          9  playable and available to the 2,200 sports permits

         10  and the thousands of other families that use it on a

         11  daily and weekly basis.

         12                 So, I sympathize with you. I agree

         13  with my colleague, Council Member Reed, that 50,000

         14  is a reasonable number to limit it to.

         15                 I know that you've been calling maybe

         16  for the use in Queens, I just want to point out

         17  that, you know, we sometimes in Queens have

         18  carnivales that come into our local parks, and they

         19  destroy grass and destroy the quality of life and I

         20  don't know that the bonds that they put up are ever

         21  enough to pay for the damage that goes on in there,

         22  and it takes years to recover and by that time you

         23  schedule another special event which destroys it.

         24  So, I would like to see in some of our Queens' parks

         25  some of the equipment that we have in Central Park,
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          2  that when there is damage that people will come out

          3  and replace the grass. And if that means closing the

          4  park for a little while to maintain a high quality

          5  of life, I hope that we do the same thing for our

          6  local parks in Queens that we do in Central Park.

          7                 In addition, I think that when you

          8  look at Flushing Meadows, I don't know that you have

          9  the same amount of private/public partnership and

         10  resources that are available to go ahead and replace

         11  some of the damage that will be done.

         12                 So, I hope that if your long-term

         13  plans are to take large scale events and put them to

         14  Queens or to Brooklyn or elsewhere, that we also

         15  have the resources available that Central Park has

         16  to maintain the character of the park.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: You raise a good

         19  issue. And in fact, we are mindful of that, and we

         20  have recently dramatically increased the amounts of

         21  the bonds, particularly for events in Flushing

         22  Meadows Park, to make them equal to the kind of

         23  damage that can be done. And in terms of carnivales,

         24  we'll make sure that we also increase those.

         25                 There also is a group called Unisfer,
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          2  Inc. (phonetic), which is a public/private

          3  partnership for Flushing Meadows Park, which is

          4  raising money for precisely those purposes, and

          5  we're using money they raised to help improve the

          6  lawns at Flushing Meadows Park.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

          8  Commissioner. And thank you, the rest of the

          9  panelists. I think as you can see from the questions

         10  that have been asked, there is some concern, and

         11  there is room for more discussion, especially as we

         12  go forward. So, thank you.

         13                 Our next panel is going to be Public

         14  Advocate Betsy Gotbaum. While we're doing the change

         15  the Committee needs to take a vote.

         16                 We are going to take a vote, and

         17  we're voting on Proposed Intro. 304-A having to do

         18  with changing a portion of Jamaica Avenue to Jericho

         19  Turnpike, and amending the official City Map to

         20  reflect that.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Foster.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I vote aye.

          3  But, Madam Chair, I just need to put on the record

          4  that I believe in general that our City should

          5  maintain the distinctiveness of the street names and

          6  not necessarily align those names with the

          7  neighboring suburbs. However, I understand the

          8  special circumstances of this particular street in

          9  this area brought to the attention by our colleague,

         10  so with mindfulness of those circumstances, I vote

         11  aye.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Arroyo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of six in

         20  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         21  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         22  please sign the Committee report.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 Welcome, Betsy. Please feel free to

         25  start when you're ready.

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: I'd like to

          5  say good morning to the Chairwoman Foster and my

          6  colleagues on the City Council, and to thank

          7  Commission Benepe for his very interesting statement

          8  and to commend him on how beautifully the Parks are

          9  being maintained, and to say hello to my former

         10  colleagues, Gordon Davis and Henry, who are seated

         11  right behind me.

         12                 So, it's nice to have you all here,

         13  and all of us in the same room.

         14                 I'm here not only as Public Advocate,

         15  but as the former Parks Commissioner, and I

         16  expressed my position on this issue in a letter to

         17  both Mayor Bloomberg and Commissioner Benepe and

         18  stated my feelings at a press conference several

         19  weeks ago.

         20                 I think few people understand better

         21  than I the importance of maintaining the beauty and

         22  physical condition of the City's green spaces.

         23                 I expanded the City Parks Foundation

         24  which was started by Commissioner Stern. I expanded

         25  the function of it to raise a lot of money, millions
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          2  of dollars to restore and maintain parks outside of

          3  central park, because I felt that they were not

          4  getting the kind of attention they needed, if they

          5  didn't have the kinds of conservancies.

          6                 But I also know that our parks are

          7  not just made to be looked at. During my tenure at

          8  parks, I got the City to agree to allow the gay

          9  men's health crisis and other organizations to use

         10  Central Park for fund raising events. As a result,

         11  more people than ever could participate in GMHC's

         12  AIDS Walk and the money raised for people with AIDS

         13  was considerable.

         14                 I opened Central Park to the AIDS

         15  Walk because I recognized that our parks are the

         16  places where New Yorkers of all walks of life come

         17  together to play, to enjoy music and exercise their

         18  right to express themselves.

         19                 For decades, the Great Lawn of

         20  Central Park has been a symbol of freedom. The

         21  Mayor's new rules betray that symbol.

         22                 His plan to severely restrict the

         23  number, size and timing of gatherings on the Great

         24  Lawn and to ban special events all together in the

         25  Sheep Meadow, the North Meadow and ultimately
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          2  Heckscher Ballfields, is wrong for our City, I

          3  believe.

          4                 The supposed purpose of the plan is

          5  to protect the grass, but it does so at the expense

          6  of civil rights and ignores Central Park's rich

          7  history. And let me talk for a few minutes about

          8  that history.

          9                 This Administration is not the first

         10  to try to limit the use of the park. In the years

         11  after the park was opened, strict rules were put in

         12  place to discourage German and Irish immigrants from

         13  visiting and disturbing the afternoon carriage rides

         14  of the wealthier residents. Group picnics were

         15  banned, tradesmen were forbidden from using their

         16  commercial wagons for family drives, school children

         17  couldn't play ball on the Meadows without a note

         18  from the principals.

         19                 Conscientious New Yorkers fought

         20  these restrictions and won. 1865 the Park hosted

         21  more than 7 million visitors a year.

         22                 In the sixties, Mayor Lindsay

         23  encouraged concerts and demonstrations in the park,

         24  and shelbit the world that a spirit of community and

         25  idealism lives in New York City.
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          2                 By the end of the century, we had

          3  added a carousel, tennis facilities, concerts and

          4  the zoo.

          5                 When we've changed the rules in the

          6  past, we've opened up the park, why on earth would

          7  we want to go back the opposite direction.

          8                 The Parks Commissioner already has

          9  the power to deny the permit, if a proposed event is

         10  likely to cause too much harm to the park. He or she

         11  has the power to demand the organizers put up a bond

         12  to pay for restoration if their event damages the

         13  grass. And I recognize what Commissioner Benepe

         14  says, that there are limits on what some of the

         15  not-for-profits may put up as bonds, but remember,

         16  he also described how beautifully they have learned

         17  how, they being the current parks personnel, to

         18  control situations in the park, and he described

         19  very eloquently how you get ambulances in and out

         20  during big events.

         21                 So, a reasonable observer could draw

         22  the conclusion that the Mayor may have other motives

         23  for imposing these unnecessary rules.

         24                 There is reason to believe, in the

         25  wake of the Republican Convention, that he is
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          2  seeking to limit public demonstrations that could

          3  embarrass the Administration.

          4                 The Police Department has already

          5  moved to restrict parades and demonstrations along

          6  Fifth Avenue. By making Fifth Avenue and the Great

          7  Lawn off limits, it seems to be that the Bloomberg

          8  Administration is essentially pushing future

          9  demonstrations to the West Side Highway, which is

         10  the only place left, it seems to me, to hold this

         11  great number of people. There, of course, the public

         12  could never see anything.

         13                 So, I don't believe the Mayor should

         14  be ashamed to host big events in the park. I think

         15  he should be proud of them.

         16                 He should be proud that a 2003

         17  concert by Dave Matthews drew 83,000 New Yorkers to

         18  the Great Lawn and raised over $2 million for the

         19  City's public schools. At the time he said, Central

         20  Park, which has a long history of hosting major

         21  outdoor concerts is the perfect setting for such an

         22  exciting event under the night sky. But apparently

         23  he's changed his mind. The Dave Matthews concert

         24  took place on September 24th, too late in the

         25  calendar under these new rules, I might add.
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          2                 Ask New Yorkers and visitors to the

          3  City for their favorite memory of Central Park. Some

          4  might remember the upkeep the grounds, but I bet

          5  more would speak to attending a mass presided over

          6  by Pope John Paul, of seeing Simon and Garfunkle

          7  reunite for a crowd of half a million, or adjoining

          8  750,000 people to protest the nuclear arms race.

          9  None of these events would have happened under the

         10  new rules.

         11                 Only six events a year on the Great

         12  Lawn, four of those reserved for the Opera and

         13  Symphony, the remaining two locked into a one-month

         14  period from mid-August to mid-September, and to

         15  limit 50,000 people per event, these new rules don't

         16  just violate civil rights, they go against our

         17  values.

         18                 New Yorkers like big, diverse crowds.

         19  And we like to speak our minds. We believe that

         20  Mayor Bloomberg has the responsibility to those

         21  values.

         22                 They must keep the park beautiful,

         23  while at the same time embracing its status as New

         24  York's Town Square. It may not always be easy, but I

         25  know from my own experience as the Parks
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          2  Commissioner, it can be done without additional

          3  restrictions which will be set in stone with these

          4  rules. I believe, if anything, Central Park needs

          5  more help from City Hall, not a giant saying Keep

          6  Off The Grass.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Public

          9  Advocate Gotbaum. Your insight, both having sat in

         10  the position as Parks Commissioner actually answered

         11  the questioning that I was going to ask. You

         12  answered in the testimony.

         13                 I'll turn to my colleagues. Does

         14  anyone have any questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just one,

         16  Madam Chair. Just from your experience, does the

         17  bonding system work sufficiently to -- I mean, as a

         18  realistic and practical matter and implementation,

         19  does putting up a bond for these mass events work to

         20  cover and assure the repair of any damage caused by

         21  them?

         22                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: I'll tell

         23  you, we had a very bad experience when I was

         24  Commissioner, and that was, ironically, Earth Day,

         25  which we had a huge event in the park and the park
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          2  was trashed, and the Great Lawn, by the way, had not

          3  been restored, but the Park was trashed, even though

          4  it was in bad shape. We had a bond, but it wasn't

          5  sufficient to do it.

          6                 We've learned a lesson then, two

          7  lessons. We learned that you have to have a bond

          8  that is large enough at least to cover the cost, and

          9  if the organization can't do it, and you're afraid

         10  that they're going to ruin the park, the

         11  Commissioner has the right to say you can't do it.

         12                 But I don't believe that that should

         13  be set in stone in the rules, and that's what I feel

         14  so strongly about. I think that's what we're hired

         15  for, and we're hired to make the decision, by the

         16  way. We make the recommendation to the Mayor, the

         17  Mayor then will listen to our arguments and say,

         18  okay, you go ahead, I trust what you're saying, or

         19  not. I just think putting it in the rules is very,

         20  very dangerous for future and for some people, some

         21  Mayors who may not be at all concerned about our

         22  civil liberties.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member James.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Madam Public

          3  Advocate, as you know, the First Amendment does not

          4  mandate that individuals have a forum within which

          5  to speak at all times, and in fact the courts have

          6  basically talked about reasonableness, and so the

          7  question that I pose to you, obviously, you feel

          8  that the rules are not reasonable, what would you

          9  deem reasonable based on your testimony today? Are

         10  you suggesting that we not have any rules at all?

         11                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Quite the

         12  contrary. I think I learned by experience that you

         13  do need rules and you do need to set standards and

         14  you need to do controls. I think Commissioner Benepe

         15  explained very well how the Parks Department has

         16  learned how to control, especially in areas when

         17  there are huge crowds, and I believe that that's the

         18  Commissioner's responsibility to make those

         19  decisions. And, so, I don't think that having rules

         20  like that are important. I think that's what the

         21  Commissioner should decide in consultation with his

         22  or her staff.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, it should

         24  be up to the discretion of the Commissioner?

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: I think so.
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          2  Because it's a very important job. The people that

          3  have been in that position are extremely responsible

          4  and intelligent, and have the best interests of New

          5  Yorkers at heart, and I just am very nervous about

          6  casting it in stone in rules.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And based upon

          8  your experience, were there limits set on the

          9  issuance of the bonds, on the amount of the bonds?

         10                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: You know, I

         11  think the Earth Day, the Earth Day celebration, was

         12  the one that I remember the best, and they did not

         13  have enough money to put the amount that we thought

         14  was sufficient. So, I made a mistake. I probably

         15  should have tried to say, you either get the money

         16  for the bond, because we just are nervous, of course

         17  it never occurred to me that Earth Day participants

         18  would trash the park. So, I did make a mistake. But

         19  we learned, and the next time we had a concert I

         20  think we figured out how to control it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just based upon

         22  my experience, the only concert I can ever recall

         23  attending was back in the eighties Diana Ross. That

         24  brings fine memories back, to my mind.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: You'll have
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          2  to ask Commissioner Stern about that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Commissioner

          4  Stern, yes.

          5                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: I cannot

          6  answer the question because I wasn't there, but I do

          7  live with the benefit of the Diana Ross Park.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But I question

          9  if, in fact, Diana Ross wanted to make a come-back,

         10  whether or not she would, under these rules whether

         11  or not she would meet the reasonable test, or

         12  whether the rules would apply to her to have a

         13  concert for Diana Ross.

         14                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Well,

         15  unfortunately, I wasn't there and I don't remember

         16  the circumstances, I remember it was very ugly, and

         17  I think you'd have to ask the other two

         18  commissioners, one of them I know has a perfect

         19  memory, who recalls everything.

         20                 But, again, I believe that the

         21  Commissioner has the right and already can make

         22  those decisions him or herself.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Public

         25  Advocate.
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          2                 Our next panel will be Donna

          3  Lieberman and Chris Dunn and Leslie Cagan.

          4                 Can we started as soon as possible?

          5  We've got a lot of people to hear from, and we need

          6  to get to our former Commissioners. So, please. And

          7  Jeff Vogel will be in this panel.

          8                 And, again, I'm going to remind,

          9  unfortunately we have time constraints, and I don't

         10  want it to appear as though to this panel we're

         11  rushing. We're just trying to get through everyone

         12  and I want everyone to be heard.

         13                 So, please feel free to start. State

         14  your name for the record and we will move as rapidly

         15  as we can.

         16                 MS. LIEBERMAN: My name is Donna

         17  Lieberman. I'm the Executive Director of the New

         18  York Civil Liberties Union, and as much as we have

         19  four generations of Parks Commissioners in the room,

         20  which is wonderful, we have two generations of Civil

         21  Liberties Union Executive Directors in the room as

         22  well. Norman Siegel, my predecessor is also here.

         23                 Central Park is indeed one of New

         24  York City's assets. Everyone uses it at some point.

         25  I, myself, spent every weekend for about 15 years on
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          2  the ballfields of the Park, the cyclists, the

          3  runners, the kids in the playground, those who

          4  attend every shade of concert and play and even the

          5  happening art exhibit of the Gates are core uses of

          6  the Park. But just as important, indeed, if not more

          7  important, Central Park has served as our Town

          8  Square, where people can gather to express their

          9  views, whatever they may be, in the Park.

         10                 The proposed regulations would take

         11  the great lawn of Central Park out of circulation as

         12  the quintessential public forum that it has been for

         13  generations, that it has been not just for two

         14  generations or three generations, but many, many

         15  generations here in New York City. And closing the

         16  Great Lawn of Central Park to public protest is

         17  antithetical to the principles of free speech and

         18  pluralism that are at the heart of our democracy in

         19  this country and in this City.

         20                 We object to the Park Department reg,

         21  because it would put the Great Lawn off limits,

         22  virtually to all protest activity, regardless of the

         23  risk to the grass.

         24                 The Parks Department has made much of

         25  its concern for the grass, and believe me, we all
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          2  share a concern for the grass. We all want our park

          3  to be a park, not a dustbowl, of course. But in

          4  promulgating these regs, the Parks Department would

          5  limit to two essentially, because four of the

          6  special permits are already taken by the City's

          7  favorite events, only two special permits a year,

          8  and a special permit would be required for any event

          9  involving more than 20 people. I ask you, how does a

         10  demonstration of 21 people impose a risk to the

         11  grass?

         12                 How does a demonstration of 50, 100,

         13  500, even 1,000 people pose a real risk to the grass

         14  so that it has to be limited like that?

         15                 And indeed, the number of events that

         16  involve so many people that they pose a risk to the

         17  grass is very, very limited, but these regulations

         18  over-restrict access to the Great Lawn.

         19                 The limit to 50,000 for any special

         20  event on the Great Lawn effectively puts off limits

         21  the only open space in the City, in Manhattan, that

         22  is, that can accommodate comfortably a large crowd.

         23                 I would submit, contrary to what the

         24  Parks Commissioner says, that indeed 50,000 is an

         25  inappropriate limit because we have seen that there
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          2  have been events of more than 100,000 or even

          3  200,000 accommodated in the park.

          4                 Now, it may well be that a limit is

          5  appropriate, but this reinventing of history, when

          6  suddenly, suddenly the Dave Matthews concert had

          7  only 50,000 people, suddenly I don't know what the

          8  figure they would propose for the great anti-nuclear

          9  march or the Stone Wall march, suddenly those

         10  numbers are bogus. They came from the Police

         11  Department, and, by the way, in an era when the

         12  Police Department was not known for over-estimating

         13  the size of demonstration.

         14                 So, I think that the 50,000 number is

         15  inappropriate, and I think that we have to deal with

         16  it, limits, of course, are appropriate, but they

         17  have to be reasonable and gear to what the park can

         18  indeed accommodate.

         19                 The notion that was put forward by

         20  the Mayor and the Parks Commissioner during the

         21  Republican Convention, that if you want to have a

         22  demonstration in the park with more than 50,000

         23  people, well then you should go to Queens.

         24                 Well, you know, the UN is not in

         25  Queens, Fifth Avenue is not in Queens, Corporate
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          2  America isn't located in Queens, isn't centered in

          3  Queens, or in New Jersey for that matter, and that's

          4  purely unacceptable, from a First Amendment point of

          5  view.

          6                 In addition, putting the Great Lawn

          7  off limits to large demonstrations, forces them into

          8  the streets.

          9                 Now, you may be surprised to hear the

         10  New York Civil Liberties Union saying that, but we

         11  think that as a matter of public safety that stinks.

         12                 If you talk to, as we did, high level

         13  police officials here in New York City, if you can

         14  get them to talk, right? Many of them were very,

         15  very upset that Central Park was put off limits for

         16  demonstrations during the Republican Convention.

         17  Excuse me, that the Great Lawn was put off limits

         18  for demonstrations during the Republican Convention,

         19  because they believed it was easier to police and

         20  safer for everybody involved to have the large

         21  demonstrations in New York -- in on the Great Lawn.

         22                 In addition, when you force the

         23  demonstrations onto the street, it's an incredible

         24  burden, as I'm sure Leslie will testify, on the

         25  organizers, making it perhaps prohibitive not just
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          2  -- we're not talking bonds now, we're talking what

          3  it cost to put up jumbo trons all the way down an

          4  avenue, and indeed when you have 60,000 people at a

          5  demonstration on the street, that takes up a good 20

          6  blocks. That's, you know, a good mile. You don't

          7  have the sense of a demonstration compact together

          8  when you're spread out over that great a distance.

          9                 In addition, these regs pose a

         10  problem because of the six permits that are allowed

         11  during the year, and allowed only when the sun and

         12  the moon are in the proper alignment, and it seems

         13  that the proper alignment has changed from what it

         14  was, you know, a year ago when the Parks Department

         15  was rejecting the application for demonstrations on

         16  the lawn prior to the convention.

         17                 But the policy codifies a favoritism

         18  for City-sponsored events, or City-favored events,

         19  the Metropolitan Opera and the Philharmonic.

         20                 Now, I love the Met, I love the

         21  Philharmonic, I like their music, but as a matter of

         22  First Amendment Law, the City cannot favor one

         23  medium and one message in granting applications for

         24  permits to the park, it has to give everybody a fair

         25  shot at whatever is available.
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          2                 Six is not enough, there should be

          3  more, but everybody has to be treated equally. You

          4  can no sooner prefer the City's favorite entities in

          5  access to the Great Lawn than you can prefer the

          6  City in access to the steps of City Hall for a press

          7  conference. It's just simply unacceptable as a

          8  matter of First Amendment Law.

          9                 The City can regulate access to the

         10  Great Lawn to the rest of the park and to other

         11  parks, but it can't discriminate between speakers

         12  based on whether the City favors the medium or the

         13  message.

         14                 I want to make it clear that the New

         15  York Civil Liberties Union is opposed to these regs,

         16  if the Parks Department doesn't adequately modify

         17  them on its own, after hearing from the people, and

         18  we're glad that we are hearing from the people and

         19  they are having this hearing. We believe that they

         20  are vulnerable to the First Amendment challenge, and

         21  we will file such a challenge.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 MR. FOGEL: Good morning, Madam

         25  Chairwoman, and members of the Council. My name is
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          2  Jeffrey Fogel, and I'm the Legal Director at the

          3  Center for Constitutional Rights, and was one of the

          4  lawyers representing United for Peace and Justice in

          5  its effort in court and with the Police Department

          6  and Parks Department, to obtain the use of the Great

          7  Lawn for its rally last summer in protest to the

          8  Republican Convention.

          9                 I think there are many things to be

         10  said, and only a little bit of time in which to say

         11  them today, and I will hope not to repeat what my

         12  colleagues have said.

         13                 But let me start with the proposition

         14  that while I'm very happy that there are hearings

         15  here today, these hearings should have taken place

         16  ten years ago, because what's happened here is the

         17  Parks Department has come in and said, look, we and

         18  the Conservancy have decided to do this, it's all a

         19  fait accompli, and you just have to accept it.

         20                 The issue about the use of our public

         21  parks is an issue for the public, not an issue to be

         22  decided by the Central Park Conservancy, regardless

         23  of how rich they are.

         24                 The Mayor, as we know, was a major

         25  contributor to the Central Park Conservancy. So his
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          2  activities in the Conservancy have continued when he

          3  became Mayor. He likes a nice lawn for his front

          4  lawn, fine. Let him move somewhere where he can have

          5  his own front lawn privately, but that's our front

          6  lawn and our right to do with it what we want to do

          7  with it and the Parks Department, to its discredit,

          8  failed to raise this issue either with our elected

          9  representatives or the public in general, that they

         10  were going to change the nature of Central Park when

         11  they made what they call these restorations.

         12                 Now, these are not restorations. That

         13  Great Lawn never looked the way it did now, so it

         14  wasn't restored, it was made over. North Meadow,

         15  which is now prohibited from any use other than

         16  passive recreation was not that way before they made

         17  it over. Nor are any of the other locations that

         18  they're seeking to make over traditionally the way

         19  it was made over. So there was a fundamental

         20  alteration in the way the park was going to be

         21  administered and used and a specific decision was

         22  made that they were no longer going to allow the

         23  historic large events which have been associated

         24  with Central Park and in particular the Great Lawn.

         25                 Now, there's been reference here to
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          2  the size of the Great Lawn being 50,000. Well, in

          3  fact, the truth is they remade the Great Lawn, what

          4  is 50,000 size, the oval of the Great Lawn, because

          5  they have altered that landscape.

          6                 The Great Lawn itself is some four

          7  times the size of what's being characterized by the

          8  Parks Department here, in terms of its size, and its

          9  ability to handle crowds as well.

         10                 So, I disagree that 50,000 is an

         11  appropriate number here, but most significantly, in

         12  this respect the Council has to take back for the

         13  people of New York, the right to decide to control

         14  the use of our parks. This cannot be placed in

         15  private hands, even if they have a Parks

         16  Commissioner who is willing to go along with it.

         17                 When these alterations were made in

         18  the park, and I'm going to quote to you an affidavit

         19  submitted to the court last year by Douglas Blansky,

         20  the President of the Central Park Conservancy, and

         21  the Central Park Administrator.

         22                 At that time what they called "active

         23  management plans" were put in place. The goal of the

         24  -- and I quote, "the goal of the management plans

         25  was to provide for continual uninterrupted
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          2  recreational use on which the public could rely. The

          3  ups and downs of devastating large events and

          4  unrestricted use followed by lengthy periods of

          5  closure was to be avoided. Events which had

          6  traditionally taken place on the lawns which

          7  resulted in greater damage than expected were no

          8  longer permitted."

          9                 The Central Park Conservancy, and

         10  their cronies in the Parks Department, never

         11  considered the First Amendment when they considered

         12  what they were doing with the park.

         13                 As long as we're on the subject of

         14  the First Amendment, let me also say there is a

         15  fundamental misunderstanding about the First

         16  Amendment, and I am prepared, and I'm sure my

         17  colleagues at the New York Civil Liberty Union as

         18  well, to give a lecture to the upper management of

         19  the Parks Department, Mr. Davis, their lawyer, is

         20  welcome to come as well, since he also fundamentally

         21  misunderstands the First Amendment.

         22                 The Parks and the Streets of our

         23  country have traditionally been held in trust, in

         24  memorially, in trust to the use of the public to

         25  gather, associate with one another, converse and
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          2  express their opinions.

          3                 I didn't say that, the United States

          4  Supreme Court has said that for a period of 75

          5  continual years.

          6                 The parks and the streets are public

          7  forums. The question is, can the public withdraw a

          8  public forum? Can the Parks Department say, well,

          9  yes, this is a traditional public forum. You have

         10  used it for 100 years as a public forum. We, without

         11  opening this up to public debate, discussion or even

         12  conversation, are going to withdraw this public

         13  forum. You can't do that. We have sought to do that

         14  as well to a certain extent as noted here with Fifth

         15  Avenue as well, these are the two principle

         16  locations where people have protested historically

         17  in our City, going back to protest against slavery

         18  in the 19th Century, against wars, against ravages,

         19  in favor of wars, in a whole variety of context.

         20                 Now we're being told as the citizens

         21  of New York, you're no longer allowed to have that

         22  in Manhattan. Go to Flushing Meadow, go to Corona,

         23  go some place else, but not here, because that's not

         24  what we want here.

         25                 That's a fundamental misunderstanding
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          2  of the First Amendment.

          3                 Mr. Davis says there's equal value to

          4  all activity. No. The First Amendment happens to

          5  stand if you believe that it is a democracy, if you

          6  believe that, the First Amendment happens to stand

          7  in a very high location in a hierarchy of values in

          8  a democracy, and must take precedence over certain

          9  other kinds of activity.

         10                 Yes, of course, it's true that one

         11  may regulate the time, manner and place of

         12  demonstrations, but one cannot withdraw a public

         13  forum from that process, and that's precisely what's

         14  happened here.

         15                 We all know the proud history of the

         16  use of the park for great events. And if you look at

         17  the Parks Department own annual reports, you'll see

         18  how much they tout the great history of the parks,

         19  but that's no longer going to be the history of this

         20  park.

         21                 If you look at the Parks Department's

         22  annual report for the Year 2001, they mentioned

         23  shortly, which was issued shortly after 9/11, right

         24  in the beginning they talk about the fact that the

         25  City of New York and Central Park were both designed
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          2  to foster democracy.

          3                 Well, what kind of fostering of

          4  democracy are we seeing in Central Park when every

          5  particular area that has traditionally been used for

          6  the expression of First Amendment activities is

          7  being withdrawn from the marketplace.

          8                 One of the issues that, of course,

          9  you have to address is whether the problem was the

         10  misuse of the parks for First Amendment activity, or

         11  the failure of the Parks Department to maintain

         12  those parks.

         13                 There is a lot of indication that

         14  this wasn't so much of a problem of the use by great

         15  events, but of the failure of the Parks Department

         16  to have an active maintenance plan in place in order

         17  to maintain those locations.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Fogel, can

         19  you sum up for us?

         20                 MR. FOGEL: All right. I just want to

         21  make one other point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         23                 MR. FOGEL: And I think this is a very

         24  important point. Because we've had people from the

         25  parks telling you about the First Amendment. Well,
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          2  now I want to tell you something about grass.

          3                 Last year we applied for a permit for

          4  a rally on August 29th, in anticipation of

          5  Republican National Convention.

          6                 Allow me to read to you again from

          7  the affidavit submitted, affidavit submitted under

          8  oath by Douglas Blansky to the court.

          9                 "The period for which an event is

         10  scheduled will affect the likelihood of extensive

         11  damage. Lawns are most at risk during the hot dry

         12  days of August and the cold days of December when

         13  the ground is frozen."

         14                 So, what have they said? The only

         15  time you can have the park is during the dry hot

         16  days of August which we swore is the worst time for

         17  the grass. Who is telling you the truth here? You

         18  cannot take the Parks Department and their

         19  supporters at face value. You are going to have to

         20  do an independent investigation of even the claimed

         21  scientific facts which they have presented to you

         22  because they have spoken out of both sides of their

         23  mouth when it has served their interest.

         24                 I urge you to do so. I urge you to

         25  keep the parks open to the people. And I urge you to
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          2  ensure that the Parks Department, like every other

          3  agency of this City government, is responsible to

          4  the people of New York and not to a small group of

          5  rich people who want to see a lawn because they

          6  don't want to move out of Manhattan.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8                 MS. CAGAN: Hi. My name is Leslie

          9  Cagan, and I'm the Coordinator for United for Peace

         10  and Justice. We happen to be the largest anti-war

         11  coalition in the country, and we happen to be the

         12  group who was at the center of the controversy with

         13  the Mayor and the Parks Department last summer.

         14                 Actually, before I get into the

         15  substance of my comments here, which I will be

         16  brief, I can't help but take note of two comments

         17  that Commissioner, Commissioner Benepe made near the

         18  end of his comments. One was that all the rallies

         19  that people wanted to have take place in Central

         20  Park have indeed taken place in Central Park. I

         21  don't know, maybe he had a little short term memory

         22  loss, there was at least one rally on August 29th

         23  last year that was not allowed anywhere in Central

         24  Park. So, I hope he acknowledges that it must have

         25  just been a mistake that he made before.

                                                            105

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 The other comment he made I actually

          3  also want to take task with; and that is, near the

          4  end of his comments, he made some, I don't know how

          5  else to characterize this, but snuffy comments that

          6  people come to the Parks Department claiming that

          7  the world will end if we don't have our rally. I

          8  don't know what he's talking about, why he felt the

          9  need to put it in that way. People like myself, and

         10  many other New Yorkers, feel quite strongly about

         11  the issues that we mobilize on.

         12                 I don't believe any of us have ever

         13  said to the Parks Department, if you don't let us

         14  have our rally, the world is going to come to an

         15  end. That is simply, you know, an undermining really

         16  of what we're all about and why we choose to put

         17  time and effort and energy into organizing these

         18  kinds of activities, and I think that kind of was

         19  totally uncalled for.

         20                 On the content of why we're here

         21  today, I'm not going to repeat what Donna and Jeff

         22  just said, they said it very eloquently, I just want

         23  to make two or three other additional points, or

         24  points that hopefully compliment what they've said.

         25  And first and foremost, to repeat one thing, is that
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          2  we have to be clear about what we think the park is

          3  and what the great lawn is.

          4                 Yes, it is a place for recreation.

          5  Yes, it is a place for sports. Yes, it is a place

          6  for family picnics, yes, it is and I believe should

          7  be a place for cultural activities large and small.

          8  It also is indeed the common, it is the public

          9  square of New York. It becomes more so a public

         10  square given that the Police Department have

         11  virtually banned large activities taking place in

         12  Times Square, the other public square in New York.

         13  And, so, we have to understand that the task, the

         14  mandate, the job that the Parks Department has, and

         15  I really do believe this should be in the hands of

         16  the Parks Department and not in the hands of the

         17  Central Parks Conservancy, their job has to be to

         18  protect that common place, that common square, that

         19  public place for public activity, including public

         20  protest activity.

         21                 You cannot assume that that function

         22  is taken away and that kind of activity can be

         23  limited.

         24                 One other point that I wanted to make

         25  related to this is that one of the things that is
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          2  alarming about the dynamic that is unfolding here in

          3  New York, is that it's not only about limiting the

          4  time or the amount of people or the frequency of

          5  these kinds of activities on the Great Lawn, it's

          6  about limiting them in many other places. Even in

          7  Central Park, were the Heckscher Ballfields to be

          8  opened after their restoration, were the North

          9  Meadow to be opened, were Sheep Meadow to be opened

         10  to these kinds of activities, well, one thing that

         11  would do is ease the pressure that is now on the

         12  Great Lawn. Let us have other places in Central Park

         13  where these large kinds of activities can take

         14  place.

         15                 It eases pressure. It eases the

         16  potential damage or reduces potential damage to one

         17  particular location, if there are more areas that

         18  are open and available.

         19                 So, I think that when we look at

         20  these regulations, we see them through the lens of

         21  the Great Lawn, but really we have to look at what's

         22  happening on a much larger scale throughout Central

         23  Park, and I'm nervous about the other parks in the

         24  City as well.

         25                 I also, you know, again, I'm not
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          2  going to repeat the issues, size and date, those are

          3  all very, very important, but I do want to repeat --

          4  or I do want to raise one other issue here; and that

          5  is, it seems to me a lot of what is really, or one

          6  of the core concerns here is money, right? Where is

          7  the money coming from to protect the park, to do the

          8  renovations, to do the restorations, to maintain it?

          9  That obviously is a very reasonable question. I said

         10  when I introduced myself, the work I do is

         11  coordinator of a national anti-war movement. I would

         12  ask the City Council, the Mayor, and the Parks

         13  Commissioner, and other agencies in this City that

         14  are suffering due to lack of funds, to think about

         15  what is going on in Iraq. Three-hundred billion

         16  dollars into a war that never should have happened.

         17  Imagine some of that money coming back into our

         18  cities, right? Imagine parks getting from public

         19  treasury the money it really needs to do the work it

         20  needs to do.

         21                 I don't think any of us who use the

         22  park for recreational purpose or protest activities

         23  wants park undermined. We don't  want to see it to

         24  devolve into a dustbowl. We do want it maintained.

         25  But the question is, how do you do that maintenance?
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          2  Where does the money come from? How do you fight for

          3  the priority needs that must be met? And how do you

          4  balance those needs against the very real mandate

          5  that the Parks Department, and I dare say, as a

          6  Council, really has that as the mandate to protect

          7  and defend everyone's constitutional rights,

          8  including the right to gather in large numbers.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         11                 Quickly, let me just ask Mr. Fogel,

         12  what do you think is the, in your opinion, the

         13  rationale behind this proposed rule change?

         14                 MR. FOGEL: Well, I think the

         15  Commissioner was candid in the respect that it was

         16  probably prompted by the court case last year. The

         17  fact is that this has been what they refer to as an

         18  act of management plans since the restoration was,

         19  since the process of the restoration of the Great

         20  Lawn in 1995.

         21                 Now, it was never revealed in

         22  anything in the Parks Department that there were any

         23  such limitations. We only found out in the course of

         24  both negotiating and litigating this case, that they

         25  have this plan.
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          2                 Now, one of the things, again, about

          3  the First Amendment, about which I do have some

          4  expertise, this gray hair didn't come from nowhere,

          5  is that in the area of regulating First Amendment

          6  conduct, you must have precise regulations which do

          7  not allow an administrator the kind of discretion

          8  which would allow that administrator to pick and

          9  choose among different kinds of activities.

         10                 That is, a Commissioner should be

         11  able to choose cultural activities over political

         12  activities, that is a content discrimination, just

         13  as much as allowing somebody with one point of view

         14  and not another point of view.

         15                 So, what we're moving towards is,

         16  cultural activities are okay in the parks, only

         17  cultural activities are taking place on Fifth

         18  Avenue, no political activities will take place.

         19  That's a conscious decision that's made by somebody.

         20                 So, in the context of that, of course

         21  we did complain about the absence of any regulation

         22  since that is one of the touchstones of the First

         23  Amendment. Now, almost a year later they've actually

         24  promulgated that which has been in place for ten

         25  years. I don't even know why it took them so long.
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          2  I'm glad they did because they have to. They

          3  shouldn't be praised for it, they should actually be

          4  condemned for not having done it ten years ago. But

          5  we're at the table now. The fact that they did it is

          6  what in part prompted this hearing, and is going to

          7  prompt more hearings from other groups and other

          8  activity from the people.

          9                 But they are required to have

         10  regulations both by general, you know, the law, as a

         11  general proposition, and certainly in the First

         12  Amendment area they have to have precise

         13  regulations.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I

         15  think what was very appropriate, and what you said,

         16  Ms. Lieberman, is the notion of being in Manhattan

         17  as opposed to Queens. That Central Park, you know,

         18  when I have friends who want to come visit me in New

         19  York, yes they come to the Bronx because that's

         20  where I live but they want to see Manhattan, and

         21  there's some significance about holding a march up

         22  Fifth Avenue, as opposed to a March up the Grand

         23  Concourse. It's different. So, I appreciate that

         24  comment. We have a few questions. Council Member

         25  Gerson and then Council Member Reed, and I just want
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          2  to remind you time constraints, because I believe

          3  there is another hearing after this.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So reminded,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 Just Mr. Fogel, or any of you, one

          7  question since you all brought up this issue of

          8  conservancies. Can you think of any rules,

          9  regulations, conditions, constraints, et cetera,

         10  which we should impose on the operation or

         11  functioning of these conservancies, in order to

         12  allow them to continue their important fundraising

         13  activities, without allowing that fundraising to

         14  carry over to improper influence on governance or

         15  policy decisions over our parks. Can you do that off

         16  the top of your --

         17                 MS. LIEBERMAN: One key issue is

         18  transparency, and the other one is control. There is

         19  no way --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Transparencies

         21  to who makes --

         22                 MS. LIEBERMAN: As to what the

         23  decisions that are being made and why they are being

         24  made. But control is the key. The City cannot

         25  delegate responsibility for making policy decisions
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          2  for a private entity, and it can't do that and get

          3  off the hook of respecting the First Amendment. So,

          4  the City has to maintain responsibility in the hands

          5  of City employees, and it has to follow the

          6  processes set forth. We've been operating for ten

          7  years under a secret regime in the parks. That's

          8  entirely unacceptable. That's not transparent.

          9                 MR. FOGEL: I think, frankly, it's

         10  inappropriate for the conservancy to be running

         11  Central Park.

         12                 They have raised the money, and I

         13  think it's important that they do raise the money.

         14                 I have friends who have been

         15  volunteers with the Conservancy. I think that's an

         16  important function, too. But once you allow a

         17  private group, who is going to raise the money for a

         18  particular purpose, to then be the administrator of

         19  the park, they are going to administer the park

         20  consistent with what their purposes are, not what

         21  the public purpose is. And once you have that close

         22  connection between the Conservancy and the President

         23  of the Conservancy being this Chief Administrator,

         24  you're going to lose that differentiation. You're

         25  going to have undue influence in the running of the
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          2  park. The Commissioner has many other things on his

          3  mind that he has to deal with, and he's going to

          4  accept what the Chief Administrator said.

          5                 So, I think those two functions

          6  should be separated.

          7                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Right. And this is not

          8  unique to Central Park. I mean, we see privatization

          9  all over. You know, efforts of privatization all

         10  over, whether it's in education or the prisons, et

         11  cetera. The Government can't abdicate its

         12  responsibilities, the responsibility to provide

         13  services, nor its obligation to respect the

         14  Constitution of people's rights when it does so, by

         15  delegating those responsibilities to private

         16  entities. That happens in the prisons, it happens

         17  with regard to social services. You can't impose

         18  religious mandates on social services by having the

         19  Salvation Army do it, which is what is happening as

         20  well.

         21                 So, this is not an issue that is

         22  limited to Sunset Park.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's Mr.

         24  Chair, just to comment, I think the point was made

         25  that a City as great and diverse as New York should
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          2  have spaces for gathering the kind which Council

          3  Member James recalls fondly, probably one in each

          4  borough. And, so, if the Administration is removing

          5  the Great Lawn or other parts of Central Park from

          6  those types of events, we should ask the

          7  Administration to come up with alternative places

          8  for events for which the elongated nature of a

          9  street is not appropriate. And I think we need to

         10  pursue that. And in Manhattan, the answer should

         11  not, by the way, be the West Side Stadium. That's

         12  for a different hearing. Another issue.

         13                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:

         15  Obviously, there are venues, many venues throughout

         16  the boroughs that may be appropriate, and that's

         17  something that this Committee and the Administration

         18  can speak of.

         19                 Council Member Reed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         21  Council Member.

         22                 I'm sorry that I wasn't able to hear

         23  all the testimony, but I've tried to read through it

         24  and concur with a lot of it, and you have to find

         25  some of this humorous, but I appreciate the pointing
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          2  out of the inconsistencies, either August is or

          3  ain't.

          4                 Would it be acceptable if the

          5  Administration said, the City said, and I think the

          6  point you made about the Conservancy is something

          7  that I was alluding to in my comments, that you

          8  can't give this over to a semi-private organization

          9  to make these decisions. But if the Administration

         10  said, okay, you can't have the Great Lawn, but we

         11  could give you Times Square; is that acceptable?

         12                 MS. CAGAN: Right. I don't think that,

         13  first of all, I don't think that you can do this in

         14  a kind of abstract way. Each activity needs to be

         15  looked at. There's a reason why organizers come up

         16  with plans. We don't just wake up in the morning and

         17  say, oh, let's go to the Great Lawn. I mean, there's

         18  usually a good reason. You can, you know, you can

         19  argue against it. You know, to just say there's

         20  going to be a blanket rule, instead of this location

         21  we'll always have that location. It may or may not

         22  work. Actually, for August 29th, we put Times Square

         23  on the table, we said, okay, we can't go to the

         24  Great Lawn, what about Times Square.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Did you get

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Times Square?

          3                 MS. CAGAN: No. No.

          4                 Every proposal we made for where to

          5  have a rally was out and out rejected.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think maybe

          7  that's what I'm trying to get back on the record.

          8  The reasonable alternatives were rejected. So, the

          9  emphasis back on the park, I think from my

         10  observation, was exacerbated by the fact that if

         11  we're talking about a universe about what's global,

         12  people know Central Park, they know Times Square. If

         13  there's a rational argument about the blades of

         14  grass, et cetera, et cetera, then you say, okay,

         15  here is the other global site that everybody knows,

         16  Times Square.

         17                 MS. CAGAN: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But that was

         19  also not allowed.

         20                 MS. CAGAN: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And so

         22  ultimately where were you -- what were you given?

         23                 MS. CAGAN: Ultimately, we made a

         24  decision not to take what the City was giving us,

         25  which was the West Side Highway.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Right, the West

          3  Side Highway.

          4                 MS. CAGAN: Right. So, we did not have

          5  a rally, right? There was no rally, which was not

          6  what we had planned. We planned a march and a rally.

          7  We actually believe that the combination of

          8  decisions made by the Police and the Parks

          9  Department force us into a situation where we were

         10  denied our right to rally.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Do you think,

         12  any of you, that there should be some limit on the

         13  number of people allowed on the Great Lawn?

         14                 MS. CAGAN: Well, I think obviously --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Having come up

         16  with some definition of what the Great Lawn is and

         17  all of that?

         18                 MS. CAGAN: There's a limit to how

         19  many people can fit in here in this room, right? Any

         20  space that you define is going to have limits of how

         21  many people can go into it. There are a range of

         22  ideas and calculations that I've seen that come to

         23  different conclusions about how many people actually

         24  fit on the Great Lawn.

         25                 But, again, even last summer, where
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          2  we said, okay, we will limit the number of people

          3  going on the Great Lawn and then have a plan for

          4  anybody else who can't fit on the Great Lawn to go

          5  some place else, we all said the North Meadow, that

          6  wasn't accepted --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: My question is

          8  --

          9                 MS. CAGAN: So, yes, you can set

         10  limits. The question is who is determining what

         11  those limits are, and what are they based on?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think

         13  ultimately the Council is looking at that might be

         14  where that decision is made. We get into this with

         15  the Administration from time to time, they

         16  promulgate rules that we're having that in Consumer

         17  Affairs, we have it in Transportation, every agency

         18  promulgates rules I think they think are genuinely

         19  in the best interest, but they run afoul of

         20  something and the Council reexamines it and then

         21  reestablish it legislatively.

         22                 But you would agree at some point

         23  that you could say this is the number in a space

         24  that is safe and understandable about why we have to

         25  say no more than whatever that number is.
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          2                 MS. CAGAN: And even in that would

          3  determine how you would use the space, right? How

          4  much of that space was going to be used for stage,

          5  right? Were people going to put down button kits and

          6  spread out, you know. So, even within that, yes. How

          7  you use the space --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: What about the

          9  number --

         10                 MS. CAGAN: And, yes, reasonable

         11  people I think can sit down and determine numbers

         12  that make sense.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And what about

         14  the number of events?

         15                 MS. CAGAN: I think that has to be

         16  open.

         17                 Again, if you open up the other

         18  places in the park, right? Then you have the

         19  possibility of many more events, right? Without

         20  putting all that pressure on just one location.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Either of you

         22  other two have an opinion on this?

         23                 MS. CAGAN: Obviously certain times of

         24  the year, you know, in the dead of winter, people

         25  are not going to organize outdoor events that often.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I don't know,

          3  I'm remember marching down First Avenue in February

          4  --

          5                 MS. CAGAN: Unless there is a crisis

          6  situation in the world.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That was the

          8  coldest day I think of that year, too.

          9                 MS. CAGAN: Exactly. And again we were

         10  denied access to the Great Lawn and to Central Park.

         11                 So, you know, there is a certain

         12  amount of common sense, and then there also is the

         13  need to --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So my question

         15  is, because the Chair is mindful that we have some

         16  real limits on our own time today --

         17                 MS. CAGAN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: -- Is it

         19  acceptable from this panel that there be a number

         20  placed on how many events could happen in a specific

         21  site?

         22                 MS. LIEBERMAN: The current

         23  regulations provide for six events a year, four of

         24  which are taken, two of which could be 25-person

         25  events. Okay, there is no acceptable limit on the
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          2  number of 25-person events you can have.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I understand

          4  that.

          5                 MS. LIEBERMAN: So, you have to look

          6  at both the size of the events, and the type of the

          7  events. It's hard to come up with a number that

          8  works. You know, if it's large enough --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Would you agree

         10  that reasonable people might be able to come up with

         11  a number that works?

         12                 MS. LIEBERMAN: If you give it the

         13  attention to the detail, in terms of the types and

         14  the size and the impact that they have, it might be,

         15  but it's not going to be six and it's not going to

         16  be 12. It has to be, you know, much more --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Do you think

         18  it's going to be more than 12?

         19                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Who knows what it's

         20  going to be, because you're talking about, there

         21  ought to be 366, you know, permissible 25-person

         22  events on the Great Lawn every year. You know,

         23  that's a reasonable number in my book. But I think

         24  if you're talking about the number of huge events,

         25  75,000- or 100,000-person events, you know, it's
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          2  conceivable that you can put a lid on that. But if

          3  you're talking about run of the mill --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, nobody is

          5  sitting here spending time talking about run of the

          6  mill. So, you know --

          7                 MS. LIEBERMAN: We are talking about

          8  run of the mill, because that's what the regs do.

          9  These regs put a cap on run of the mill being

         10  defined as 25-person events.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But at some

         12  point you're asking us, the Council, to examine this

         13  policy, and I think the next step reasonably is to

         14  ask us to legislate something that opens this up and

         15  takes it away from the Parks Department.

         16                 So, I'm trying to understand from

         17  your point of view, the three of you up there may

         18  not have the same point of view, but reasonably

         19  you're here representing First Amendment issues; is

         20  there some reasonable number that you ever agreed

         21  to, recognizing the number of the people that are

         22  venue and the size of the venues. But if we're going

         23  to be doing this, at some point do you think there's

         24  a number that we could come up to agree upon?

         25                 MS. LIEBERMAN: I wouldn't rule it
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          2  out.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, thank you.

          4                 Ms. Cagan, your head is going like

          5  this.

          6                 MS. CAGAN: Slightly differently, I

          7  would not want to put down on paper as the rules and

          8  regulations any certain number. I think that you

          9  should have people in charge of hands-on, you know,

         10  running of the park, who have power to say, this

         11  year we can't do anymore --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You have that

         13  now. You just objected to it for the last two and a

         14  half hours. You've been objecting to that.

         15                 MS. CAGAN: No, no, no, no. I'm not

         16  objecting to having hands-on people who have the

         17  information who know what's happening in the park. I

         18  am objecting to the people who raise the money, that

         19  is the Conservancy be setting those policies. I

         20  think that's a tremendous difference.

         21                 I also think the hands-on people need

         22  to have the oversight of our elected officials of a

         23  Committee like this. That's their job, is to give

         24  oversight to the Parks Department.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay. So, is
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          2  there a point of view?

          3                 MS. CAGAN: So, I would not want to

          4  have a specific number in rules and regulations.

          5                 MR. FOGEL: Council Member Reed, just

          6  very quickly, and you remind me of judges I've been

          7  before who are forcing an answer out of a lawyer.

          8  What might be important here --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It's a

         10  reasonable thing to try to get an answer out of a

         11  lawyer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Councilman

         13  Reed is a very good judge.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: They may not

         15  give one, but go ahead.

         16                 MR. FOGEL: I have a suggestion. What

         17  might be important for this Council to do is to

         18  appoint a First Amendment ombudsman to be there in

         19  the Parks Department to be sure the First Amendment

         20  rights are respected, because the Parks Department

         21  may have other interests that it's concerned with,

         22  and it will not consider that in the fore.

         23                 If we, as members, of the public felt

         24  there was somebody there on our behalf, appointed by

         25  the Council whose primary interest was that of free
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          2  speech, I think we would be much more confident in

          3  the process, whether you set a limit in numbers,

          4  precisely, or whether you followed Leslie's

          5  suggestion, which I think is probably a better one,

          6  if you have somebody there that believes in the

          7  First Amendment, these things, you can give some

          8  discretion, as long as you know you've got somebody

          9  in there fighting for the rights of the people.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Madam

         11  Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         13  James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I was going to

         15  follow the questions of Councilman Reed, but enough

         16  has been said about that. I'm going to go to the

         17  issue of content discrimination, and what I think is

         18  perhaps a violation of First Amendment Right, as

         19  well as the Equal Protection Clause, the fact that

         20  four of these events are going to be set aside for

         21  the Opera and the Symphony, which is fine, but I

         22  believe it should be open, and we should not cater

         23  to specific arts groups or other cultural groups.

         24  And so I believe that that runs afoul over the

         25  Constitution, and I believe the Administration is
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          2  going to be in trouble on that particular issue. But

          3  I do believe that the Administration does have a

          4  right to impose reasonable regulations, but

          5  obviously this panel would like for something less

          6  restrictive, I recognize that.

          7                 But when I look at the cultural

          8  groups that they selected, in my mind what they have

          9  in common is the fact that they're passive

         10  recreational activities.

         11                 I think that the Administration was

         12  trying to get the passive recreational activities as

         13  opposed to active recreational activities, or

         14  activities which would have an adverse impact on the

         15  Lawn?

         16                 MS. LIEBERMAN: I think this is a

         17  matter of -- it reflects the -- a certain strand of

         18  the City's culture. I don't think it's about

         19  preferring culture to politics just. I think it's

         20  about preferring a certain brand of culture, and

         21  certainly not multi-cultural activities in the park,

         22  that I think is another problem.

         23                 I couldn't characterize it as active

         24  or passive, but I think that the absence of

         25  multiculturalism is another problem that we all have
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          2  to be concerned about.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I believe you

          4  could probably come to the conclusion that it's

          5  maximum elitism, yes? Okay.

          6                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Elitism and a certain

          7  racial bias.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Well, I'm not

          9  going there.

         10                 MS. LIEBERMAN: It's de facto. You

         11  know, it's not Diana Ross, it's not Hip Hop. It's a

         12  cultural institution that is not the most popular

         13  cultural institution in the communities of color.

         14                 Now, that's not intentional. You

         15  know, the Metropolitan Opera is not a racist

         16  institution. Of course not. But the impact, you

         17  know, is not just on the Lawn. It's on who can use

         18  the Lawn for cultural activities, and we have to

         19  bear that in mind.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me just say

         21  this: My position is that we should not play the

         22  race card, but in fact the park should be open to as

         23  many New Yorkers as possible, be they black or

         24  white. So for me this is really not a race issue,

         25  but a constitutional issue, and in ensuring that the
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          2  parks are open and that they're open to all cultural

          3  groups of all stripes and colors. So, but I thank

          4  you for your comments.

          5                 MS. CAGAN: I just want to add to

          6  that.

          7                 I think it's wonderful, actually,

          8  that the Opera and the Philharmonic are in the

          9  parks, and that allows people who could not

         10  otherwise afford to go buy the tickets during the

         11  year to hear those cultural activities. The problem

         12  is, again, limiting those. Yes, they should be

         13  there, but other cultural activities should be

         14  there, other political activities, a full range of

         15  activities. That's why I don't think we can set a

         16  number on it, and that's why I think we can't just

         17  look at the Great Lawn, you have to look at all the

         18  spaces that are available.

         19                 The more spaces that are available,

         20  the easier it's going to be to accommodate both

         21  maintaining the park and affording people their

         22  opportunities to use the park in the various ways

         23  they want to.

         24                 MS. LIEBERMAN: I just want to add one

         25  thing, because, you know, I didn't intend to play
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          2  the race card in this. I just want, I think it's

          3  important that we understand the implications of

          4  what our policies are, and it's about making the

          5  park open to everybody, regardless of their

          6  persuasion, regardless of their culture, and not

          7  limiting it to a certain cultural elite that happens

          8  to be preferred at this moment in history, or for

          9  four generations.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let the

         11  regulations be content neutral.

         12                 MS. LIEBERMAN: Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 The next panel will consist of

         16  Commissioners Henry Stern, and Gordon Davis, even

         17  though I believe Mr. Davis left. Dr. Martin Petrovic

         18  and Dr. James Baird.

         19                 We can start with Commissioner Stern,

         20  and then I just want everyone -- we have 37 more

         21  people signed up to testify, so with that in mind,

         22  Commissioner Stern.

         23                 COMMISSIONER STERN: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 My name is Henry Stern, and I had the
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          2  privilege of serving as a Parks Commissioner for 15

          3  years during the Administrations of Mayor Koch and

          4  Mayor Giuliani, and before that I had the challenge

          5  and delight of serving from nine years as a member

          6  of this body, the New York City Council, where I was

          7  a member of the Committee on Parks and Recreation.

          8  So, this is a lifelong interest.

          9                 There are a number of things which

         10  have been said, which are just erroneous, and maybe

         11  I should start by just pointing them out and without

         12  going in detail.

         13                 The Central Park Conservancy does not

         14  rule or run the park. The Parks Commissioner does.

         15  When I was Parks Commissioner, I made every single

         16  decision of importance dealing with Central Park,

         17  what events would be had, what wouldn't be done, and

         18  the Conservancy never sought to interfere with that.

         19  The questions of concessions, what concessions

         20  should be allowed, what the revenue should be. They

         21  were all decided by the Commissioner, and I'm sure

         22  the same thing is true with Commissioner Benepe.

         23                 So, I don't know if it's a red

         24  herring or a white elephant or a blue streak or a

         25  green haze, but, no, it's not the Conservancy. They
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          2  do provide the money, very helpful, no strings.

          3                 Now, with regard to this issue, the

          4  issue is whether the Great Lawn, a lawn which has

          5  been constructed at the cost of $18 million should

          6  be a public forum for hundreds of thousands of

          7  people. And the problem is not the question of

          8  policy or what you like, the First Amendment, the

          9  problem is grass. And grass is a living thing and

         10  grass dies if it is trampled.

         11                 Now, with baseball fields, we had a

         12  lot of baseball fields which were natural grass, and

         13  they could stay because when you play baseball, you

         14  just stand around the outfield, you don't kill the

         15  grass. But then the game of soccer became popular

         16  and people, kids started playing soccer. When you

         17  play soccer, you run up and down the field, ten

         18  people all the time, against ten other kids. You

         19  can't play soccer and expect the grass to last more

         20  than a couple of weeks. It's not that we prefer

         21  baseball to soccer, it's just that soccer kills

         22  grass and baseball doesn't. So you have to make your

         23  rules in parks on the basis of nature, and nature's

         24  imperatives, not human beings preference.

         25                 Now, I agree that this just started
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          2  in 1995, and I remember the last two big events, the

          3  opening of the Disney movie Pocohantas on June 10th,

          4  1995, just about ten years ago. We allowed it. We

          5  got about a million dollars for it from Disney. It

          6  was the first million dollar event in Central Park,

          7  that all went to help maintain the park.

          8                 And it was bad because the Great Lawn

          9  was a wreck anyway, and it didn't matter what you

         10  did to it. We'd never allow it again.

         11                 And the visit of Pope John on October

         12  7th, John Paul on October 7, which was the very last

         13  event, that was like the opera, it wasn't too good,

         14  it wasn't too bad, but, again, we had great pause in

         15  considering a similar event, because you had to

         16  plant thousands of chairs on the lawn for that

         17  event.

         18                 Now, the First Amendment, which we

         19  all revere is wonderful, but it doesn't mean you can

         20  say anything any time any place. You have to be

         21  reasonable. You can't exercise First Amendment

         22  Rights when it comes to destroying the place in

         23  which you're exercising them.

         24                 Now, here's another thing about this

         25  one group. I happen to disagree with parks in the
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          2  formulation of six events, four of which are the

          3  Opera.

          4                 I don't think the Opera is in

          5  competition with the other events. I think you had

          6  before the Opera and the Met, because you had them

          7  for 40 years, because they don't damage the lawn,

          8  and because they give hundreds of thousands of

          9  people a chance to see the Opera and free concerts

         10  who would not had that chance otherwise. So, I think

         11  these events are independently justified, and

         12  they're privately financed, which helps the City.

         13                 Now, if you say they're four out of

         14  six, then you have the problem of what other two do

         15  you allow. See, the problem with allowing political

         16  events, and I don't think there should be any

         17  political events in the park, not one or two, is

         18  that you can't pick and choose between events.

         19                 The First Amendment does not say you

         20  can have political events on the Great Lawn, but it

         21  does say that if you have political events on the

         22  Great Lawn, you can't pick and choose who you're

         23  going to allow to do it, which is perfectly

         24  reasonable and proper.

         25                 And that's why I think if parks were
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          2  forced into position where they could only have one

          3  or two, and they would have to exclude other people

          4  on the ground that we've given it out, it would be

          5  thrown out by the courts, and properly so.

          6                 So, I think the only clear and

          7  consistent standard is no political events, unless

          8  there are such unusual circumstances that this

          9  general public demand and a claim and it reflects a

         10  purpose that all the City wants to do, like mourning

         11  John Lennon.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Diana Ross.

         13                 COMMISSIONER STERN: Diana Ross is

         14  alive and well.

         15                 Okay, let me just recall Diana,

         16  because it was mentioned, it was July 21st and July

         17  22nd, 1983, dates which are seared into my memory,

         18  and the first night rain and a lightning struck, and

         19  people started to run, and as a new Commissioner, I

         20  said there's panic here, people can be trampled,

         21  lightning can strike the big metal thing, I said

         22  when that happens, there's a tragedy, I'll be called

         23  to testify, people will say where were you at the

         24  time this happened. So, I better stand right here

         25  near the stage, I can't do anything to stop the
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          2  lightning but at least I can answer the questions.

          3  So, that was 22 years ago from today.

          4                 But it illustrates some of the

          5  problems you have, because Diana Ross, who acted

          6  beautifully -- you don't want to hear Diana.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right. If we

          8  could just get back on --

          9                 COMMISSIONER STERN: On the hearing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Forget Council

         11  Member James pulling you off. If we can just, again,

         12  we have 37 witnesses left.

         13                 COMMISSIONER STERN: Okay. It was just

         14  such a momentous day.

         15                 Now, our bias is not against a high

         16  culture, low culture, if Brittany Spears and her new

         17  husband wanted to entertain on the Great Lawn, our

         18  reaction would be the same, bad for the grass,

         19  nothing to do with the content.

         20                 Now, the other thing, if it's wet,

         21  you postpone. We don't have operas or concerts in

         22  the rain, but you have a political gathering, the

         23  night of the Republican Convention hundreds of

         24  thousands of people come, you can't say it's rain.

         25                 Basically, the City has built other
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          2  public spaces, people should demonstrate in large

          3  numbers all they want. They should do it on

          4  pavement, hard surfaces, or on a lawn like Flushing

          5  Meadows once a year. There's sort of an odd

          6  juxtaposition here between the people who are

          7  saying, we can't, we have to have it in Manhattan,

          8  because Manhattan is the center of the world, and on

          9  the other hand, the West Side Stadium should be

         10  built out in Queens. There is a certain

         11  inconsistency in that. But have it on hard (sic),

         12  that's why they built Homoschult Park at 47th Street

         13  and Second Avenue, across from the UN, the common

         14  sense solution to this is to allow rallies, to

         15  encourage political rallies, but not on these nine

         16  acres.

         17                 New York City has 365 square miles in

         18  the City, it's the second only to Los Angeles, which

         19  has 450, and Miami has merged with Dade County so

         20  you don't count that. But it's a very big City, and

         21  you should find places in the City which become know

         22  as union square park-wise, 50, 75 years ago.

         23                 But you don't destroy something that

         24  cost $18 million to build, you cannot have -- to

         25  conclude, you cannot have one rally without allowing
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          2  others, so the idea that there should be four of

          3  this and two of that is not going to stand up before

          4  the courts.

          5                 A brief additional note. It's so

          6  interesting that Gordon Davis was here for two and a

          7  half hours, he had to leave because he's in a

          8  private law firm and every hour costs him hundreds

          9  of dollars just to be here, I'm different, I work

         10  for free. But the four Parks Commissioners for the

         11  last, everyone for the last 28 years was here,

         12  because parks is a lifetime involvement, and the

         13  people care about it, and we all come when there's a

         14  parks' issue. Just as Adrian will come, I trust,

         15  after he is no longer Commissioner, five years

         16  maybe, maybe nine.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Commissioner, can

         18  you wrap it up, please?

         19                 COMMISSIONER STERN: I'm wrapping it

         20  up. I told you about the Pope, the Lawn, the

         21  destruction, the politics -- oh, the dustbowl. You

         22  should have seen the dustbowl, what it used to be.

         23  It was like the Oakies in Oklahoma, the Grapes of

         24  Wrath, it swirled up whenever a stand storm. Not

         25  quite like Iraq, because Iraq has been mentioned

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  here today. Well, there were sand storms, not like

          3  Iraq but pretty close to it, and we don't have it

          4  anymore, thanks to the wonderful grass, attached to

          5  other grass.

          6                 Thank you. Why don't we leave the

          7  grass to the experts. I'm not an expert.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right.

          9                 COMMISSIONER STERN: I'm just saying,

         10  public interest, save the lawn, have your speeches

         11  elsewhere, okay?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 And, so, I guess you would say, if

         14  the Jets Stadium does get built on the West Side,

         15  then we can hold our political rallies there?

         16                 COMMISSIONER STERN: Well, I think if

         17  that happens, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. Thank you.

         19                 COMMISSIONER STERN: You can hold them

         20  anywhere. Right. But you see the relationship.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Dr. Petrovic, and

         22  then Dr. Baird.

         23                 DR. PETROVIC: Okay. A. Martin

         24  Petrovic. Currently a Professor of Turf Grass

         25  Science at Cornell University. I've been on the
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          2  staff there for 26 years, and as a person who works

          3  with grass, this is unbelievable. I wish my students

          4  had as much interest today when we're talking about

          5  grass, so, I welcome the Chairperson and Council

          6  members.

          7                 I'd like to tell a little bit of

          8  history of my involvement with the Great Lawn. I was

          9  on the original consulting team that designed,

         10  determined the grasses that were going to be used,

         11  the design of the soils that were going to be used,

         12  and why that's important, the Central Park

         13  Conservancy and the Parks Commission said this is

         14  the use that we're anticipating for the Great Lawn.

         15  We're anticipating about 5,000 softball games a year

         16  upon the eight fields that are currently in the

         17  Great Lawn area, and several concerts, such as the

         18  Met and the Philharmonic. With that in mind, we

         19  designed and determined soils that would meet that.

         20  The site has about 90 percent sand. But if we were

         21  anticipating 100, 200, 300,000 people, we may have

         22  designed a different soil mix to handle that,

         23  because there are two issues: One, are you going to

         24  kill the grass? And, two, are you going to destroy

         25  the soil.

                                                            141

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 And so we used that criteria design,

          3  the soils were going to be put in place, as well as

          4  the grasses were picked to take that type of

          5  traffic.

          6                 The other aspect I think of the oval

          7  part that people need to realize, that only a

          8  portion that actually was amended was sand to

          9  withhold the traffic. And against near the trees on

         10  the border were the existing soils. I'm not a tree

         11  person, but my colleagues at Cornell are heavily

         12  involved and actually in part in the City and

         13  Capatchin and Soils (phonetic) is a major problem on

         14  destroying trees in urban areas. So, if you would

         15  allow people to congregate in those outer areas and

         16  compact those soils that really aren't designed for

         17  it, it could be long-term ramifications of those

         18  trees. And I think anybody who knows the Great Lawn,

         19  if those trees were damaged and had to be removed,

         20  that would have a major impact.

         21                 The other aspect of looking at the

         22  use of the Great Lawn, and why I support the

         23  proposed limitations and use of it, is we can use

         24  the examples of what we've seen so far. It has held

         25  out very well with the kind of passive version of
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          2  recreation of softball, soccer, picnicing and

          3  whatever the Met and Philharmonic version of

          4  compassion, but when that got increased, as we saw

          5  with the Dave Matthews concert, and as I have gone

          6  to political rallies, seen the kind of traffic and

          7  damage turf gets from traffic, either political

          8  rallies and/or concerts, I've been to both versions

          9  of those, that we can see the kind of damage that we

         10  saw work, the traffic was concentrated during the

         11  Dave Matthews concert. The two north fields, which

         12  were sand modified, had to be resodded, took those

         13  areas out for that fall use, and were again allowed

         14  to be used the following spring, and actually, part

         15  of the oval had also to be resodded and was taken

         16  out of use the fall, after the Dave Matthews

         17  concert.

         18                 If we look at why I feel six events

         19  or somewhere in that category fit well, is the

         20  distribution of those events. We see currently there

         21  are two in June, two in July, and the other two

         22  would be slated for either late August or early

         23  September. If we look at what the major use, if we

         24  say the past recreational use that occurs from April

         25  til Labor Day, and therefore this late August early
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          2  September time period is kind of the end of where

          3  the major use of the fields are currently seen. And

          4  if damage occurs, there is enough time in the fall

          5  to have those again ready for the next year's use,

          6  and they are closed in November through April.

          7                 So that timing, even though, yes, it

          8  was pointed out that the time of late August may

          9  cause damage, it's the degree of the amount of

         10  traffic that you're going to have, and the time for

         11  it to be taken on a play, and be renovated I think

         12  is important.

         13                 A rally in May at this time of the

         14  year that did damage, you'd lose those fields for

         15  the entire year. So, I think it's important to

         16  realize that, yeah, you can increase the number of

         17  these larger events, but allowing them toward the

         18  end of the use period, and a period where grasses

         19  can be renovated, which is usually September, if

         20  they're going to be seeded and up til November if

         21  it's going to be sodded, we enter that period. So I

         22  think that's an important point of looking at why

         23  you can use those later periods in the late summer

         24  and early fall to use the additional events and to

         25  recover from that.
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          2                 So, I support the ability to look at

          3  the number of events, based on the experience we've

          4  seen from the Great Lawn over the eight years that

          5  it's been since renovation, of the size of the

          6  events, some were near 50,000, because we did see at

          7  80,000 pretty substantial damage to the grass, to

          8  the point that it wouldn't recover on its own, that

          9  it had to be resodded and/or reseeded. And if there

         10  is a rain cancellation in progress. We know even

         11  with sandy soils, that the amount of damage it's

         12  going to receive is certainly a lot greater when

         13  that area is wet and recovery from that may take

         14  longer because there may be more soil preparation

         15  and renovation of the soil, not just reseeding or

         16  sodding those areas.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 DR. BAIRD: Good afternoon, Madam

         19  Chair, and distinguished members of the Council. My

         20  name is Jim Baird. My professional title is

         21  Agronomist in the Northeast Region of the United

         22  States Golf Association, green section, and to

         23  translate that into English, I help golf courses

         24  grow better turf for the good of the game, and for

         25  the good of the environment.
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          2                 I'm here today on behalf of the turf

          3  to convey my support of the proposed regulations of

          4  the Great Lawn and other associated turf areas in

          5  Central Park, as drafted by the Department of Parks

          6  and Recreation and Central Park Conservancy.

          7                 In the interest of time, I'm going to

          8  skip through the rest of my introduction, and just

          9  get down to the nitty gritty.

         10                 One of the major factors limiting

         11  turf health on golf courses, athletic fields, and

         12  especially on high recreational use areas, like the

         13  Great Lawn, and other areas of Central Park, is

         14  excessive or concentrated traffic, whether that be

         15  by vehicles or by foot.

         16                 In general, most traffic problems are

         17  caused by soil compaction, and/or wear. Soil

         18  compaction is the pressing together of soil

         19  particles, resulting in greater density and less

         20  pore space for root uptake of oxygen and water.

         21                 Wear is the physical injury to the

         22  turfgrass plant, several factors can influence the

         23  turf's ability to tolerate traffic, including soil

         24  type, the particular type of species or cultivar,

         25  growing environment, such as sunlight, air movement,
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          2  et cetera, weather, cultural practices, including

          3  irrigation fertilization and mowing, and cultivation

          4  practices which include aeration, topdressing, et

          5  cetera.

          6                 In my experiences as an agronomist

          7  and really as a person in the turf industry for the

          8  past 25 years, even the most wear-tolerant turfgrass

          9  species grown on compaction-resistant soils with

         10  proper implementation of cultural cultivation

         11  practices in ideal growing environments and weather,

         12  can still become worn out, down to bare soil, if the

         13  degree and persistence of traffic is great enough.

         14                 Furthermore, turf damage is

         15  exacerbated by the fact that rarely, if ever, do all

         16  the aforementioned factors come together to favor

         17  traffic tolerance.

         18                 Just to get to the real point that

         19  I'm trying to make with this is that all turf,

         20  especially turf in highly concentrated areas such as

         21  Central Park, has a carrying capacity for traffic.

         22  The proposal by the Conservancy and the Parks

         23  Department, is that the carrying capacity of the

         24  Great Lawn is no more than six events and with less

         25  than 50,000 participants per event.
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          2                 As you've heard earlier, these

          3  numbers were simply not pulled out of a hat but

          4  rather a based upon years of experience with hosting

          5  a myriad of events, as well as realizing both the

          6  direct and indirect cost of turf loss.

          7                 It is also worth reiterating that

          8  without, number one, renovation of a major portion

          9  of the Great Lawn in the mid-1990s, which included

         10  installation of a compaction-resistant sand-base

         11  root zone, new irrigation system and drainage.

         12                 Number two, adherence to proper,

         13  cultural and pest control practices to maintain

         14  healthy vigorous turf.

         15                 And number three, over-seeding with

         16  recommended turfgrass species and cultivars in

         17  September, which is, as Dr. Petrovic mentioned, an

         18  ideal time for seed germination and establishment,

         19  then the number of large events that could be safely

         20  held with minimal damage would be significantly

         21  fewer than six.

         22                 One final point is that regardless of

         23  number of events planned for the Great Lawn or other

         24  areas of turf in the park, it is important to be

         25  able to exercise the right to cancel an event
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          2  because of inclement weather, which often has the

          3  most deleterious affects on the turf, in combination

          4  with traffic.

          5                 So, in summary, if the Department of

          6  Parks and Recreation and the Central Park

          7  Conservancy are allowed to stay within the

          8  boundaries of traffic tolerance, then both the

          9  aesthetic functional, and might I add economic

         10  qualities of turf grass can be enjoyed by all.

         11                 However, if the boundaries are

         12  exceeded by allowing unlimited traffic, then the

         13  name Great Lawn might as well be changed back to the

         14  Great Dustbowl, as it once was referred to prior to

         15  renovation.

         16                 Of course, that is unless additional

         17  and significant resources are appropriated for

         18  repairs in sod and to add onto that in a timely

         19  manner.

         20                 So with that, I'll conclude and thank

         21  you for your time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you both.

         23                 Dr. Petrovic, why was -- you

         24  mentioned that the soil selected for this new part

         25  of the new lawn, the soil mix, why did we pick one
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          2  that was intended to limit?

          3                 DR. PETROVIC: Well, it wasn't

          4  necessarily intended to limit, but it was designed

          5  for this specific use.

          6                 If we would have made it sandier,

          7  then there would be a greater need to irrigate that

          8  site as well as to provide more chemical inputs, and

          9  one of the goals also of the park was to look at

         10  resource conservation, not to have to provide excess

         11  irrigation, and to increase the amount of fertilizer

         12  and/or pesticides that may need to be used. That was

         13  also part of a plan I developed with the park.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How much

         15  discussion in this plan was given to the fact that

         16  there would be, or factoring in and deciding what

         17  the best soil mixture to use, there would be this

         18  traffic on the park, on the Great Lawn?

         19                 DR. PETROVIC: It was a very large

         20  part. As a matter of fact, the initial

         21  specifications that another soil scientist on the

         22  team made had to be modified substantially to deal

         23  with the fact that it wouldn't hold up under

         24  traffic, and actually probably would not have been

         25  much better than what was there, even know was
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          2  provided and drainage was provided.

          3                 So, that was a major irrigation

          4  component of the soil mix.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So, let me ask,

          6  and I might not be saying this correctly, with the

          7  drainage that was put in place that was coupled with

          8  the soil mix to determine the best use given that

          9  there would be this need for traffic, foot traffic?

         10                 DR. PETROVIC: Both traffic and to be

         11  able to drain quickly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Um-hmm.

         13                 DR. PETROVIC: I mean, the drainage

         14  was put in with sandy soil, so that if you did get

         15  inclement weather, it wouldn't put the use out for

         16  very long at all, and as you can see, even after a

         17  rain storm, that field drains very, very well,

         18  compared to what it was before.

         19                 So, it was the combination of those

         20  two, and with traffic in mind that it was going to

         21  receive, as I said, 5,000 softball games, and four

         22  kind of major uses, as well as a lot of past abuse.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If in the summer

         24  the grass dries up, and you said the end of August,

         25  why limit it to two events if you have the whole
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          2  fall into winter to kind of rejuvenate itself?

          3                 DR. PETROVIC: I think the number is

          4  important, because the amount of damage.

          5                 If you did schedule two within that,

          6  that's basically a four-week period. If you had more

          7  than two, the extent of the damage would be

          8  significant, and therefore the amount of repair and

          9  cost to repair would be substantially higher. So, I

         10  think there is a need to think of a limit based on

         11  how much it's designed to take and how much it would

         12  take to repair within reasonable things.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, thank you.

         14                 And Dr. Baird, you mentioned traffic

         15  causing damage. Is there studies that say this much

         16  traffic on this patch will do this amount of damage?

         17                 And if so, was that specifically

         18  done, if you know, with Central Park and the Great

         19  Lawn area?

         20                 Light off; mic on.

         21                 DR. BAIRD: Okay. I'm not aware of --

         22  Dr. Petrovic could probably shed light on any

         23  studies that were done in relationship to Central

         24  Park. There have been a fair number of traffic

         25  studies done. It's kind of difficult, because there

                                                            152

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  are so many factors, as I described earlier, in

          3  regard to what can effect, ultimately affect, you

          4  know, where or traffic on turf grass, and that

          5  includes soil type and you know, weather conditions,

          6  et cetera. So, it's really hard to put a, you know,

          7  a number on that in regard to just how much could

          8  happen.

          9                 I mean, if conditions were ideal and

         10  weather cooperated, certainly there probably could

         11  be more events. But it really kind of depends on

         12  what type of activities are going on, and the types

         13  of weather conditions you're dealing with. You know,

         14  significant rainfalls prior to events are certainly

         15  going to exacerbate the damage.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So then the two

         17  event policy, that is based upon just what we know,

         18  as opposed to empirical data, you know, with the

         19  rain, if it rained prior to or after and so on and

         20  so forth?

         21                 DR. BAIRD: A lot of it, from my

         22  understanding is based upon experience over the

         23  years with managing the park.

         24                 And, again, to add onto what Dr.

         25  Petrovic said earlier, you've got to consider what's
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          2  going on. Not just, you know, the effect of or how

          3  much renovation you're going to have to do, but what

          4  affect that's going to have on the activities that

          5  occur in September, October, and throughout the

          6  remainder of the season.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Great. Thank you.

          8                 Any questions from my colleagues?

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 The next panelist is Norman Siegel.

         11                 MR. SIEGEL: Good afternoon.

         12                 Once again, Mayor Michael Bloomberg

         13  and his Administration are attempting to limit our

         14  constitutional rights. The First Amendment to the

         15  Constitution of the United States guarantees us the

         16  right to engage in peaceful, non-violent protest

         17  activities. It umbrellas the right to march, the

         18  right to assemble, and the right to organize and

         19  participate in political and ideological rallies.

         20                 These are our fundamental rights and

         21  must never, never be undermined.

         22                 You've already heard testimony, so I

         23  won't go into it in great detail, but February 15th,

         24  2003, is a dark day in the history of New York City

         25  when people were denied the right to peacefully

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  march through the streets of New York City. Only in

          3  this City was that right denied. People all over the

          4  world were able to march.

          5                 In August of 2004, you've already

          6  heard the denial of the right to hold the rally in

          7  Central Park, and now the City's Parks Department is

          8  proposing a plan to limit the use of the great lawn.

          9  I won't go through the details because you've

         10  already been discussing, but I will refute two

         11  points, two key points.

         12                 First, the 50,000 people cap should

         13  be rejected. I disagree with my good friend,

         14  Councilperson Reed, when he conceded too quickly the

         15  50,000 is a reasonable amount.

         16                 When you look at the history of the

         17  park, as I did, you find that, for example, in 1982,

         18  on that Saturday sunny morning, three-quarters of a

         19  million people, it was reported in the New York

         20  Times, I believe, attended an anti-nuclear weapons

         21  rally. In '81, 500,000 people attended a Paul Simon

         22  concert. I remember the Simon and Garfunkle concert,

         23  the reunion, where it was reported 400,000.

         24                 So, I ask the following question:

         25  Either the park or shrunk over time, or the numbers
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          2  argument simply fails.

          3                 Second, the City argues, as we just

          4  heard, that the reseeding and refurbishing of the

          5  park and the Great Lawn, makes the grass vulnerable

          6  to large crowds.

          7                 In July of 2004, the New York Times,

          8  Diane Cardwell, an excellent reporter, wrote a story

          9  and relied on at least one horticultural expert who

         10  was quoted on saying, "The beautification" of the

         11  park was done in a way, in such a manner, as to

         12  specifically ensure that the grass would be able to

         13  withstand the large numbers of people expected to

         14  assemble there from time to time.

         15                 I think that's a very key point. If

         16  there was at least one expert who was involved in

         17  the process and is on record as saying that, it

         18  seems to me, as us lawyers know, and you've heard

         19  the two experts here, in many cases I have been

         20  involved in, was always a conflict of the experts.

         21  Expert says X, another one says no X.

         22                 When the expert in this hypothetical

         23  said non-X, and it involves a fundamental freedom,

         24  the right to assemble and protest, I think you have

         25  to be very careful before you give a green light to
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          2  allow the Parks Department and the Bloomberg

          3  Administration to do what they were doing.

          4                 I also raise the question of should

          5  the needs of grass, even assuming that the arguments

          6  from the experts are valid, should that ever trump

          7  the First Amendment rights of the residents of this

          8  City.

          9                 Central Park belongs to all New

         10  Yorkers, and New Yorkers should have a say in what

         11  activities are appropriate for the park.

         12                 A better democratic process would

         13  have been to have gone to the community boards

         14  throughout the City, because I don't think it's an

         15  exclusively Manhattan issue. I live across the

         16  street from Central Park. I've been for almost 20

         17  years going to the park regularly. I love the park.

         18  I love the activity. I love the diversity of the

         19  park.

         20                 What I see is a shrinking of the

         21  access to the park. Slowly but surely. I won't

         22  repeat the discussion you had with the Central Park

         23  Conservancy, but even the other day I put in a

         24  permit to have a rally and a vigil for tomorrow

         25  night in opposition to this plan, and when I called
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          2  last week and I asked what was the status of my

          3  permit application, I was told that they had to

          4  discuss it with the Central Park Conservancy. That

          5  surprised me. The Central Park Conservancy, for all

          6  the good things that they've done, for all the money

          7  that they've put in, should not be integrally

          8  involved in deciding whether a group of New Yorkers

          9  who want to oppose any particular position,

         10  especially a position about this issue, where in any

         11  City Charter, where in any rules and regulation do

         12  they have the input to decide what takes place in

         13  the park.

         14                 I think that that opened my eyes to

         15  the arguments the people and some of the people that

         16  are behind me, including especially Estelle Levy,

         17  who has been fighting this fight for many, many

         18  years, if she's still here? She's still here. Listen

         19  to her about the history and slowing how Central

         20  Park Conservancy and the privatization of our parks

         21  is taking place.

         22                 I know in Washington Square Park

         23  there is an issue of that right now, and I think

         24  that some of these discussions rage at these larger

         25  issues.
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          2                 I think that history teaches us that

          3  generally we don't lose our rights with a big bang

          4  overnight. We lose our freedoms incrementally, often

          5  quietly one day at a time.

          6                 I hope I'm wrong, and I hope my

          7  grandchildren come to me in 20 years and say, hey,

          8  grandpa, you were wrong, but the reality I feel

          9  right now in my bones, in my body, in my heart and

         10  soul, is that we are losing our fundamental freedoms

         11  slowly but surely. And the discussion that you're

         12  having now is just one piece of a larger picture. I

         13  look at the people here now, the three of you, and

         14  the other people that were here before, the people

         15  do care. You are concerned, and I would think that

         16  you should try to figure out a way either to stop

         17  this, or to begin to monitor what's going on in the

         18  parks in our City.

         19                 Jeff Vogel's suggestion of some kind

         20  of ombudsman in the Parks Department with regard to

         21  First Amendment issues is an excellent idea.

         22                 I also, in respond (sic) to the

         23  questions that were asked before, I would not cap

         24  the amount of activities.

         25                 When Benepe said that basically he
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          2  was choosing the number six because that's the

          3  requests that were made over the last few years,

          4  then there's no need to memorialize this. If it's

          5  worked over the years that you only get a half a

          6  dozen events a year, then I would just leave it as

          7  it is and let the natural activity dictate the

          8  result here.

          9                 We New Yorkers come to you. We're

         10  very upset about this direction. We would hope that

         11  you would figure out a way through your powers and

         12  your jurisdiction, to (a) stop this particular

         13  proposal by at a minimum a resolution to the City

         14  Council opposing this; or, (b) to exercise even

         15  greater monitoring and watchdog activity over the

         16  direction that our parks are now going in.

         17                 I thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

         19  your testimony.

         20                 What is the status of your

         21  application?

         22                 MR. SIEGEL: Oh, it was granted,

         23  because they knew if they didn't we'd go to court.

         24                 But the reality is, you know when you

         25  talk about parks, there's a group that came to my
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          2  office the other day, I, too, am in private

          3  practice, and I, too, you know, have a different

          4  time concern, but this is so important to me, a

          5  group of people want to have a rally about what is

          6  happening in Loretta in Morris Park section of the

          7  Bronx, they were told by the Parks Department people

          8  that they could not get a permit because they didn't

          9  file it within a 30-day window. I mean, that's just

         10  bogus.

         11                 I had to call, I had to get them the

         12  permit. They will have their rally in opposition to

         13  what they're trying to do in that park in the Bronx

         14  on Saturday.

         15                 But citizens and residents should not

         16  have to resort to lawyers in order to try to get an

         17  easy permit to hold a rally, which is part of

         18  American tradition, it's our birth right to hold

         19  rallies in opposition to government policies.

         20                 And what's happening now, it's

         21  becoming more and more difficult. People give up.

         22  They don't want to enter into this kind of activity,

         23  and then the paperwork and the questioning and the

         24  rules that are thrown out, like for example this

         25  one, 30-day rule, even the Commissioner in the Bronx
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          2  agreed with me, there is no such rule. But why is

          3  the staff telling people that rule? If those people

          4  didn't call me and I didn't make those calls, there

          5  would be no protest rally in Loretta Park on

          6  Saturday. It's the same dynamic. It's all

          7  interconnected, as I see it.

          8                 The Parks Department is becoming

          9  increasingly disconnected to the very communities

         10  that it's supposed to serve, and it becomes into its

         11  own.

         12                 I think that the Parks under the

         13  Supreme Court decisions about First Amendment talk

         14  about class A public forums of the parks, the parks

         15  and the public streets, or that. We would not be

         16  regulating protest activity in the street in the way

         17  we're trying to do it in the parks and the grass, as

         18  far as I see, as it protects to try to erode

         19  people's fundamental freedoms at this point. You

         20  folks should not let that happen.

         21                 Whether you agree with the issue that

         22  people want to protest about, I think that's

         23  irrelevant. The theme has to be that people must

         24  have a safety valve. That's what the First Amendment

         25  to the Constitution is all about. New York City has
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          2  a rich tradition in history of being supportive as a

          3  climate to allow people to protest. That is now

          4  changing. Do not let it happen under your watch.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          6                 Council Member Addabbo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair. Mr. Siegel, I do appreciate your time

          9  and testimony today. And I agree with you it's not

         10  just a New York City issue, this is an issue for

         11  parks throughout the City.

         12                 The issue of six slots --

         13                 MR. SIEGEL: What you meant, it's not

         14  a Manhattan issue, right?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: It's not a

         16  Manhattan issue. I consider the City five boroughs,

         17  but in any case it's not just a Manhattan issue.

         18                 The six slots aside, that issue

         19  aside, because I think that does have to be

         20  revisited, should there be a cap at all with regard

         21  to large crowds on the Great Lawn? Should there be

         22  any restrictions as to the size of the crowd?

         23                 MR. SIEGEL: The environment should

         24  restrict it.

         25                 Let me give you an example. We had to
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          2  go three times to court to challenge the Giuliani

          3  Administration with regard to the right to hold

          4  press conferences on the steps of this very

          5  building. Judge Bear asked that question and the

          6  answer was that the steps should dictate how many

          7  people could be at a press conference. And one

          8  Sunday Afternoon we came with about ten people, and

          9  we measured, again, it depended on the size of the

         10  person and the width --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: There's a

         12  safety issue at that point, right? A venue because

         13  of a safety issue at that point?

         14                 MR. SIEGEL: No, it wasn't a safety

         15  issue. It was a question of how many people could

         16  stand on the steps of City Hall so that you could

         17  put a cap on how many people could attend the press

         18  conference. And we actually figured out how many

         19  people could stand on the steps of City Hall, given

         20  the average size and weight of an individual, and

         21  that that number, I think it was something like 400

         22  and something, that's the answer.

         23                 When you go to the Great Lawn, for

         24  example, the Paul Simon concert that we're talking

         25  about, I remember people, not just on the Great
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          2  Lawn, but in the surrounding areas, similarly in the

          3  anti-nuc rally or other rallies. You could have the

          4  main area, but I know that park, there's a lot of

          5  nooks and crannies, there's a lot of trees where

          6  people sit. So, you let the natural amount of people

          7  who could fill up the space dictate how many people

          8  could come in.

          9                 When you put a 50,000 cap, it's

         10  arbitrary by itself. This one is clearly under the

         11  numbers of the people -- I was in that park the

         12  other day, I was on the Great Lawn, you could shoe

         13  horn 50,000 in. You get way more. And then there is

         14  other areas surrounding. A lot of these events you

         15  could listen to. You don't have to actually see the

         16  speaker, you're just there, it's part of the

         17  experience. And the first rallies, that's exactly

         18  what happens, you're there. You're there as an act

         19  of conscience, and the idea of capping (a) the

         20  number of events and the amount of people should be

         21  rejected.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I have two

         23  quick points, and I'd appreciate it if your answers

         24  could be a little briefer because I know we have

         25  other speakers.
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          2                 MR. SIEGEL: I will try to do that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I appreciate

          4  it.

          5                 Say, for instance, there was no cap,

          6  or a larger cap, and the Department of Parks to

          7  grant the wishes of that group, grants a permit for

          8  a very large crowd, and at that event unfortunately

          9  there might be an emergency where there is an

         10  evacuation procedure, and in that evacuation,

         11  because of the large crowd, injuries, God forbid,

         12  even a death occurs; do you think the City opens

         13  itself to a lawsuit or a liability creating a

         14  situation, granting the wish of the group who asked

         15  for the permit, do you think they created a

         16  situation of an unsafe condition, opening yourself

         17  up to lawsuits?

         18                 MR. SIEGEL: Everybody raises that

         19  issue. It's never happened. In the hypothetical from

         20  Dr. Keen and SCLC back all the way --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: The

         22  possibility. I'm just saying --

         23                 MR. SIEGEL: No, it's the hypothetical

         24  what happens when the ambulance comes, someone has a

         25  heart attack. Anyone who is at a demonstration,

                                                            166

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  first it never happened, but even if it did happen,

          3  when someone gets sick, everyone cooperates, there's

          4  no problem with that. So I think it's a red herring,

          5  as we say.

          6                 But second, in response to your

          7  question, I don't ever want to duc that, I think

          8  that if there was, in your hypothetical, no

          9  evacuation plan, there was no planning for the

         10  possibility that you're sure the City would open

         11  itself.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Just lastly,

         13  just so I'm clear on your position, on the First

         14  Amendment right, then you don't agree with the court

         15  decision that says obviously the person does have

         16  limitations as to venue?

         17                 MR. SIEGEL: First Amendment Decisions

         18  say reasonable time, place and manner.

         19                 For 50,000 and the six-year is not by

         20  any stretch of the imagination"reasonable."

         21                 What that means is what I was trying

         22  to say to you, Councilman Addabbo, that the number

         23  should not be an arbitrary number of 50,000.

         24                 There should be a natural amount of

         25  people who can get into the space that's in
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          2  question. And you're talking about the Great Lawn

          3  and the Great Lawn that's a definition of what it's

          4  been, how do you justify, put aside, quote, the

          5  dustbowl, which I think is a red herring as opposed

          6  to the grass. If in the past the Great Lawn was able

          7  to hold hundreds of thousands of people, question,

          8  did the parks shrink over the time?

          9                 No. It didn't shrink. What's happened

         10  is it's being repackaged and they're framing the

         11  issue in a way to prohibit the very activity that

         12  New York has been known for for many, many years.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Do you see it

         14  more so as a grass issue and then again not a

         15  content issue? Because I don't think it's being done

         16  by content but by a safety issue.

         17                 Do you see these proposals being

         18  possibly a safety issue? That's my last question.

         19                 MR. SIEGEL: I don't think it's a

         20  safety issue. I think you can address the safety

         21  issues without limiting the number of events and the

         22  cap of 50,000. I think the 50,000, the grass, and

         23  the number of events are all pretextual to a larger

         24  issue of the denial of fundamental freedoms for

         25  people to use the park in the way they want to.
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          2                 And finally, on the question of

          3  Queens and Manhattan, the courts have said over and

          4  over again that government doesn't dictate to the

          5  citizens where they demonstrate. If we get to the

          6  point where the government starts dictating where I

          7  have to demonstrate, we're in trouble.

          8                 I decide as the citizen where my

          9  venue is, reasonable time, place manner. If I don't

         10  want to be in Queens 'cause the activity at the RNC

         11  is at Madison Square Garden, it's in Manhattan,

         12  that's my choice. In the Million Youth March, they

         13  want to put people in -- I forgot what the name of

         14  the place was -- but people who demonstrated wanted

         15  to be in Harlem, but we went to court on that, we

         16  won that. Citizens decide where the venue for the

         17  protest is, not the government.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         19  much. I have to say that I was very concerned when

         20  you mentioned that they referred to the Central Park

         21  Conservancy and having to check with them, and one

         22  of the hearings that this Committee is going to look

         23  into is the privatization of parks and what we're

         24  seeing happen at Washington Square Park and so on.

         25  So, thank you for bringing that to our attention.
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          2  And thank you very much. I know that your time, and

          3  I apologize for everyone, this obviously is an

          4  important subject. So, thank you.

          5                 Our next panel will be Daniel

          6  Biederman, Alex Brash, Warrie Price, Irvin

          7  Schneiderman and Tupper Thomas, who I believe had to

          8  leave.

          9                 I'm going to remind everyone of the

         10  time constraints. Thank you.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I would

         12  like to thank this panel for their time and

         13  testimony today. For the record, if you would please

         14  state your name and give your testimony, please.

         15                 MS. PRICE: Warrie Price, President

         16  and Founder of the Battery Conservancy. Do you want

         17  us to each introduce --

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: You can

         19  begin.

         20                 MS. PRICE: Okay, thank you.

         21                 Good morning. I'm Warrie Price. I

         22  founded and am the President of the Battery

         23  Conservancy. I'm also the City's parks administrator

         24  for the Battery.

         25                 New York State considers it a
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          2  horrible park, and they have also, because of these

          3  overlapping jurisdiction, asked me to be the

          4  director of Harbor Park so that the federal, the

          5  state and the City are all working. Before we began

          6  they were not really brought together. One of the

          7  missions of this private and public partnership was

          8  to have it with all three public partners. So, I'm

          9  sorry that Council Member Foster had to leave,

         10  because I think there's a model, she'll be back, but

         11  I'd like the record to show that we do do good

         12  coordinating. We are truly for the civic will and

         13  the civic life of landscapes.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: The

         15  record will state that and show it.

         16                 MS. PRICE: Thank you.

         17                 The Battery's 23-acre park at the tip

         18  of Southern Manhattan, it has been open space and

         19  has welcomed public use since the Native Americans

         20  fished from its banks.

         21                 It is the largest public open space

         22  in Downtown New York, with over 4 million annual

         23  visitors, the Battery per square foot gets more

         24  pedestrian traffic than any other City park.

         25                 The Battery Conservancy has been in

                                                            171

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  operation for over ten years, and in the next five,

          3  the Conservancy with its partners, the City, the

          4  State and the federal level, will complete the

          5  transformation of the entire landscape creating what

          6  we feel is a first rate destination for our downtown

          7  residents, workers, and visitors from around the

          8  world.

          9                 Revitalizing our city's green open

         10  spaces is horrible work. It requires strong

         11  community partnerships, dedicated staff, loyal

         12  funders, and devoted volunteers, and this is

         13  throughout the City.

         14                 When a space has been rebuilt, as

         15  we've done along the Battery waterfront promenades,

         16  constant vigilance and additional resources are

         17  needed to maintain and sustain these hard-won,

         18  hard-won improvements.

         19                 Capital dollars used to get spent

         20  without well-defined plans for maintenance and

         21  programming.

         22                 Today the situation is different.

         23  Public/private entities now exist to ensure that

         24  these critical improvements to our parks, are not

         25  only built to great standards, design and
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          2  construction, but are placed, but also have

          3  well-though-out maintenance and programming planned

          4  to ensure a long future of enjoyment, and that's

          5  what it is, a long future of enjoyment for parks.

          6                 This makes good fiscal sense as well

          7  as management sense. Better planned care, post

          8  construction means decreasing the needs for repeated

          9  capital dollars in the future.

         10                 At the Battery we've designed and

         11  rebuilt the park, we're also developing education

         12  and civic programming at the same time.

         13                 These improvements have maintenance

         14  and programmatic functions, public spaces need

         15  careful planning to ensure they remain a resource

         16  for continued enjoyment.

         17                 Critical improvements require

         18  sensible rules to make these public spaces

         19  sustainable over the long-term.

         20                 As someone who knows firsthand the

         21  balance that has to be struck between public access

         22  and park maintenance, I believe the proposed rules

         23  for the Central Park Great Lawn are necessary and

         24  appropriate.

         25                 These rules allow large public events
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          2  on the Great Lawn, while making sure that it never

          3  returns to what it once was, a neglected dust-filled

          4  disgrace to our City.

          5                 I've spent the past 30 years working

          6  to protect and improve New York City's green spaces

          7  in my own neighborhood and now at the Battery.

          8                 These experiences have taught me that

          9  the public events are vital to our City and to our

         10  parks. They must be placed where people can gather

         11  to express their views and to enjoy outdoor

         12  festivities.

         13                 Proposed rules allow this tradition

         14  of public assembly to continue, both on the Great

         15  Lawn and in other sites throughout the City.

         16                 The rules strike the right balance.

         17  They keep the Great Lawn open and green. They allow

         18  large gatherings. They protect and assure sustained

         19  care of this great resource for a long future of

         20  enjoyment. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         22                 Who is next? You can just go down.

         23  Yes, that's fine.

         24                 MR. BRASH: Good afternoon, Chair

         25  Foster.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good afternoon.

          3                 MR. BRASH: As you may recall from

          4  previous hearings regarding Jamaica Bay and Gateway

          5  National Recreation, I am Alex Brash.  What you do

          6  not know is that formerly I was the Chief of the

          7  Urban Park Service, the Division of the New York

          8  City Parks Department that contains all of its

          9  uniforms, officers and supervisors, special events

         10  division. I was in this position for nearly 12

         11  years, spanning three commissioners and supervised

         12  every large event in the park.

         13                 In that time working with senior

         14  officials from NYPD, Mayor's Office and other City

         15  agencies, we supervised great events such as

         16  Pocohontas, Pope's visit, and concerts like Paul

         17  Simon's, Garth Brooks and Sting's, each Marathon,

         18  each AIDS Walk, Earth Day and so forth, including

         19  the City's first nighttime parade.

         20                 There were no major problems in any

         21  of these events, except that each time the parks

         22  suffered.

         23                 Unlike the civil liberatarians and

         24  others who may be here today to engage in very valid

         25  debates, I simply came to lay out and clarify a few
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          2  facts and in summary make an observation or two.

          3                 First, as you're all aware, and as

          4  great park historians, such as Robin Winks of Yale

          5  have pointed out, parks serve multiple purposes in

          6  our City. Parks are nature preserves protecting the

          7  last remnants of the region's biology. They are

          8  sacred places, in memorials to war heroes and others

          9  who have sacrificed so much for our society.

         10                 They are, as has been pointed out, a

         11  role of crystalized on Lexington Commons, but as

         12  critical today, parks are a place for public

         13  gathering and debate. And finally, more recently,

         14  parks now frequently serve as an ecological

         15  component of the City's infrastructure, helping to

         16  clean the air and absorb the stormwater.

         17                 These roles define our parks, and it

         18  is any park agency's primary function to allocate

         19  these roles.

         20                 Indeed, looking at a larger brethren,

         21  Congress has defined this mission through its

         22  definition of the National Parks Service as one to

         23  promote and regulate the use of parks so as to

         24  conserve the scenery and natural history and

         25  historic objects and the wildlife therein, and to
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          2  provide for the enjoyment of the same by such means

          3  as will leave them unimpaired for future

          4  generations.

          5                 Let me repeat, unimpaired.

          6                 Second, as we all know, Central Park

          7  has undergone a dramatic transformation in the last

          8  three decades. When I was a kid, I sledded on the

          9  slopes of East Meadow at 97th Street. Every street

         10  light was broken, the playground was a wreck and

         11  packs of wild dogs still roamed the northern woods.

         12                 In New York, in New York there was an

         13  epiphany of parks appreciation and since then not

         14  only are the fields, the fountains and ballfields

         15  been restored, the forest too.

         16                 Monuments to American heroes are now

         17  guilded and polished, the fountains flow, the trees

         18  are pruned, and extra painted species like the

         19  Screech Owls, tree frogs and native wildflowers have

         20  returned.

         21                 Central Park is beautiful now, but

         22  this must come with two price tags. The financial

         23  cost and also the park is more fragile.

         24                 And let me also just point out, in

         25  terms of this great lawn, Pail Male first nested
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          2  there for three years before they switched over to

          3  the buildings outside the park.

          4                 Third, since this transformation, it

          5  is clear that more people use the parks on a daily

          6  basis and more New Yorkers use more of the park.

          7  Therefore, anything that goes on, such as a large

          8  event, has a much greater opportunity cost than it

          9  ever did.

         10                 Fourth, and probably most

         11  importantly, I think in this, when Central Park was

         12  created, it was specifically designed by Olmsted and

         13  Vaux to be a park for pastoral retreat.

         14  Significantly and as evidence are the design

         15  elements such as sunken transferses, curving roads,

         16  and ample natural areas that were all created to

         17  make the park a retreat from the hustle and bustle

         18  of the grey city streets.

         19                 Central Park was emphatically not

         20  designed to mirror Pierre L'Enfant's Washington Mall

         21  of 1791, nor like Flushing Meadows, of an endlessly

         22  open landscape.

         23                 One fact above all in this debate

         24  should stand clear; that regardless of whether New

         25  York City needs a great gathering ground for public
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          2  voice, which it does, Central Park was not designed

          3  or built to be it.

          4                 Fifth, please do disregard previous

          5  statements made by bold promoters, wild marketers

          6  and others regarding the numbers of people who have

          7  ever attended an event on the Great Lawn.

          8                 Long ago those numbers crossed from

          9  being speculative to physically impossible. The fact

         10  is that the Great Lawn and adjacent areas could

         11  never take more than 220,000 patrons or so, and in

         12  reality probably only one or two events ever even

         13  approached that, and even those were before my time.

         14  The largest recent events never exceeded 120,000 and

         15  most were regulated to be well below 80,000.

         16                 Sixth, since Diana Ross concerts more

         17  than 15 years ago, Central Park has not had a large

         18  event resulting in any significant health or safety

         19  issues. It's a record I'm proud of. Also because all

         20  these events have been very well planned, carefully

         21  managed, and most importantly, the movement of

         22  attendees was closely orchestrated from arrival to

         23  departure. The most dangerous events are unregulated

         24  gatherings of undetermined size and scope, and they

         25  have luckily not been permitted, and I don't think
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          2  any responsible person in this room would want to

          3  explore such a notion.

          4                 Finally, holding any large event is

          5  not a simple linear process. There are many

          6  variables that will determine the safety and success

          7  of an event. The weather, the integrity and

          8  responsibility of the promoter, the performer, the

          9  show they put on, the crowd they attract, its time,

         10  its duration, the availability of amenities, the

         11  amount of security and many other factors all

         12  contribute.

         13                 And while I would, and certainly have

         14  left it to lawyers and officials to determine who

         15  gets to play in the park, I am whole-heartedly in

         16  support of limiting the number and size of events in

         17  Central Park, has been outlined with the

         18  Department's ruling.

         19                 And finally, in conclusion, my simple

         20  observation is ultimately that like any venue,

         21  Central Park does indeed have tangible, physical,

         22  ecological and logistical parameters that must

         23  predetermine the size and scope of any event,

         24  regardless of the very meritorious debate about who

         25  speaks or sings in the park, and what they may crow
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          2  about, one can no more open the park to some great

          3  unlimited number of people under the banner of the

          4  First Amendment, than one can fit two pounds of you

          5  know what in a one-pound bag.

          6                 Failure to heed such lessons from the

          7  past, and act responsibly, by supporting the Parks

          8  Department guidelines will inevitably result in an

          9  event causing irreparable harm to the Park, its

         10  patrons and the City's great reputation.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Next.

         13                 MR. SCHNEIDERMAN: Thank you. My name

         14  is Irwin Schneiderman. I'm the trustee of the

         15  Central Park Conservancy.

         16                 I have been involved with the

         17  Conservancy since its inception. Driven by a desire

         18  to ensure the survival of this great Park, the

         19  Conservancy was formed by a group of dedicated

         20  citizens who worked on one of the greatest

         21  transformations to occur in the City's history.

         22                 As a supporter of Central Park for 25

         23  years, I have been fortunate to witness every stage

         24  of this magnificent renaissance.

         25                 I saw the Park at its lowest point.
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          2  Acres of lawn, pounded down to dustbowls, trees

          3  decaying from lack of care, and fountains and

          4  structures broken.

          5                 Over the years, with a shared

          6  commitment and devotion to the Park, Conservancy

          7  staff, volunteers, and thousands of supporters

          8  working together with the City, helped bring the

          9  park back from near collapse to the glorious jewel

         10  it has become today.

         11                 The Central Park Conservancy is not

         12  involved in making policy and plays no role in the

         13  issuance of permits. It is there to support the work

         14  of the park.

         15                 We must never allow the Park to

         16  decline again. We have so much to protect and so

         17  much ground to be proud of.

         18                 Rules that permit ample use of the

         19  Park's Great Lawn while still permitting time to

         20  allow the grounds to recover, are reasonable and

         21  fair.

         22                 Regardless of whether a bond is

         23  posted, it's a bad deal for the public to have to

         24  shut down the Great Lawn for four months in order to

         25  accommodate a one-evening event.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 MR. BIEDERMAN: Hi. Dan Biederman,

          5  Executive Director, Bryant Park Restoration

          6  Corporation.

          7                 In the interest of time, I'll not

          8  read my statement, but I understand from my

          9  colleague who has been here all these hours, there

         10  are two points that could justify further discussion

         11  from our point of view. We run a one-acre lawn in

         12  the middle of Bryant Park, and we are aware of all

         13  the problems the Parks Department is telling you

         14  that it's facing in running the Great Lawn. We've

         15  had exactly the same experience. We compare notes

         16  all the time. In my statement the portion I won't

         17  read we say that what they're doing is much smarter

         18  than what we're doing, because they'd never replace

         19  theirs so the roots grow extremely long and they've

         20  got a lot of resiliency. Ours is replanted twice a

         21  year because of an event that helps the fashion

         22  industry, destroys the lawn twice a year, but it's

         23  not an ideal situation.

         24                 Let me agree with several previous

         25  speakers and say the Commissioner makes sure that he
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          2  makes the final decisions, even in Bryant Park,

          3  which benefits from an outright privately financed

          4  effort, even more so than Central Park. It's Adrian

          5  Benepe who was the ultimate decision maker. Esteemed

          6  counsel here, and the Manhattan Borough Commissioner

          7  are constantly reviewed in review of events that

          8  have First Amendment implications in Bryant Park.

          9  So, even though we are known as a privately-run

         10  park, it is Parks Commissioner Benepe who is

         11  constantly involved in the decisions about what will

         12  be issued.

         13                 More amusingly, I want to second Mr.

         14  Brash's comments about numbers. And mention to you

         15  that we've done quite a study of this for a reason

         16  that has nothing to do with lawn damage.

         17                 We tell people how many people

         18  actually are in Bryant Park events, and when they're

         19  the promoter, they're constantly disappointed,

         20  because they've listened to our event numbers and

         21  hear in the back of their heads by comparison these

         22  incredible numbers, exaggerated numbers as Mr. Brash

         23  said, that are constantly bandied about. Paul Simon

         24  concert supposedly drew 600,000, Parks Department

         25  I'm sure was correct when they said that was 80,000.
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          2  Supposedly a nuclear arms protest in 1982, 700,000.

          3  People who throw these numbers around have never

          4  stood outside Shea or Yankee Stadium at the end of a

          5  capacity filled team and seen what 50,000 people

          6  look like. It's a massive number of people. And the

          7  numbers have gotten crazier and crazier. They're now

          8  working against the interest of the Parks

          9  Department, just because nobody ever corrected them

         10  in the newspapers. We cite in our testimony Times

         11  Square on New Years Eve 2000, which was supposedly 2

         12  million people, it's physically impossible there

         13  could have been more than 300,000 there, and we

         14  think more like 60 or 80,000 were there that night.

         15                 And then the craziest example of all,

         16  the recent Red Sox Victory Parade, where the Boston

         17  Globe trumpeted 3.2 million people, which is a

         18  quarter of the population of the entire six states

         19  that constitute New England. There is no way one out

         20  of every four New England residents came into

         21  downtown Boston that day. Even with the enthusiasm

         22  in Vermont and Northern Maine, I don't think that

         23  happened.

         24                 So, you can do a much more careful

         25  analysis involving how many people come into
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          2  Manhattan everyday, how many come into downtown

          3  Boston, and then rectify these numbers,

          4  unfortunately for Commissioner Benepe nobody's been

          5  doing that. So, now in court cases, and with you,

          6  the elected officials, he's being held responsible

          7  for numbers he never endorsed, and we have had

          8  private meetings with the Parks Department about the

          9  problem, because we're hurting from those numbers

         10  too.

         11                 So, to the extent that the Council is

         12  going to make a decision on this issue or impact the

         13  Parks Department in some way, based on false

         14  numbers, we would strongly urge you to talk to some

         15  of the people who have been doing more scientific

         16  analysis of counts and get down to the real numbers

         17  and then make a sensible decision on the crowds they

         18  can accommodate in Central Park based on those.

         19                 Thanks very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         21  much. And I thank all of you for being patient and

         22  waiting around to testify.

         23                 Our next panel is Pauline Gambuto,

         24  Jean Silva, Nydia Leaf, Estelle Levy, and Pat

         25  DeAngelis.
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          2                 Thank you. If we can just get seated

          3  and go right into it. Thank you.

          4                 Press the button.

          5                   LEVY: I thank you for this

          6  opportunity. I think it is very important that the

          7  Council be involved in this because --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me. Can

          9  you say your name for the record. Thank you.

         10                 MS. LEVY: My name is Estelle Levy.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         12                 MS. LEVY: I think this is a done deal

         13  if the Council is not involved in it and does not

         14  take a position of reviewing what the Parks and the

         15  Conservancy is doing.

         16                 This is a triumvirate of the

         17  Conservancy, the Parks Department and the Mayor. And

         18  this is a byproduct of the Republican Convention

         19  because this issue was never raised before. This

         20  kind of limit was never discussed before, and we

         21  cannot have politics controlling First Amendment

         22  free speech rights. And those of us who oppose this

         23  proposal love parks. We should not be identified as

         24  people who are in opposition to parks.

         25                 Now, the Conservancy, this issue
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          2  actually opens the door to the issue of the

          3  Conservancy and the Parks Department and the Mayor

          4  because the Conservancy has no transparency

          5  whatsoever. It is a 501(C)(3). Any information you

          6  want about it you can get through a Freedom of

          7  Information Law request or go down to the Attorney

          8  General's Office. There is no, none, in terms,

          9  nothing in terms of transparency.

         10                 Now, the agreement between the Parks

         11  Department and the Conservancy went into effect on

         12  February 1993 and it expires June 30th, 2005. It can

         13  automatically be renewed between the Parks and

         14  Conservancy. All they have to do is get together and

         15  say we're going to continue, but it should not be

         16  permitted to continue without a review of its modus

         17  operandi because the looks of the parks and how they

         18  operate are two different issues. And they should

         19  not be allowed to make this decision on the cusp of

         20  their contract and agreement coming to an end.

         21                 The Conservancy as a not-for-profit

         22  and private entity, number one fundraises, number

         23  two, gets money from the City, number three, puts

         24  out bids for food vendors, restaurants, tennis

         25  courts, all kinds of money-raising events. That
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          2  money goes to them, and how they allocate it, what

          3  they do with it is not known, readily known to us.

          4                 Also, the fact that their salaries,

          5  we have no knowledge, we, the public, so we have to

          6  rely on the City Council to be investigating what

          7  they do because we have no knowledge in terms of the

          8  salaries, their operational budgets, their in-kind

          9  deals because they're housed in the arsenal.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me a

         11  minute.

         12                 I'm going to ask you to concentrate

         13  more on the topic of the Great Lawn and its use.

         14                 That is a discussion maybe to be

         15  discussed at a later hearing that we're going to

         16  have dealing with private/public relationships. So,

         17  if you can just summarize and then tie it into what

         18  we've heard thus far, please.

         19                 MS. LEVY: There is one point that is

         20  very interesting that I think is related, because I

         21  think this is a done deal without the involvement of

         22  the City Council to step in and prevent them from

         23  making this decision without first really

         24  investigating everything that went into their point

         25  of view.
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          2                 I've been to many of the concerts in

          3  the park. They don't know whether 50,000 have shown

          4  up. I mean, you could have 30,000 at one time and

          5  80,000 at another. There is no one clicking the

          6  numbers as people enter to know how many people are

          7  really there.

          8                 On January 3rd of this year, the

          9  Conservancy, which is a part of this decision, the

         10  Conservancy requested that there be a decision

         11  negated. There has been a decision that kept a part

         12  manager and the president of the Conservancy as

         13  separate positions. They wanted that done away with.

         14  Benepe agreed, now Doug Blansky is the President and

         15  he is also the Head Manager of Central Park.

         16                 Did this decision go through the

         17  Conflict of Interest Board? We have no idea. It is

         18  important for the rights of people to be protected

         19  by the City Council.

         20                 There are many issues involved where

         21  the rights of people within parks, as has been

         22  pointed out here, are negated unless you have a

         23  connection, a lawyer, a somebody who will speak up,

         24  speak up for you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. DEANGELIS: Hi. My name is Pat

          3  DeAngelis. I first came to City Hall when I was a

          4  child because I won a prize in an essay contest.

          5  That was back in the late 1940s. And it gave me a

          6  sense that I could speak out, that City Hall was a

          7  place I could come. Now City Hall looks like a gated

          8  community, unfortunately. So, where do people have a

          9  place to go to protest?

         10                 They used to say tell it to City

         11  Hall. Now you can't get near City Hall, except for

         12  maybe the 400 and some odd people that will sit on

         13  the steps for a press conference.

         14                 I feel really badly about that

         15  because I think there's a generation of young people

         16  who are coming up who don't know the freedom we used

         17  to have.

         18                 Outside on the ceiling it says that,

         19  it's a reminder that government should be of, by and

         20  for the people. Can say what people? It's a very

         21  diverse population here in New York now. And our

         22  First Amendment tells us that the people, the

         23  Congress shall make no law, prohibiting the right of

         24  the people peacefully to assemble, and to petition

         25  the government for a redress of grievances.
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          2                 Now, I think that means that

          3  government has a need to provide the space. For New

          4  Yorkers, Central Park is central, where the Olmsted

          5  intended it to be, a place of reflection, just for

          6  the rich? I don't know. But I do know that it could

          7  be a place of political reflection, too, because we

          8  are political people. And I think that it's central

          9  in lots of ways. It's central especially because of

         10  transportation. It's a place where people from all

         11  over the City can get from all over, and that's key.

         12  You know, if you say, oh, go to Flushing Meadow

         13  Park, if you live in the Bronx or Staten Island,

         14  that's really far away. Most transportation comes

         15  into Central Park area.

         16                 I feel very strongly that this space

         17  has to be reserved. I know that people just

         18  mentioned the March 1982. I was there. There were a

         19  lot of people. I stood at 42nd Street and Sixth

         20  Avenue and where the feet of marches came together

         21  to go north to the Central Park, it was wall-to-wall

         22  people in every direction. Like nothing I've ever

         23  seen before. And I have to remind people, we all got

         24  into the Park.

         25                 The people at these kind of
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          2  demonstrations usually don't all stand in one place.

          3  They get bored by the speakers, to be perfectly

          4  honest.

          5                 They mingle, they go get a drink,

          6  they look for the ladies' room, the mens' room,

          7  because they've been marching a long time, and the

          8  pressure is not necessarily all in one place. You

          9  see people roaming around. You see that on the mall

         10  in Washington, which, by the way, is a dustbowl.

         11  I've been down there, and, you know, it's gravel for

         12  the most part. It's not lawn. And we would be so

         13  much poorer as a people if we hadn't these kind of

         14  common spaces.

         15                 Can you imagine if Martin Luther King

         16  hadn't been able to speak in the mall. You know,

         17  what a loss for this nation. We need to have places

         18  that are big enough, and Central Park is probably

         19  our best space where people can come together,

         20  reflect on the needs of this nation, and its people,

         21  and reflect on the needs of the City, and come

         22  together and think. And I really implore you to make

         23  the realization that people and their political

         24  processes are much more important than Lawn.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. SILVA: Thank you. My name is Jean

          3  Silva, and I'm representing probably about 3,000

          4  adults and probably 2,000 kids who play softball all

          5  over Manhattan. Primarily I'm here to just bring out

          6  to the attention of the Board that softball fields

          7  at Central Park, and I want to thank the Conservancy

          8  and Parks Department for doing the park over.

          9                 I think it's good, but we need those

         10  softball fields. You take one field away from us and

         11  that's like throwing a schedule right out a window.

         12  And all the years that we played up in the Park, up

         13  at Central Park, has taken on a life of its own with

         14  the softball players and especially since 9/11,

         15  people want to get out, mill around, play softball,

         16  play frisbee, and by having these events, it really

         17  cuts back on individual enjoyment at the Park.

         18                 Also, I'd just like to bring the

         19  attention that if there was any way that the Parks

         20  Department, because they're aware of what's going

         21  on, to include the softball community in the

         22  decisions when they're shifting time schedules

         23  around, because to repermit the spaces that we lose

         24  based on this time frame of roughly six events

         25  during the season, is almost 20 percent of our
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          2  softball season will be lost, and we never get that

          3  space replaced, so we would like to be included in

          4  somehow getting additional space in those locations

          5  and all around the area, and I want to thank you for

          6  your time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          8  much. And, again, I thank you for waiting to

          9  testify.

         10                 Our next panel is Arlene Virga, Frank

         11  Cominsky, Marge Bloom, Dick Sonet and Jeff Neff.

         12                 Just introduce yourself for the

         13  record and we'll remind you of the time constraint.

         14                 MS. VIRGA: I'll be very brief. I have

         15  one page.

         16                 My name is Arlene Virga, and I'm from

         17  the Yorkville Youth Athletic Association, a

         18  not-for-profit organization. Our organization serves

         19  children in Manhattan over 40 years and our program

         20  serves 3,500 children with 1,200 children playing

         21  baseball this spring.

         22                 Our games are played in Central Park,

         23  Asphalt Green and Randall's Island. On April 1st we

         24  were told that we would be unable to play at

         25  Heckscher Field on April 30th due to a peace rally.
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          2                 This affected over 400 children and

          3  their families. Schedules were needed to be changed.

          4  Our other fields were needed to be negotiated, which

          5  is very difficult. We needed to move all of our

          6  equipment from one location out to Randall's Island,

          7  and the children and their parents needed to be

          8  contacted to change their baseball venue and their

          9  time.

         10                 In addition, a bus was needed to

         11  transport these families to Randall's Island, and

         12  needless to say, this was very disruptive to a very

         13  large program in this City.

         14                 The children in our City have limited

         15  space to spend their childhood.

         16                 Please do not take away one of the

         17  ten days that they get from April 9th through June

         18  11 to play an organized sport in Central Park.

         19                 Many of our parents have written to

         20  you, Chairwoman, I think you got some letters from

         21  us, and have asked that their tax dollars be used

         22  for recreation that rallies, protests and concerts,

         23  although extremely important, take place in other

         24  locations, other than our children's ballfields.

         25                 I love our country and I believe in
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          2  free speech, however, I have to stand up for the

          3  children of New York City and ask that you recognize

          4  that the Great Lawn and Heckscher Field are the

          5  playgrounds for our children.

          6                 Perhaps the sheetmetal, the bandshell

          7  and other areas that are not specifically ball

          8  fields could be used for protest. I think this City

          9  has to be utilized in important ways that everyone

         10  can benefit.

         11                 And that's it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 Our next panel, Peter Post, Judy Som,

         14  Bill McHugh, Sally Williams, Dart Westpack, Michael

         15  Mays, Hava Worley, Ralph Ginzburg.

         16                 We can just start. We'll start with

         17  you, and just your name for the record and we'll go

         18  right down.

         19                 MR. WESTPHAL: Hi. I'm Dart Westphal,

         20  and I'm on the Boards of the Bronx Council for

         21  Environmental Equality, the Friends of Van

         22  Courtlandt Park and the Bronx River Alliance. Now

         23  I'm speaking for myself.

         24                 Parks are asked to do many things.

         25  The parade ground in Van Courtlandt Park is the main
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          2  Cricket Ground for the City, the site of

          3  Philharmonic concerts and the major cross country

          4  course in the Northeastern United States.

          5                 Parks must now, are being asked to

          6  take on the role of public square. All these uses

          7  take a toll and occasionally all these users get in

          8  each other's way.

          9                 Balances all these uses requires

         10  regulating, perhaps limiting them, and not a little

         11  creativity.

         12                 I don't exactly how many events of

         13  what kind, with how many people, the Great Lawn can

         14  handle, or how big the bond ought to be, or the

         15  effectiveness of the kinds of post event repairs

         16  that are undertaken, but I am sure that all those

         17  decisions have to be made.

         18                 As a Bronx resident, I would ask you

         19  to keep some other things in mind as you decide.

         20                 The other counties of greater New

         21  York have magnificent open spaces that need to be

         22  improved and protected as well, such as Brooklyn's

         23  Long Meadow and Van Courtlandt's parade ground.

         24                 Maintaining those sites as

         25  recreational areas requires letting them rest as is
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          2  done with the Great Lawn. Letting them rest means we

          3  need more playing fields.

          4                 More playing fields leads to the

          5  great artificial turf controversy. Having great

          6  luxurious lawns in Central and Prospect Parks,

          7  moving all the great big events to less

          8  well-maintained spaces elsewhere, so that all of the

          9  green ground in some communities as artificial turf

         10  would be a really bad idea.

         11                 But some great big events happen in

         12  New York with a fair amount of regularity. We have

         13  fewer and fewer places to hold them, particularly in

         14  Manhattan where people that hold big events want to

         15  be.

         16                 Times Square has been discussed, the

         17  plaza at the World Trade Center never quite became

         18  the sort of grand plaza that we should have.

         19                 There were some great events on the

         20  old site of the Battery Park City, but they built

         21  buildings there.

         22                 New York City needs a great big

         23  public square. Think of St. Peter's Square in

         24  Vatican City. Although it's appropriate for some

         25  great events, the Great Lawn is not necessarily such

                                                            199

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  a place. In this era of rebuilding, we have an

          3  opportunity. We can limit uses, protect and improve

          4  all of our Great Lawns. We can create playing fields

          5  that can stand up to hundreds of New York City

          6  soccer-playing 12-year-olds, and we can discover,

          7  develop and utilize public squares, like the World

          8  Trade Center Plaza was, before it was tragically

          9  taken from us.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. MAYS: Good afternoon, Madam

         12  Chair, Council members. My name is Michael Mays, and

         13  I develop sports programs a lot with Major League

         14  baseball and other organizations, and for those of

         15  you who haven't already made the connection, my

         16  father was Willy Mays. So, when it comes to the

         17  value of sport and play I'm a bit bias.

         18                 I'm also a New Yorker. As for our

         19  parks, with baseball being invented in Madison

         20  Square Park in the mid-19th century, and as far as

         21  I'm convinced, reinvented some hundred years later

         22  in the Polo Grounds, I am again bias.

         23                 I grew up in this City, the biggest

         24  small town in the world. I was raised in a tribe

         25  called a neighborhood where everybody knew everyone
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          2  else, where the streets belonged, and the

          3  playgrounds and the parks belonged to the kids

          4  first, and the traffic second.

          5                 I must have had a hundred friends

          6  before I even started school. Yes, I was privileged

          7  to have a pretty damn good role model right at home,

          8  and I also had organizations like boys and girls

          9  clubs to help what we affectionately call rooted.

         10                 I was even more fortunate to grow up

         11  in that New York, where outside was still a

         12  legitimate place for kids to play.

         13                 The fact is, children consistently

         14  active in physical and dependent crew play are

         15  sometimes more likely to realize their goals, so

         16  getting kids out of the house and back together

         17  again is more than recommended, it's paramount to

         18  human social development.

         19                 All animals do three basic things

         20  essentially. First born, the quest for food; after

         21  eating the next thing the body will need to grow is

         22  rest. In between eating and sleeping is playing.

         23  Take that away, take the camaraderie away and you

         24  handicap a generation.

         25                 In some 1 million plus households
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          2  nationwide, half kids are under 18, close to 30

          3  percent of them being raised by single parents, a

          4  staggering 70 percent of American youth live in

          5  non-traditional home environments.

          6                 Play for this demographics and

          7  relegated to the computer screens and video game

          8  machines at an alarming rate, particularly between

          9  the weekday hours of 2:30 and 6:00 p.m. and

         10  weekends.

         11                 The CDC confirms that this phenomenon

         12  has lead to a 50 percent rise in childhood obesity

         13  and Type II diabetes over the last ten years,

         14  affecting now over 20 percent of our youth.

         15                 What all this says is, not just in

         16  big cities like ours, kids are being disenfranchised

         17  all across America. One in two will live in a

         18  single-parent household, one in two will be born out

         19  of wedlock, one in four will live without either

         20  parent, one in five will suffer from obesity,

         21  diabetes, one in six will have learning emotional

         22  behavior problems, and the most frightening, one in

         23  ten will become antisocial, suicidal or

         24  incarcerated. This is our responsibility.

         25                 The world can be a scary place, and
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          2  although building walls, locking doors and

          3  retreating into ourself is an obvious solution, I

          4  don't believe it is the appropriate one.

          5                 My grandfather used to say, "You

          6  can't share an experience, but you can provide it.

          7  If you're frightened to let your kid go outside but

          8  you're okay with them sitting in front of the tube

          9  for hours, you're in for a rude awakening, because

         10  if kids don't have activities to do and places to do

         11  them, they will do anything over where.

         12                 Personally, I haven't met a bad

         13  attitude yet that ten laps around a good long field

         14  won't cure.

         15                 Sorry, I will cut down my remarks.

         16  Just got a little lost.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18                 MR. MAYS: The good news is you can

         19  make a difference. A pebble in a pond, if you will.

         20  Make it your business to support and secure places

         21  for kids to play and grow, make time to play with

         22  them, and encourage your neighbors to do the same,

         23  you'll sleep better at night, and so will your kids.

         24                 I am here today because I believe

         25  Commissioner Benepe -- sorry -- this is a City play,
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          2  an illustrative book, The Chronicle Lies of the

          3  Evolution of Play in New York City. I recommend it

          4  highly.  I actually borrowed it from my friend Mike

          5  Klein, another real parks backward thinker. He's

          6  part of a growing conspiracy that continues to

          7  recall --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Mr. Mays, I'm

          9  going to have to get you to wrap up. We have to be

         10  out of here in 20 minutes.

         11                 MR. MAYS: The point is that the need

         12  for parks is not to forward political agendas, it is

         13  to ensure safe, constructive and inspirational

         14  environments to commune in.

         15                 I'm here because I believe

         16  Commissioner Benepe also gets it. I commend his

         17  commitment. And forgiving the obviously play on

         18  words, find his view to be a breath of fresh air. If

         19  nothing us, this bill should remind us all what

         20  parks are really there for. Through involvement and

         21  resource we can reincarnate play, and in doing so

         22  dynamically increase a child's opportunity achieve.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 MR. McHUGH: My name is Bill McHugh. I

         25  am Commissioner of the Show Business League, 16 Team
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          2  Modified League that plays on the Heckscher Ball

          3  Fields this year, but when they are under renovation

          4  next year, we'll be on the Great Lawn.

          5                 I just want to make one point. We've

          6  heard a great deal this morning and this afternoon

          7  about diversity and democracy that would seem to be

          8  expressed only through protests and marches and

          9  things. I say that every day in Central Park, from

         10  the morning until nightfall, that with thousands and

         11  thousands of people playing softball and a variety

         12  of other sports, they, too are expressing democracy

         13  and diversity.

         14                 We have every color, every religion,

         15  every social class. We even let lawyers play in our

         16  league.

         17                 There is no discrimination against

         18  anyone. The only requirement is that he or she be

         19  able to play the game, and nothing else matters.

         20                 So, we express diversity, we express

         21  democracy, we use those fields every day. So, when

         22  the people talk about how they want to have the

         23  protests and how many people that are there or not

         24  there, there are that many people who are using the

         25  fields of Central Park every day. So, it's not like

                                                            205

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  they're just sitting there waiting for someone to

          3  come and express themselves. They are an expression

          4  of people every day.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          6                 MR. WORLEY: Good day. My name is Haja

          7  Worley, and I am Chair of the Parks and Recreation

          8  Committee of Upper Manhattan Community Board 10.

          9                 As someone who has come to have a

         10  great care and grave concern for our environment,

         11  but just as great a care concern for the rights of

         12  people, I must say that I take the issue of

         13  preserving all greensward and certainly the

         14  marvelous oasis of green which Central Park is for

         15  all of us.

         16                 Central Park is, without a doubt, a

         17  major environmental resource. Yet, this verdant

         18  space so often referred to as the "lungs of the

         19  city" is also a brilliant stage for social,

         20  political and cultural events, whether it be a

         21  concert, a dance performance, or a public

         22  demonstration.

         23                 I strongly support the preservation

         24  of Central Park's Great Lawn, the East Meadow and

         25  other Landmark areas there. I would urge that we do
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          2  all we can possibly do to preserve and enhance their

          3  beauty and vitality. We do need regulations when it

          4  comes to large events happening in Central Park.

          5  However, as important as rules and regulations are,

          6  it is just as important that policy makers reach out

          7  in good faith to the leaders of such events,

          8  appealing to their good sense and sensitivity, so

          9  that they, in turn, can urge their audiences to

         10  treat the people's park with utmost respect. I am

         11  saying that we need more than just rules. If we want

         12  to make the rules work, we need to appeal to the

         13  basic common sense and common decency of the people,

         14  always mindful of and reminding the people of the

         15  fact that this is their park.

         16                 As I understand it, "the City's goal

         17  is to maintain Central Park, and continue to provide

         18  the great diversity of uses for the greatest

         19  diversity of users."

         20                 This means to me that decisions made

         21  here must be mindful and not the elite few. I hope

         22  that there will always be a place in our parks, and

         23  specifically in Central Park, for assemblies both

         24  large and small.

         25                 Yes, we need some regulations, but
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          2  let's not forget the New Yorkers of all persuasions

          3  are thoughtful and caring people who have

          4  demonstrated time and again that they can work

          5  together for the good of the whole.

          6                 Thus, I would urge that every

          7  agreement with the leaders of any event staged in

          8  Central Park should include a stipulation that those

          9  in charge of said event rigorously and clearly urge

         10  those in attendance treat their park with respect

         11  and dignity.

         12                 We all need some rules, but given a

         13  chance and with general reminding, New Yorkers act

         14  responsibly, often rising higher than our own

         15  expectations.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Our next panel is Robert Herzog,

         20  Francis Alfonso, Manny Rodriguez, Deborah Kling.

         21  Robert Holden, Brad Taylor.

         22                 E can just get started, and I

         23  unfortunately am going to have to ask you to be very

         24  brief. Clearly, the room doesn't need to be used,

         25  but I must be out of here in 20 minutes, and I
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          2  understand that people have been waiting so I want

          3  to be respectful so we can get to everyone. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 MR. HERZOG: Thank you. I'm Robert

          6  Herzog, and I am the founder of an organization

          7  called ZogSports. I founded ZogSports actually after

          8  my close call on September 11th, and I decided to

          9  basically create a sense of community in New York,

         10  as in my personal response to September 11th.

         11                 ZogSports is a charity-focused,

         12  co-ed, social sports league that promotes charity

         13  and social action amongst young professionals in New

         14  York, a group that I don't think has been very well

         15  represented today.

         16                 We basically organize sports leagues

         17  all around the City for people in their 20s and 30s

         18  and donate a portion of all of our proceeds to

         19  charity and we help the participants actually donate

         20  money to their charities of choice.

         21                 We have over 13,000 people

         22  participating in our leagues and activities and have

         23  been able to donate over $100,000 to charity in our

         24  three years since I founded the organization.

         25                 Just a quick sense of who are these
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          2  participants, in terms of some of the diversity of

          3  the people who participate. There's about 76 percent

          4  of them, of the 13,000 plus people who play in our

          5  leagues live in Manhattan, another ten percent live

          6  mostly in Brooklyn and Queens. And all of our

          7  activities do take place in Manhattan, so the

          8  discussions today about Central Park actually do

          9  affect us significantly.

         10                 Due to the extremely limited field

         11  space in Manhattan, you know, there is extreme

         12  competition for fields at all, and we've actually

         13  already sold out of all of our leagues and don't

         14  actually have any more room to, you know, add any

         15  additional participants in New York. So, that's

         16  where some of the concern for today's events come.

         17                 If additional large events were

         18  permitted on the Great Lawn or on other athletic

         19  fields, especially with short notice, for example,

         20  the political rally that happened on May 1st, our

         21  permits would get cancelled. So, I just heard one of

         22  the other members mention that. So, the fact that we

         23  planned ahead all year, gotten our permits done in

         24  January and February, and then another group could

         25  come and say, no, sorry, you're not able to use your
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          2  fields, you know, this forces us to reschedule our

          3  games at the end of the season and puts the league

          4  and the other participants at risk for not being

          5  able to play in case rain-outs occur and things like

          6  that.

          7                 So, basically I ask the City Council

          8  to consider the other people who are participating,

          9  the people who have gone, have made the effort to

         10  get the permits and are a diverse group amongst

         11  ourselves, who happen to just be interested in

         12  playing sports and in my group in particular who

         13  donates over $100,000 to charity in the last few

         14  years, as a group that has equal, if not more

         15  representation in New York than some of the

         16  political groups that have spoken earlier today.

         17                 Thanks.

         18                 MR. ALFONSO: Thank you. My name

         19  Fransico Alfonso, from Washington Heights. We work

         20  for many, many year for Parks Department, I'm

         21  talking about 34 years. We heard the people talking

         22  about many, many, many thing. Everybody know what

         23  happened with the Creamer (phonetic), for the

         24  program in the area. We can see day-by-day they got

         25  no money in the park, no building, because so many
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          2  thing is missing to help them out, the young people,

          3  in the whole City. In your position, not helping no

          4  more, not finding money for the department like the

          5  Fire Department, the whole institution who work for

          6  the young people. The whole city isn't going to have

          7  a program, because we see around the corner, all

          8  around the city, the young people, they will never,

          9  never have a group to represent to us in a couple of

         10  years (sic).

         11                 We're waiting for the opportunity for

         12  34 years for the Park Department. If they want to

         13  help them out, the young people, the Park

         14  Department, and decide to help the young people,

         15  we're going to cry for the youngster in the City of

         16  New York.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         19                 MS. KLING: Hi. My name is Debbie

         20  Kling, and I'm a New York City softball mom. I

         21  volunteer with the West Side Little League. We have

         22  1,200 children who play softball and baseball. I've

         23  had a personal involvement with the Great Lawn for

         24  almost 15 years. My son started in a different

         25  league playing T-bowl there, and I remember the
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          2  conditions, the dirt and dust, no grass. It was

          3  unsafe. He is now 20 and he plays in an adult league

          4  on the Great Lawn and it's wonderful for him. He's

          5  the youngest person playing on this team, and it's a

          6  very diverse team. There are people who are artists,

          7  there are people who are writers, there's -- the

          8  first baseman is the super of a building, my son is

          9  the son of a corporate lawyer and a nurse. So, there

         10  is diversity out there.

         11                 My daughter is 11. She plays softball

         12  in Riverside and Morningside Park, but in a couple

         13  years she will play, I hope, on the Great Lawn,

         14  because one of the things that I do as a volunteer

         15  is I help put together the Inter, the Manhattan

         16  Bronx Inter League Softball Organization for Girls,

         17  and girls from all over the City from, including

         18  Riverdale, Harlem, from downtown Little League, from

         19  Greenwich Village, from Yorkville, and they play on

         20  the Great Lawn.

         21                 I've been here since 10:00 and I've

         22  learned quite a bit, and one thing I learned is that

         23  people do come together in this City in many

         24  different ways. They come together for cultural

         25  events. They come together for political rallies.
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          2  They come together for sports and athletics. Some of

          3  these activities, they're all important activities,

          4  some of these can take place in other venues.

          5  Softball and baseball can only be played on baseball

          6  and softball fields, and, so, I'm supporting

          7  Commissioner Benepe's proposal to limit the use of

          8  the park.

          9                 MR. TAYLOR: Hi. My name is Brad

         10  Taylor. And I'm a newly elected President of the

         11  Friends of Morningside Park. I'm so glad to be able

         12  to be here, and thanks for taking the time to get

         13  through all of our comments. I really appreciate

         14  that.

         15                 Morningside Park covers approximately

         16  30 acres and this is the closest park to Central

         17  Park. Our park commands just a small fraction, of

         18  course, of the resources of Central Park and knows

         19  full well what could happen to fields when

         20  destructive uses are allowed to take place on them,

         21  with adequate resources being applied to the

         22  problem, and we are presently working with the Parks

         23  Department to find a workable solution in our park,

         24  and I can tell you that it's not an easy task. I'm

         25  just very pleased that our discussion is now
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          2  focusing on these users and the uses of the park,

          3  and also the actual nature of the venues.

          4                 An important first step in the

          5  process is coming to an understanding of user needs,

          6  formulating a policy of allowable uses, and

          7  formalizing enforcing this policy. Public hearings

          8  such as this are an important part of the process

          9  and I applaud the Council for holding this hearing

         10  on the proposed rules for the Great Lawn in Central

         11  Park and I'm grateful for this opportunity to speak

         12  to you this afternoon.

         13                 The venue, the nature of the venue is

         14  so important that I just wanted to say, spend a

         15  couple of moments on that. There needs to be the

         16  nature of an appropriate venue for First Amendment

         17  rallies is something that's a huge issue and needs

         18  to be addressed. But we need to think about the

         19  nature of this particular venue and whether this is

         20  the appropriate place to have that. And it's been

         21  couched in terms of the rights of grass versus the

         22  rights of the First Amendment. While it's not really

         23  that, we need to find a venue that can hold these

         24  rallies and also look at the needs of the users who

         25  use these grass fields, and that's what they are and
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          2  they do get destroyed if they're not properly

          3  maintained.

          4                 I would just conclude by saying the

          5  Great Lawn is a treasure, it's preservation, care

          6  and maintenance should not be jeopardized by damage

          7  caused by overuse by very large crowds, and I fully

          8  support the Parks Department rules which will ensure

          9  that this treasure can continue to be enjoyed on a

         10  daily basis by thousands of New Yorkers like myself.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 And, again, thank you for waiting to

         14  testify.

         15                 Our next panel and last panel, Jeff

         16  Marcus, Jeffrey Marcus, David Williams, Mitch

         17  Balmuth, Gail Milling, Gloria -- I can't read

         18  Gloria's last name. And William Lukeshok.

         19                 MR. BALMUTH: Good afternoon.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good afternoon.

         21                 MR. BALMUTH: My name is Richard

         22  Balmuth, and I want to thank Chairman Foster for

         23  holding this hearing, because this issue is of great

         24  importance. It really will be the only hearing that

         25  means anything about this. Because the only other
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          2  hearing is going to be a rule-making hearing held on

          3  Friday, which is a done deal. Anyone that knows

          4  anything about rule-making hearings know that they

          5  come up with some proposal and they rubberstamp it.

          6  Hopefully the City Council could step in and make a

          7  difference here, by either forcing the Parks

          8  Department to change this rule or by coming up with

          9  a law or new intro to change it themselves.

         10                 Okay, now, this issue has been made

         11  into like a grass versus free speech issue, which is

         12  absurd.  Back in the 1980s I used to go to the

         13  Nevada test site and protest in the middle of the

         14  desert, and, yet, the people that were against the

         15  protest were claiming that the protesters in the

         16  desert were destroying the floor and the former

         17  (phonetic) of the desert by trampling into the

         18  desert, into the Nevada test site. I mean, this is a

         19  non-issue. This is what people do when they don't

         20  want you to protest. They come up with some

         21  non-issue.

         22                 These new rules and regulations are

         23  basically aimed at protesters. It's not aimed at any

         24  other large, like a concert, because a concert they

         25  can control. Like Dave Matthews concert, they gave
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          2  out tickets, so if they want to control a concert,

          3  they can give out 50,000 tickets and make it nice

          4  and easy. Well, the 50,000 number for a protest is

          5  very difficult to control.

          6                 For instance, like the protest

          7  earlier, a few weekends ago, they expected 50,000

          8  but only, according to Benepe, got 5,000 at that

          9  protest. But if there was an incident out in the

         10  nation where like they invaded another country, that

         11  50,000 estimate might have been 200,000.

         12                 So, for a protest it's very hard to

         13  guess exactly how many people are going to show up

         14  because the daily events. So, by putting a 50,000

         15  cap, it's really aimed at protest. Also, protests

         16  are not very easy to have a rain date, because

         17  people that come into protests on large protests

         18  can't, you know, they come in from all over the

         19  country sometimes to protest. So, by putting in the

         20  rules and regulations that you have to have a rain

         21  date, also is aimed at protest, because it's very

         22  easy to have a rain date for a concert.

         23                 If you have a concert scheduled for

         24  Saturday, you make a rain date for Sunday. But for a

         25  protest, the 50,000 people thing, a rain date, these
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          2  are all things that are aimed at stopping protests

          3  in Central Park.

          4                 Now, what this is really about is,

          5  two consecutive Republican Mayor's attacking free

          6  speech in this City. Like they mentioned about the

          7  Fifth Avenue parades. Back in 1998, the same Parks

          8  Department illegally arrested artists for selling

          9  their artwork in front of the Metropolitan Museum.

         10  This was not on grass, this wasn't a large protest,

         11  this had nothing to do with public safety because we

         12  were selling in front of the Metropolitan Museum for

         13  a good six years before that with no problems. But

         14  when it comes to these Republican administrations,

         15  they don't care about limiting your First Amendment

         16  rights. And it's very important when the City

         17  Council makes a law that they don't give the power

         18  to the Commissioners, such unlimited power to a

         19  Commissioner to make rules and regulations.

         20                 Now, sure, they need to be able to

         21  make some rules and regulations, but giving them

         22  unlimited power is causing this situation right now.

         23  Them having the unlimited power to make a rule and

         24  regulation, all they have to do is come up with a

         25  proposal, have a hearing and one month from them it
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          2  becomes basically law, and we have to be very

          3  careful with that. And the fact that this City

          4  Council is having a hearing about this now is an

          5  important first step, but it's not the last step.

          6  Because if the Parks Department goes forth and puts

          7  this proposal, and comes back with a new rule and

          8  regulation like it is, the City Council must step in

          9  and stop it, in order to save free speech in this

         10  City, number one, and in the nation overall. Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 MR. MARCUS: Jeff Marcus. I'm from the

         14  Big Apple Softball League. I represent 300 people. I

         15  guess you might characterize us as a special

         16  interest group. We see ourselves as ball players.

         17                 You mentioned Commissioner Benepe

         18  said there were 5,000 people for the rally, I guess

         19  it was United Peace and Justice, on April 30th. Our

         20  permits for May first at the Heckscher Fields were

         21  taken away a number of weeks in advance for that

         22  reason. This is a day after the rally took place,

         23  and if it really only had 5,000 people rather than

         24  50,000, it could have been held elsewhere and we

         25  wouldn't have lost our permit time.
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          2                 Next year they're taking away

          3  Heckscher Fields for renovation, and my league has

          4  been around since 1977, and we're hoping we could

          5  survive the renovation and keep the league going,

          6  and we're going to lose a lot of permit, space and

          7  time, and it would be further exacerbated by taking

          8  away permit time on the Great Lawn next year for

          9  special events.

         10                 I personally have nothing against

         11  free speech, but I don't understand why it must take

         12  place on ballfields.

         13                 Commissioner Stern mentioned what a

         14  dustbowl the Great Lawn was in the 1980s and early

         15  '90s before it was renovated. My league played

         16  there basically every week, all of those years, and

         17  after the Pocohontas event in 1995, which was

         18  reported in the newspapers, the Disney Corporation

         19  renegged on a lot of the money they promised the

         20  City to repair that.

         21                 My league was knocked out from

         22  playing there not only the week of the event, but

         23  there were ruts from tire tracks in the middle of

         24  the fields. We lost that for three straight weeks

         25  for that one-day event.
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          2                 And my main point is that I think

          3  protests and a lot of these special events should be

          4  placed elsewhere, not right on ballfields.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          6                 MR. MARCUS: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Our last

          8  panelist, Ed Benson.

          9                 MR. BENSON: Good afternoon. My name

         10  is Ed Benson. I'm the Director of Parkwide Services

         11  for the Central Park Conservancy.

         12                 Over the last seven years I have been

         13  fortunate enough to work closely with the Central

         14  Park user groups, particularly in my previous

         15  position as Director for Government and Community

         16  Relations.

         17                 To give you a sense of the diversity

         18  of activities that take place on a daily basis in

         19  Central Park, these groups include softball and

         20  baseball leagues, public and private schools, dog

         21  owners, cyclers, roller-bladers, runners and

         22  joggers, bird watchers, dance skaters and soccer

         23  leagues.

         24                 These groups, which represent New

         25  Yorkers throughout the five boroughs are passionate
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          2  about the park and are committed to its upkeep and

          3  future success.

          4                 It is the park-user community from

          5  softball teams to bird watching that is most

          6  affected when the Great Lawn or the landscapes are

          7  closed for large scale events.

          8                 It is my office that received the

          9  complaints about how their league games had to be

         10  rescheduled or relocated; how they were unable to

         11  use the regular meeting spot with other dog owners,

         12  and how their group or school was unable to use an

         13  area where they would regularly enjoy recreation.

         14                 As you know, New Yorkers can be very

         15  opinionated. The people who use Central Park are no

         16  different.

         17                 Although I hear from many daily park

         18  visitors who would like nothing more than to ban all

         19  large events from the park, we work hard to

         20  accommodate everyone.

         21                 Management of Central Park, like all

         22  of our City's parks, is essential to ensuring its

         23  future.

         24                 The Great Lawn is an incredible

         25  resource that would be a shame to let go of.
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          2                 It was restored to be enjoyed by all

          3  New Yorkers, and the Parks Department proposal,

          4  proposed management allows that to happen every day.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 As you can see, the opinions on this

          9  issue are quite diverse. For the record, we have the

         10  HDFC Council submitting testimony, Juniper Park

         11  Civic Association, New Yorkers for Parks, Bill

         12  Luckshaw, Harlem RBI, Petro Media, Cornell

         13  Rothschild and Partners LLP, and David Williams,

         14  President of the Carl Schwartz Park Association.

         15  That having been said, this meeting is now

         16  adjourned. Thank you.

         17                 (The following written testimony was

         18  read into the record.)

         19

         20  Written Testimony Of:

         21  Christian DiPalmero

         22  Executive Director

         23  New Yorkers For Parks

         24

         25                 Introduction.
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          2                 Good afternoon. My name is Christian

          3  DiPalermo and I am the Executive Director of New

          4  Yorkers for Parks (NY4P) - the citywide parks

          5  advocacy organization protecting and promoting parks

          6  in every New York City neighborhood.

          7                 Uniform Special Events Policy for

          8  NYC's Flagship Parks.

          9                 NY4P commends the New York City

         10  Department of Parks and Recreation for promulgating

         11  a special events policy in Central Park.

         12                 Many U.S. cities, such as Chicago,

         13  San Francisco, Portland, Seattle and Washington

         14  D.C., have crafted and implemented a citywide

         15  uniform public policy upon which special event

         16  applicants may rely. Such a policy benefits the city

         17  government - since it promotes efficiency and

         18  transparency. Park users also gain a better

         19  understanding of the parameters, costs and timeline

         20  of having a special event in a public park when a

         21  clearly stated policy is in place.

         22                 Therefore, NY4P calls on the Parks

         23  Department to create a citywide policy that would

         24  apply to all other flagship parks in the five

         25  boroughs which host large special events.
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          2                 Large Special Events in Central Park.

          3                 Central Park is a nationally coveted

          4  as well as a world-renown space, unlike any other.

          5  The regulations state that special events will no

          6  longer be held at The North and Sheep Meadows, and

          7  soon-to-be refurbished Heckscher Ballfields.

          8                 It is clear that the last, and

          9  seemingly permanent, area for large special events

         10  on grass will be at the East Meadow (and paved areas

         11  south of the Bethesda Terrace, including the

         12  Literary Walk and Band Shell areas). However, the

         13  regulations do not set a limit on the number of

         14  persons attending such events at the East Meadow.

         15                 NY4P recommends that the regulations

         16  set specific maximum capacity figures for each area

         17  delineated above.

         18                 Use of Great Lawn.

         19                 The Great Lawn is used throughout the

         20  year by hundreds of thousands of New Yorkers. It is

         21  a location at which many historic special events

         22  haver occurred. The main purpose of an urban park is

         23  to provide residents with a green space for active

         24  and passive recreation. They have often served as

         25  places for people to gather, such as in the days
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          2  following September 11, 2001.

          3                 The ultimate goal of the Parks

          4  Department is to provide the maximum amount of open

          5  space to the maximum number of New Yorkers.

          6                 However, in order to maintain the

          7  present high quality of the lawn, large amounts of

          8  money and time are needed for refurbishment

          9  following large special events. Taking the experts

         10  at their word, 6 events per year will allow the lawn

         11  to remain open to New Yorkers without significant

         12  lawn damage that causes a major disruption at the

         13  Great Lawn.

         14                 As far as which 6 events should be

         15  permitted for these slots, NY4P believes that the

         16  hearings of the City Council and the Parks

         17  Department should provide an opportunity for the

         18  public to be heard.

         19                 Thank you.

         20

         21

         22  Written Testimony Of:

         23  Robert F. Holden

         24  President

         25  Juniper Park Civic Association, Inc.
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          2

          3                 Dear NYC Council Members:

          4                 The Juniper Park Civic Association

          5  wholeheartedly supports the plan by the NYC

          6  Department of Parks for limiting large scale events

          7  on the Great Lawn of Central Park.

          8                 The Park is a green oasis amidst the

          9  concrete and high-rise landscape of NYC. Therefore

         10  it is imperative that Central Park's environment be

         11  protected and skillfully managed to preserve its

         12  beauty for everyone.

         13                 After decades of decline and

         14  diminished usership, Central Park is now restored to

         15  one of the premier parks in the world. The City of

         16  New York has a responsibility to taxpayers to

         17  preserve the quality and condition of our parks and

         18  protect millions of dollars of capital investment.

         19                 Responsible management practices to

         20  maintain NYC's limited and overused greenspace makes

         21  sense but for decades was ignored. Finally the city

         22  has realized that it must protect parks and the

         23  environment. To preserve the rights of the millions

         24  of people, who use Central Park for a variety of

         25  reasons, sensible management is a basic requirement.
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          2                 We don't believe that the city's

          3  proposal of allowing six large-scale events of

          4  50,000 people on the Great Lawn each year is

          5  unreasonable. It makes sense. Unlimited large events

          6  on the Great Lawn (and other green spaces) would

          7  come at a great cost to taxpayers and to New Yorkers

          8  who would be denied its use during long periods of

          9  repair while millions of dollars of investment would

         10  be wasted.

         11                 Our association has been helping to

         12  maintain Juniper Valley Park is Queens. For over 60

         13  years we have recognized the importance of parks to

         14  the residents of the  City of New York. We also

         15  maintain several ballfields within the 55 acre park.

         16  The ballfields in Juniper are the very best in the

         17  City of New York because we understand the

         18  importance of maintenance and the simple aspect of

         19  allowing grass and sod downtime to recover from

         20  heavy use. As a result everyone has beautiful fields

         21  to play on making for a much more enjoyable

         22  experience.

         23                 The 1650 families of the Juniper Park

         24  Civic Association applauds the City of New York for

         25  the innovative and sensible planning and maintenance
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          2  program designed for the Great Lawn. A program that

          3  must be protected in order to keep the Great Lawn,

          4  great.

          5                 Sincerely, Robert F. Holden,

          6  President.

          7

          8

          9  Written Testimony Of:

         10  Jordi Reyes-Montblanc

         11  President and Chairman

         12  Board of Directors

         13  The HDFC Council

         14

         15                 Madame Chair, Members of the City

         16  Council, Ladies and Gentlemen:

         17                 I am Jordi Reyes-Montblanc, president

         18  and chairman of the Board of Directors of the HDFC

         19  Council. The HDFC Council was organized in 1993 as

         20  the HDFC Coalition to represent the interest of the

         21  HDFC and TIL community.

         22                 Also, I am a member of the Board of

         23  Directors of the Council of New York Cooperatives

         24  and Condominiums and a member of the Federation of

         25  New York Housing Cooperatives and Vice Chairman of
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          2  the Parodneck Foundation. I am a Board member of my

          3  own HDFC co-op, 601 West 136th Street, HDFC located

          4  in the beautiful Hamilton Heights District and

          5  finally I am the Chair of Manhattan Community Board

          6  9.

          7                 Our missions are to advocate for laws

          8  that benefit the best interests of the HDFC co-op

          9  apartment's home-owners, to provide mutual

         10  assistance, to promote management and business

         11  education, to promote economy of scale programs and

         12  to carry-out political action that may be required

         13  to achieve our missions.

         14                 I am here on behalf of our The HDFC

         15  Council Board of Directors and our membership to

         16  make the comments that follow on the captioned

         17  subject.

         18                 The usage rules for the Great Lawn

         19  proposed by the Parks and Recreation Department are

         20  very much in line with the best husbanding practices

         21  for a city patrimony such as Central Park.

         22                 We all remember the years of neglect

         23  and practical abandonment which turned Central Park

         24  into one of the most dangerous places in the City

         25  and when the Great Lawns was nothing but dirt,
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          2  rocks, broken glass and strewn with garbage, in

          3  other words a place avoided by families, joggers,

          4  cyclist and the general public.

          5                 Today we have a Park of which we can

          6  be justly proud and most important one that all the

          7  family and individuals can enjoy safely and

          8  comfortably.

          9                 Reasonable and management practices

         10  will make sure that the Great Lawn does not return

         11  to its previously ruined state.

         12                 The proposed rules will codify

         13  practices in place since 1997 intended to preserve

         14  the rights of millions of people who use Central

         15  park for their enjoyment and recreation and are

         16  sensible management requirements.

         17                 We strongly support the Parks

         18  Department's establishment of management practices

         19  that will maintain our City's limited and overused

         20  green-space that allows the use of our shared open

         21  space by a maximum number of diverse visitors

         22  without one use driving out others.

         23                 I thank you for your attention and

         24  support.

         25                 Respectfully Submitted by,
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          2                 J. Reyes-Montblanc.

          3                 For and On Behalf of the

          4                 Board of Directors

          5                 The HDFC Council.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 18th day of May 2005.

         20
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         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

